
 

AGENDA FOR 
 

PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 

 
Contact: Michael Cunliffe 
Direct Line: 0161 253 5399 

E-mail: m.cunliffe@bury.gov.uk 
Website:  www.bury.gov.uk 

 
 
To: All Members of Planning Control Committee 

 
Councillors : G McGill (Chair), S Arif, C Boles, D Duncalfe, 

U Farooq, J Harris, M Hayes, B Ibrahim, D Quinn, 
G Staples-Jones and M Walsh 

 

 
Dear Member/Colleague 

 
Planning Control Committee 

 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Control Committee 
which will be held as follows:- 
 

Date: Thursday, 26 September 2024 

Place:  Council Chamber, Bury Town Hall 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 

briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the related 

report should be contacted. 

Notes:  

Public Document Pack



AGENDA 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
Members of the Planning Control Committee are asked to consider whether they 
have an interest in any of the matters on the Agenda and, if so, to formally declare 
that interest. 
 

3   MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 27TH AUGUST 2024  (Pages 

3 - 6) 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday the 27th August 2024 are attached. 

 

4   PLANNING APPLICATIONS  (Pages 7 - 148) 

 
Reports attached. 

 

5   DELEGATED DECISIONS  (Pages 149 - 160) 

 
A report from the Head of Development Management on all delegated planning 
decisions since the last meeting of the planning control committee is attached. 

 

6   PLANNING APPEALS  (Pages 161 - 182) 

 
A report from the Head of Development Management on all planning appeal 
decisions since the last meeting of the Planning Control Committee is attached. 

 

7   TREE PRESERVATION ORDER CONFIRMATION   

 
This item and report has been withdrawn from the agenda. 

 

8   URGENT BUSINESS   

 
Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair agrees may 
be considered as a matter of urgency. 

 



 

 

1 

 

 Minutes of: PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
 Date of Meeting: 27th August 2024 

 
 Present: Councillor G McGill (in the Chair) 

Councillors S Arif, N Bayley, C Boles, D Duncalfe, J Harris, 
M Hayes, B Ibrahim, G Staples-Jones, M Walsh and U Farooq 

    

 
 Public Attendance: 3 members of the public were present at the meeting. 

   

 

PCC.1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillor D Quinn. 
Councillor N Bayley acted as a substitute representative for Councillor D Quinn. 

 

PCC.2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Councillor G Staples-Jones declared in his role working for the local MP, he had visited 
Sedgley Park Rugby Union Football Club in relation to the planning application on the agenda. 
He had followed the Planning Code of Conduct and had not commented or predetermined a 
decision for the application and had an open mind. 
In the interests of clarity, Councillor Staples-Jones left the meeting during deliberation of this 
application and took no part in the determination or voting. 
 
The Chair placed on record that he also worked for the same local MP, but he had not been 
involved in any casework communications in relation to the same application. 
 
The Head of Development Management, Mr D Marno, was the applicant in relation to the 
application at 5 Sandringham Drive, Tottington, Bury. 
Mr Marno left the meeting during deliberation of this application and was not present during 
the determination or voting process. 

 
PCC.3  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 23RD JULY 2024  

 
Delegated decision: 

 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on the 23rd July 2024 be approved as a correct record 
and signed by the Chair. 

 

PCC.4  PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 
A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted in relation to applications 
for planning permission.  
 
There was supplementary information to add in respect of application numbers 70583 and  
70932. 
 
The Committee heard representations from an objector and applicant in respect of applications 
submitted. This was limited to three minutes for the speaker. 
 
Delegated decisions: 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Planning Control Committee, 27 August 2024  

 
 

 

2 

 
1. That the Committee Approve with Conditions the following application in accordance 

with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and any 
supplementary information submitted and subject to all other conditions included: -  

 
Sedgley Park Rugby Union Football Club, Philips Park Road West, Whitefield, 
Manchester, M45 7DZ 

Temporary installation of five cabins to create 3 no. classrooms, W/C and kitchen facilities for 
The College of Rugby 
 
2. That the Committee Approve with Conditions the following application in accordance 

with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and any 
supplementary information submitted and subject to all other conditions included: - 

 
5 Sandringham Drive, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4DJ 

Front porch and single storey rear extension 
 
3. That the Committee Approve with Conditions the following application in accordance 

with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report and subject to 
all other conditions included: - 

 
Land between 13 & 14 Scholes Walk, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0AZ 

Erection of 1 no. bungalow 
 
4. That the Committee Approve with Conditions the following application in accordance 

with the reasons put forward by the Development Manager in the report with an 
additional advisory condition in relation to hedgehog friendly fencing and subject to all 
other conditions included: - 

 
Land at rear of 7-11 Carisbrook Avenue, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 6UP 
Erection of 1 no.bungalow 

 

PCC.5  DELEGATED DECISIONS  

 
A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted listing all recent planning 
application decisions made by Officers using delegated powers since the last meeting of the 
Planning Control Committee. 
 
Delegated decision: 

 
That the report and appendices be noted.  

 
PCC.6  PLANNING APPEALS  

 
A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted listing all recent planning 
and enforcement appeal decisions since the last meeting of the Planning Control Committee.  
 
Delegated decision: 

 
That the report and appendices be noted.  

 
PCC.7  VALIDATION CHECKLISTS  

 

Page 4



 Planning Control Committee, 27 August 2024 
 
 

 
3 

A report from the Head of Development Management was submitted detailing that the Council 
is required to maintain a planning application validation checklist. There was a need to update 
the Council’s even further following the adoption of the Places for Everyone Joint Development 
Plan (PfE) 
 
Delegated decision: 

 
That the Committee approved the report and checklist attached to the report at Appendix 1. 

 
PCC.8  URGENT BUSINESS  

 
No urgent business was reported. 

 
 

 
 
 
COUNCILLOR G MCGILL 
Chair  

 
(Note:  The meeting started at 7.00pm and ended at 8.00pm) 

 

 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Title Planning Applications

To: Planning Control Committee

On: 26 September 2024

By: Development Manager

Status: For Publication

Executive Summary

The attached reports present members with a description of various planning applications, the
results of consultations, relevant policies, site history and issues involved.

My recommendations in each case are given in the attached reports.

This report has the following implications

Township Forum/ Ward: Identified in each case.

Policy: Identified in each case.

Resources: Not generally applicable.

Equality Act 2010: All planning applications are considered in light of the Equality Act 2010 and
associated Public Sector Equality Duty, where the Council is required to have due regard for:
The elimination of discrimination, harassment and victimisation;
The advancement of equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and person who do not share it;
The fostering of good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and person who do not share it; which applies to people from the protected equality groups.  

Human Rights: All planning applications are considered against the provisions of the Human
Rights Act 1998.

Under Article 6 the applicants (and those third parties who have made representations) have the
right to a fair hearing and to this end full consideration will be given to their comments.

Article 8 and Protocol 1 of the First Article confer a right to respect private and family life and a
right to the protection of property, ie peaceful enjoyment of one's possessions which could
include a person's home, and other land and business assets.

In taking account of the Council policy as set out in the Bury Unitary Development Plan 1997 and
all material planning considerations, I have concluded on balance that the rights conferred upon
the applicant/ objectors/ residents/ other interested party by Article 8 and Article 1 of the First
Protocol may be interfered with, since such interference is in accordance with the law and is
justified in the public interest. Any restriction of these rights posed by refusal/ approval of the
application is legitimate since it is proportionate to the wider benefits of such a decision, is based

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



upon the merits of the proposal, and falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council
under the Town & Country Planning Acts.

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 imposes (without prejudice to any other obligation imposed on
it) a duty upon the Council to exercise its functions and have due regard to the likely effect of the
exercise of its functions on, and the need to do all that it reasonably can to prevent crime and
disorder in its area. In so doing and on making planning decisions under the Town and Country
Planning Acts, the Planning Control Committee shall have due regard to the provisions of the
Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and its implications in the exercise of its functions.

Development Manager

Background Documents

1. The planning application forms and plans submitted therewith.
2. Certificates relating to the ownership.
3. Letters and Documents from objectors or other interested parties.
4. Responses from Consultees.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE CONTENTS OF EACH REPORT PLEASE CONTACT
INDIVIDUAL CASE OFFICERS IDENTIFIED IN EACH CASE.

Page 8



1  Township Forum - Ward:  Bury East App No.  71084

 Location: Geoffrey Kershaw Centre, Deal Street, Bury, BL9 7PZ
 Proposal: Temporary (4 years) modular extension of an existing Pupil Referral Unit

to form 3 additional classrooms  with ancillary facilities; relocation of
fencing and bin store to segregate parking and formation of pupil play
areas and safe access into the school for pupils, parents and visitors

 Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
2  Township Forum - Ward:  Bury East App No.  70565

 Location: Former Bury Police Office HQ, Irwell Street, Bury, BL9 0HE
 Proposal: Hybrid application comprising Full application for specialist care home

(Class C2) with associated parking, landscaping and infrastructure and
Outline application for care home (Class C2) with all matters reserved.

 Recommendation: Minded to Approve  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
3  Township Forum - Ward:  Bury East - Redvales App No.  70805

 Location: Land off Fletcher Fold Road, Bury, BL9 9RX
 Proposal: Erection of 4 no. bungalows and a block of 39 no. apartments for the over

55s including communal facilities, landscaping and car parking provision
 Recommendation: Minded to Approve  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
4  Township Forum - Ward:  Bury East App No.  70979

 Location: Fairfield General Hospital, Rochdale Old Road, Bury, BL9 7TD
 Proposal: Installation of temporary car park
 Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
5  Township Forum - Ward:  North Manor App No.  70666

 Location: Brookhouse Farm, 218 Holcombe Road, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4BQ
 Proposal: Demolition of existing garages/stables and erection of 1 no. dwelling

(renewal of extant planning permission 66444)
 Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions  Site Visit: N

        ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
Ward: Bury East Item   1 

 
Applicant:  Bury Council 
 
Location: Geoffrey Kershaw Centre, Deal Street, Bury, BL9 7PZ 

 
Proposal: Temporary (4 years) modular extension of an existing Pupil Referral Unit to form 3 

additional classrooms  with ancillary facilities; relocation of fencing and bin store to 
segregate parking and formation of pupil play areas and safe access into the school 
for pupils, parents and visitors 

 
Application Ref:   71084/Full Target Date:  18/10/2024 
 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Description 
The site consists of an existing building, which is in use as a Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and 
is located in the southern part of the site. The building is single storey and is constructed 
from red brick with a pitched roof. The northern part of the site contains a hardstanding, 
which is in use as a car park and a multi-games use area. There is an existing palisade 
fence around the perimeter of the site. Access is taken from Deal Street, which leads to a 
car park. 
 
There are residential properties to all boundaries.  
 
Planning permission was granted in April 2024 for the erection of 2.4 metre high and 3 
metre high mesh fencing and the installation of CCTV at the centre, which has been 
completed.  
 
The proposed development involves the temporary erection of a modular unit to provide 3 
additional classrooms with ancillary facilities for the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) and the 
relocation of the fencing and bin store to segregate parking and to form pupil play areas. 
The proposed modular building would be in place for 4 years. 
 
The proposed modular unit would be located to the north of the existing building and 
adjacent to the eastern boundary. It would measure 26.4 metres by 10.1 metres and would 
be single storey. There would be a stepped access at the southern elevation and a ramped 
access at the northern elevation.  
 
The proposal involves the removal of a section of 3 metre high fencing to the north of the 
existing building and would be re-positioned adjacent to the main car park to create a bin 
store.   
 
The pedestrian and vehicular accesses to the site would remain unchanged.  
 
The application is being presented to committee as the Council has submitted the 
application and there has been 1 or more objections.  
 
Relevant Planning History 
35006 - Demolition of former gymnasium; the provision of a supervised tarmac play area 
and 2.4m high palisade security fencing around site at the Arthur Scholes Building/Former 
East Ward Gym, Deal Street, Bury. Approved with conditions - 24 February 1999 

Page 11



 
36939 - Residential development - 24 dwellings at Geoffrey Kershaw Centre, Maxwell 
Street, Bury. Approved with conditions - 28 February 2001. 
 
41928 - Installation of social seating shelter at New Kershaw play area, Deal Street, Bury. 
Approved with conditions - 2 March 2004. 
 
70467 - External alterations to doors and windows; Erection of 2.4 metre high and 3 metre 
high V mesh fencing; Installation of CCTV at Geoffrey Kershaw Centre, Deal Street. Bury. 
Approved with conditions - 17 April 2024.  
 
Adjacent site 
66803 - Conversion of existing house into 2 terraced houses at 73 - 75 Deal Street, Bury. 
Approved with conditions - 15 June 2021. 
 
68370 - Single storey side/rear extension at 29 Chestnut Avenue, Bury. Approved with 
conditions - 11 July 2022. 
 
Publicity 
The neighbouring properties were notified by means of a letter on 23 August 2024. 
 
2 letters have been received, which have raised the following issues: 

• I am submitting as neutral as I can't object as you have already started work to place the 
buildings. I only received the letter on 23 August and don't see the point of asking for our 
opinions. 

• The buildings are very close to the back of my house and I am concerned about the 
devaluation of my house.  

• There would be a lack of light as they are very high. 

• Impacts of noise and lack of privacy. 

• Is this a temporary situation or will it be permanent? If this is permanent, it will devalue 
my house and I will be seeking legal advice as the contact with house owners has been 
very lacking.  

• The works are already taking place. 

• The fencing looks like a prison and we would be unable to access the yard area. 

• The neighbour blocks the side exit with their bins and a lock on the gate. 
 
The objectors have been notified of the Planning Control Committee meeting. 
 
Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations 
Traffic Section - No objections. 
Drainage Section - No response. 
Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - No comments. 
Environmental Health - Pollution Control - No response. 
 
Pre-start Conditions - Not relevant. 
 
Development Plan and Policies 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design 
EN1/5 Crime Prevention 
EN7/2 Noise Pollution 
EN7/5 Waste Water Management 
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development 
HT5/1 Access For Those with Special Needs 

Page 12



CF1/1 Location of New Community Facilities 
SPD6 Supplementary Planning Document 6: Alterations & Extensions 
SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury 
JP-S2 Carbon and Energy 
JP-P1 Sustainable Places 
JP-P3 Cultural Facilities 
JP-P5 Education, Skills and Knowledge 
JP-C2 Digital Connectivity 
JP-C5 Streets For All 
JP-C6 Walking and Cycling 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Issues and Analysis 
The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant 
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the 
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material 
planning considerations.  
 
The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be 
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For 
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a 
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically 
mentioned. 
 
Principle - Community Facilities - UDP Policy CF1/1 states that proposals for new and 
improved community facilities will be considered with regard to the following factors: 

• impact on residential amenity and the local environment 

• traffic generation and car parking provision; 

• the scale and size of the development; 

• where applicable, access to shops and other services; 

• if the use is intended to serve a local community or catchment area, the suitability of the 
chosen location in relation to that community or catchment area; 

• accessibility by public and private transport; 

• the needs and requirements of the disabled. 
 
UDP Policy CF2  states that the Council will, where appropriate, consider favourably 
proposals for the provision, improvement and dual use of educational facilities. 
 
The proposed development would involve the provision of a new modular building, which 
would provide additional facilities for the school in the form of 3 additional classrooms. The 
proposed development would be modest in size and only occupy a small area, without 
compromising the remaining site's operation. Given this, the development would be 
appropriate in terms of scale and size and the remaining issues will be addressed later in 
the report. Therefore, the proposed development would be in accordance with Policies 
CF1/1 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan.  
 
Visual amenity - The proposed temporary building would be located next to the existing 
PRU building adjacent to the eastern boundary. The proposed temporary building would be 
a detached cabin style building and would contain 3 classrooms, stores, a calm room and 
toilets. The entrances would be located on the side elevations, which face the existing 
school building and the car park and the windows on the rear would be obscure glazed. The 
proposed temporary building would be constructed in grey coloured plastic cladding and the 
roofing material would be the same (grey coloured plastic coated steel), which would 

Page 13



complement the materials on the central section of the existing school. As such, the 
proposed temporary building would not be a prominent feature in the streetscene.  
 
The paladin fence and the existing palisade fencing on the perimeter of the site would be 
retained. The proposed development would involve the existing 3 metre high paladin 
fencing to the south of the existing play area to be relocated to form a bin store adjacent to 
the car park. The proposed 3 metre high paladin fencing would not be a prominent feature 
in the streetscene.  
 
Therefore, the development would not have an adverse impact upon the character of the 
area and would not be unduly prominent in the streetscene. The development would be in 
accordance with Policies CF2 and EN1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan.  
 
Residential amenity - The proposed building would be 14.1 metres from the rear elevation 
of the properties on Chestnut Avenue, which would be in excess of the 6.5 metre aspect 
standard and ensure no significant loss of light. The windows on the building would be 
obscure glazed, which would ensure that no overlooking into the residential gardens could 
take place.  
 
The proposed fencing would be located adjacent to the building and as such, would not 
impact upon the amenity of the occupiers of Chestnut Avenue. In any case, the proposed 
fencing would be paladin, which contains a mesh which allows light to pass through. As 
such, the proposed development would not have a significant adverse impact upon the 
amenity of the neighbouring properties.  
 
Therefore, the proposed development would not have a significant adverse impact upon the 
amenity of the neighbouring properties and would be in accordance with Policies CF1/1 and 
EN1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan.  
 
Highways issues - The proposed development would not impact upon the existing access 
and car park, which would still be available for use. The fencing around the entrance would 
be unaffected and appropriate visibility for pedestrians and vehicles would be maintained. 
Therefore, the development would not have an detrimental impact upon highway safety and 
would be in accordance with Policy EN1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan. 
 
Carbon/energy statement - An energy statement was submitted as part of the application 
and states that the proposed development would use heat pumps and energy efficiency 
measures to reduce the amount of carbon required. The measures identified would reduce 
the energy required and CO2 emissions. Therefore, the proposed development would be in 
accordance with Policy JP-S2 of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.  
 
Digital connectivity - Policy JP-C2 supports the provision of affordable, high quality, digital 
infrastructure. 
 
The agent has provided a statement, which indicates that the proposed building would be 
provided with access to high speed digital connection and this would be fully operational 
when the building is occupied. Therefore, the proposed development would comply with 
Policy JP-C2 of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan. 
 
Response to objectors 

• The groundworks have commenced and all the works are being undertaken at the 
applicant's own risk.  

• The proposed development would comply with the aspect standards in SPD6 and as 
such, the proposed development would not have a significant adverse impact upon the 
amenity of the neighbouring properties.  

Page 14



• The school is already in use as a PRU, which did not require planning consent. The 
addition of a building would not impact significantly upon the noise generated from the 
site. 

• The yard area for the PRU is private property and no access has been possible from the 
residential properties onto this land currently or during it's previous use as the Geoffrey 
Kershaw Centre. In any case, access between the existing residential properties and the 
PRU is not a material planning consideration. 

 
  
Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015 
 
The proposal complies with the development plan and would improve the economic, social 
and environmental conditions of the area. It therefore comprises sustainable development 
and the Local Planning Authority worked proactively and positively to issue the decision 
without delay. The Local Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in 
Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Conditions/ Reasons 
 

1. Permission is hereby granted for a limited period only, namely for a period expiring 
on 26 September 2028, and the building, works and use comprising the 
development for which permission is hereby granted are required to be 
respectively removed and discontinued at the end of the said period and the land 
reinstated to its former condition unless a valid application is received by the Local 
Planning Authority for its retention. 
Reason. The development is of a temporary nature only. 

 

2. This decision relates to drawings numbered P-001 A1, P-002 A1, P-100 A1, 
61993/TOP4/1, 61993/TOP5/1, 61993/TOP6/1 and the development shall not be 
carried out except in accordance with the drawings hereby approved. 
Reason.  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
design pursuant to the policies of the Bury Unitary Development Plan listed. 

 

3. Before the first occupation of the building hereby permitted the windows on the 
rear elevation shall be fitted with obscured glazing and shall be permanently 
retained in that condition thereafter. 
Reason. To protect the privacy of adjoining occupiers and to accord with Policy 
CF1/1 - Location of Community Facilities and EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design 
of the Bury Unitary Development Plan. 
 

 
For further information on the application please contact Helen Leach on 0161 253 5322

Page 15



 
 
 

Page 16



Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

o

n

o

n

ADDRESS:
Geoffrey Kershaw Centre, Deal 
Street, Bury, BL9 7PZ

© Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

55

1

5
2

4
7

32

42

8
6

44

9
0

El Sub Sta

5
7

4
5

7
7

5
7

27

10

2
5

3
2

1
1

15

30

1
4

2

17

3
5

4
2

2
62

1

1

18

5
0

2

10

15

9

1

5
2

60

Kershaw

New

Centre

7
1

7
5

6
7

49

53

7
5

a

30

30b

7
5

d

3
3

37

33
35

32

7
0

7
4

7
6

7
2

7
8

8
0

7
1

48

6
3

5
9

8
2

6
4 6
2

4
6

4
8

5
4

5
6

6
0

5
8

4
9

4
4

3
8

40
42

21
23

22

28b

26a

28

TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET

TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET

TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET

TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET

TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET

TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET

TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET
TEAK STREET

TEAK STREET

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E M

A
P

L
E

 A
V

E
N

U
E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

M
A

P
L

E
 A

V
E

N
U

E

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

BACK TEAK STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

MAXWELL STREET

CEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDAR
CEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDAR
CEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDAR
CEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDAR
CEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDAR
CEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDAR
CEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDARCEDAR
CEDAR

STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET
STREET

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

BACK MYRTLE STREET

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 N
O

R
T

H

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

LAUREL STREET

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

D
E

A
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

97.8m

9
5
.7

m

4.
3.

2.1.

71084 - Viewpoints

Page 17



71084 

Photo 1 

 

Photo 2 

 Page 18



71084 

Photo 3 

 

Photo 4 

 Page 19



 

 

EXISTING SITE PLAN 

Page 20



P
age 21



P
age 22



  
 
Ward: Bury East Item   2 

 
Applicant:  Cairnwell Developments 
 
Location: Former Bury Police Office HQ, Irwell Street, Bury, BL9 0HE 

 
Proposal: Hybrid application comprising Full application for specialist care home (Class C2) 

with associated parking, landscaping and infrastructure and Outline application for 
care home (Class C2) with all matters reserved. 

 
Application Ref:   70565/Full Target Date:  29/07/2024 
 
Recommendation: Minded to Approve 
 
It is recommended that this application is Minded to Approve subject to the signing 
and completion of a legal agreement to ensure proposed habitats created as a result 
of Biodiversity Net Gain are maintained in the target condition for 30 years. If the 
agreement is not signed within a reasonable timeframe, then delegated authority is 
sought by the Development Manager to determine the application. 
 
Description 
The application relates to a vacant site located on Irwell Street. The site is bound by Lower 
Bank Street to the north, Irwell Street to the west, Jubilee Way to the south and the Castle 
Leisure Centre car park to the east.  Irwell Street and Lower Bank Street have terraced 
residential properties facing the site.  The site was formally occupied by a multi-storey, 
concrete block sectional building and associated car park that was utilised by Greater 
Manchester Police. Permission for the demolition of this building was approved in 2013 and 
the site has been subsequently cleared. 
 
The application is a hybrid application comprising of a full planning permission, and outline 
planning permission. For the northern part of the site full planning permission is proposed 
for the construction of an "L" shaped, 2 - 3 storey specialist care home (C2) with car parking 
located to the west of the proposed building fronting Irwell Street.  
 
Outline permission is also sought for a second care home (C2) with all matters reserved for 
the southern part of the site closest to Jubilee Way.  
 
Access for both phases would be from Irwell Street utilising the existing access to the site.  
 
As this is a C2 scheme,  the units of occupation are not classed as "dwellings" in planning 
terms.  The proposal will therefore fall under the classification of "all other uses" within the 
scheme of delegation and as such is coming before Planning Control Committee as the site 
is over 0.5 hectares.   
 
Relevant Planning History 
45666 - Extension of car park and creation of new access at Irwell Street, Bury. Refused - 
24 January 2006 
 
45901 - Extension to existing car park including closing access from Lower Bank Street at 
Irwell Street car park, Bury. Approved with conditions - 13 March 2006. 
 
56466 - Outline application (Means of Access to be approved at outline stage) for demolition 

Page 23



of existing on-site structures and development of up to 12,077 sq.m (130,000 sq.ft) gross 
Class A1 retail floorspace (provided by a single large foodstore unit together with the option 
for unit shops of a maximum of 1,850 sq.m, this floorspace being part of the 12,077sqm) 
with Petrol Filling Station, car parking, landscaping and other associated elements at Castle 
Leisure Centre, Bolton Street, Bury. Approved with conditions - 11 October 2013 
 
56479 - Prior notification of demolition of existing buildings at Former GMP building, Irwell 
Street, Bury. Prior approval granted - 9 August 2013. 
 
56482 - Erection of temporary chain link fence 2.1m high - Approved with conditions - 13 
August 2013 
 
61390 - Erection of 1 no. attached dwelling at land adjacent to 7 Lower Bank Street, Bury. 
Approved with conditions - 17 July 2017. 
 
02910/E - Hybrid application comprising of a full planning application for the construction of 
a 40-bed care home with associated parking, landscaping, and infrastructure, and an outline 
planning application for a 40-bed care home with associated parking, landscaping, and 
infrastructure. -  Complete 
 
Publicity 
Letters sent to 63 neighbouring properties on the 30th April 2024. 
Site Notice 3rd May 2024 
Press Notice 2nd May 2024 
 
1 comment received confirming no objection to the application. 
 
Additional neighbour letters sent 30th May 2024 in relation to an amended site layout and 
utilising the existing site access off Irwell Street. No representations received.  
 
Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations 
Conservation Officer - No objections raised. 
 
Traffic Section - Conditions requested in relation to access arrangements, construction 
traffic management plan, implementation of parking, turning and bin storage facilities.  
 
Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - Conditions requested in relation to the 
submission of a preliminary risk assessment, site investigation, detailed risk assessment, 
remediation strategy and site verification report. Conditions also requested in relation to a 
dust emissions scheme and electric vehicle charging point.  
 
Environmental Health - Pollution Control - Request that the conclusions of the submitted 
noise assessment are conditioned. 
 
Waste Management - No response 
 
United Utilities (Water and waste) - Condition requested in relation to carrying out the 
proposal in accordance with the submitted SUDs scheme 
 
Greater Manchester Police - designforsecurity - No response 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - Potential ecological issues include nesting birds, 
invasive species and biodiversity net gain. Requested nesting birds condition, invasive 
species informative, landscaping scheme to include the provision of bird and bat boxes and 
BNG.  

Page 24



 
BNG to be secured via legal agreement 
 
G M Archaeological Advisory Service - Satisfied that the proposal would not impact any 
archeological remains. As such no further consideration is required at this time. 
 
Borough Engineer - Drainage Section - No response. 
 
Planning & Building Regs Consultation Fire Protection Dept - The closest fire hydrant is 
located approximately 200m from the furthest point of site 2, which is over the 165m 
required.  
 
Transport for Greater Manchester - Access arrangements have been altered to utilise the 
existing southern access on Irwell Street addressing comments concerning the conflict of 
servicing manoeuvres with the existing on street parking bays.  
 
 
Pre-start Conditions - To be agreed with applicant/agent 
 
Development Plan and Policies 
CF1/1 Location of New Community Facilities 
CF3/1 Residential Care Homes and Nursing Homes 
EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design 
EN6/3 Features of Ecological Value 
EN7/2 Noise Pollution 
EN7/3 Water Pollution 
EN7/5 Waste Water Management 
JP-C1 Our Integrated Network 
EN8/2 Woodland and Tree Planting 
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development 
H4/2 Special Needs Housing 
JP-C2 Digital Connectivity 
JP-C3 Our Public Transport 
JP-C5 Streets For All 
JP-C6 Walking and Cycling 
JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development 
JP-H3 Type, Size and Design of New Housing 
JP-S2 Carbon and Energy 
JP-S4 Flood Risk and the Water Environment 
JP-S5 Clean Air 
JP-P1 Sustainable Places 
JP-P6 Health 
JP-G7 Trees and Woodland 
JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
JP-G1 Landscape Character 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
SPD6 Supplementary Planning Document 6: Alterations & Extensions 
SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury 
 
Issues and Analysis 
 
The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant 
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the 
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material 

Page 25



planning considerations.  
 
The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be 
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For 
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a 
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically 
mentioned. 
 
Principle 
The site is unallocated within the UDP. The proposals are therefore to be assessed on its 
individual merits based upon relevant policies. 
 
UDP Policy CF1/1 states that proposals for new and improved community facilities will be 
considered with regard to the following factors: 

• impact on residential amenity and the local environment; 

• traffic generation and car parking provision; 

• the scale and size of the development; 

• where applicable, access to shops and other services; 

• if the use is intended to serve a local community, or catchment area, the suitability of the 
chosen location in relation to that community or catchment area; 

• accessibility by public and private transport; 

• the needs and requirements of the disabled. 
 
UDP Policy CF3/1 states that residential care homes will be located in residential areas and 
will be permitted where they do not conflict with the amenity of adjoining areas. 
 
PfE Policy JP-P6 confirms improvements in health facilities will be supported, responding to 
the changing needs and demands of both existing and new residents, including where 
appropriate , the provision of new or improved health facilities as part of new developments 
proportionate to the additional demand that they would generate. 
 
UDP Policy H4/2 states that the Council would encourage the provision of special needs 
housing and would be assessed with regard to the location of health care facilities, the 
location of local shops, public transport, the gradient of the site and the provision of car 
parking and amenity space. 
 
PfE Policy JP-H3 - Seeks to provide an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes 
reflecting local plan policies and having regard to relevant local evidence. Development 
across the plan area should seek to incorporate a range of dwelling types and sizes, 
including for self-build. 
 
Paragraph 63 of the NPPF confirms that within the context of establishing need, the size, 
type and tenure of housing needed for different groups in the community should be 
assessed and reflected in planning policies. These groups should include (but are not 
limited to) those who require affordable housing; families with children; older people 
(including those who require retirement housing, housing-with-care and care homes); 
students; people with disabilities; service families; travellers; people who rent their homes 
and people wishing to commission or build their own homes. 
 
The proposed full planning application would provide a 40no. bed care home, which would 
be used to provide specialist care homes for those with acute care needs.  The proposed 
outline permission seeks to provide a secondary circa 40 bed care home. The proposed 
care homes would be located within a residential area and would not conflict with the 
surrounding land uses. There would be adequate infrastructure and the site would have 

Page 26



good access to public transport due to town centre location. Therefore, the proposed 
development would be acceptable in principle and would be in accordance with Policies 
CF1/1, CF3/1 , JP-P6, JP-H3, H4/2 and the NPPF. 
 
Layout and Design 
UDP Policy EN1/2 seeks to ensure that development proposals would not have a 
detrimental effect on the visual amenity and character of a particular area. PfE Policy JP-P1 
Sustainable Places aims to promote a series of beautiful, healthy and varied places.  
 
Full Planning Permission 
There are various scales of development adjacent to the site, with two storey terraced 
residential properties located along Irwell Street and Lower Bank Street, and the lager scale 
Leisure Centre building located to the rear of the site. Due to the natural incline of the site 
and adjacent streets and the scale of the existing Leisure Centre building this building is 
currently sited approximately 9.8 metres higher than the existing residential properties on 
Lower Bank Street.The proposed building would be L shaped and reach a maximum of 3 
stories in height. The site sections submitted indicate that the 3 storey element of the 
proposed building would be 4.7 metres higher than the terraced properties on Irwell Street, 
with the 2 storey element approximately 650mm lower. The ridge of the proposed 3 storey 
element would be approximately 7.1 metres higher than the properties on Lower Bank 
Street, but the highest part of the ridge would be sited 3.5metres lower than the existing 
Leisure Centre Building that is sited to the east of this row of properties. Given this 
juxtaposition, the scale and massing of the proposed building is considered to be 
acceptable relating well in scale to the scale of both the existing residential and Leisure 
Centre uses. 
 
The proposed gable roof and gable detailing would reflect the traditional style and design of 
the neighbouring terraced residential dwellings. The proposed windows are suitably aligned 
presenting an appropriate rhythm. The use of red facing brick work would replicate the 
materials within the wider street scene, with the introduction of areas of dark wood cladding 
creating areas of interest in the elevations that face towards Irwell Street and Lower Bank 
Street.  
 
The site currently slopes gradually towards the rear boundary with the Leisure Centre car 
park to the east of the site. Existing spot levels indicate that the site increases from between 
90.630 - 90.980 AOD along Irwell Street to between 93.910 - 94.250 AOD at the boundary 
with the car park. The proposal would see the site levelled providing finished floor levels at 
92.000 AOD. A new 1.4 metre high retaining wall introduced to the front of the existing car 
park retaining wall. An additional retaining wall would be introduced around the air source 
heat pump enclosure reaching a maximum height of approximately 1.9 metres.  
  
Supplementary Planning Document 1 states that C2 schemes cater for people who are in 
need of attentive care and whose physical mobility is likely to be restricted. Such uses 
would not place a significant demand upon the need to provide new formal recreational 
facilities. On-site amenity land and communal space has been provided through the 
provision of areas of garden are located to the front, side and rear of the site and communal 
terraces/seating areas are located to the side and rear. The proposed amenity space would 
also include pathways around the building and a growing area thus providing green 
separation and amenity space to the site. 
 
The car parking would be located to the front of the proposed building, with areas of soft 
landscaping ii the parking areas and frontage with Irwell Street. Further soft landscaping is 
located to the front, side and rear (Lower Bank Street) of the proposed building and in 
connection with the amenity space for the future residents.  
 

Page 27



Boundary treatments fronting Irwell Street and the corner of Lower Bank Street would 
comprise of 1200mm black bow top fencing which would allow a level of permeability 
between the site and the highway along the main frontage of the site whilst still highlighting 
a clear defensible space. The remaining boundary along Lower Bank Street, and the 
boundary to the rear with the car park would comprise of 2.1 m close boarded timber 
fencing which is common in residential areas and as such no objections are raised.   
 
Outline 
The indicative plan shows that the site can accommodate an "L" shaped building and 
associated amenity space for any future residents. The indicative plan also shows an area 
that can be accommodated for parking and bin storage.  
 
The layout and appearance is not subject to consideration at this outline stage but would be 
a matter for the reserved matters application. 
 
Amenity 
There are no adopted aspect standards for new build residential properties however, 
Supplementary Planning Document 6 provides guidance on aspect standards between 
residential properties and new development and as such, would be a reasonable guide in 
this case.  
 
For clarity the following aspect standards would be applicable: 

• 20 metres between directly facing habitable room windows; 

• 13 metres between an existing habitable room window and a proposed two storey blank 
wall 

• 6.5 metres between an existing habitable room window and a proposed single storey 
blank wall 

• 7 metres between a proposed first floor habitable room window and a directly facing 
boundary with a neighbouring property. 

 
Any assessment will need to take into account significant change in levels or new 
accommodation to be provided at a higher storey which may result in, for example, principal 
windows to single storey extensions having the same effect as a two storey extension. In 
this regard, there should be an extra 3 metres of separation for each 2.5m or one storey of 
height or level difference in each of the above cases.  
 
Full Planning Permission 
A distance of approximately 23 metres can be provided between the proposed windows, 
and the front elevations of the properties on Lower Bank Street complying with aspect 
standards. The elevation facing the site is 2 storeys in height and as such presents a limited 
impact. As 23 metres can be provided the proposal would comply with the aspect standards 
thus mitigating overbearing relationships. 
 
A distance of approximately 28.9 metres can be provided between the proposed windows 
and the front elevations of the properties on Irwell Street exceeding aspect standards. As 
28.9 metres can be provided the proposal would also comply with the aspect standards for 
overbearing relationships. 
 
10 metres can be provided between the proposed windows, and the rear boundary with the 
car park to the rear of the site complying with aspect standards. 
 
A 1.4 metre high retaining wall is proposed to the rear of the proposed ground floor windows 
of the proposed building. This wall would be located a minimum of approximately 6.6metres 
from these windows. As such the 6.5 metres required between blank single storey walls and 

Page 28



ground floor windows can be provided protecting the amenity of the users of these ground 
floor rooms. Similarly a distance of 10.4 metres can be provided between the ground floor 
bedroom and lounge windows and the proposed 1.8 metre close boarded fence protecting 
the amenity of any users of these ground floor rooms.  
 
Outline 
The layout is not under consideration at present and would be a concern for the reserved 
matters application however, the indicative layout submitted shows that separation 
distances can be accommodated.  
 
Noise 
Policy EN7/2  seeks to limit noise pollution and will not permit development that would lead 
to an unacceptable noise nuisance or would be close to a permanent source of noise.  
 
A noise impact assessment has been submitted with the application. The ambient noise 
climate at the site is characterised (dominated) by road traffic on the A58 Jubilee Way, with 
a lesser contribution from vehicles on Lower Bank Street accessing Castle Leisure Centre. 
No significant noise was noted from the leisure centre. East Lancashire Railway is also 
located to the east of the site however by virtue of the limited use of this railway, during 
non-sensitive hours the noise assessment considered this impact of the line to be negligible.  
 
The closest noise sensitive receptors to the site are considered to be the existing residential 
dwellings on Lower Bank Street to the north and the existing residential dwellings on Irwell 
Street to the west.  
 
The full planning application would be located further from the A58 than the proposed 
outline site. On the assumption that set out in the supporting report, the site would be 
provided with some form of mechanical ventilation the noise impact assessment would 
suggest mitigation at the site through appropriately rated double glazing, in conjunction with 
rated acoustic wall vents. The details of this mitigation can be secured through condition.  
 
In relation to the outline application the indicative layout shows that the site would be closer 
to the elevated noise levels of the A58. As the layout of this site has not been formalised it is 
considered that the submission of a noise assessment at reserved matters for layout should 
be submitted, taking into consideration the appropriate solutions set out in the submitted 
noise impact assessment - namely mechanical ventilation heat recovery and mechanical 
extract ventilation.  
 
Access and Parking  
UDP Policy EN1/2 requires the consideration of the design and appearance of access, 
parking and service provision. PfE Policies JP-C5 and JP-C6 require streets to be well 
designed and managed to make a significant positive contribution to the quality of place and 
support high levels of walking, cycling and public transport.  
 
Pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access to the proposed development would be taken from 
the existing site access located at the southern end of Irwell Street site frontage. It is 
proposed to widen this access to 6 metres to accommodate larger vehicles entering and 
existing the site. Visibility splays are the same as the existing access, and in accordance 
with current design standards.  
 
The existing access to the site from Lower Bank Street, adjacent to the sub station, would 
be stopped up and reinstated as a footway. 
 
The Traffic Section have been consulted as part of the application process, and have raised 
no objections to the proposed access to the full planning permission element of the site 

Page 29



subject to conditions. 
 
In relation to the outline permission, access would be a concern for the reserved matters 
application.  
 
Transport Requirements 
PfE Policy JP-C8 requires new development to be located and designed to enable and 
encourage walking, cycling and public transport use and to reduce the negative effects of 
car dependency.  
 
The Transport Statement notes that pedestrian access to the site can be provided from 
Irwell Street, which is served by footways on both sides of the carriageway. Street lighting is 
also provided at regular intervals. Bolton Street to the north of the site can provide access to 
Bury town centre, and there is pedestrian and cycle access to the south of the site towards 
the A58. A large range of amenities are located within 1km walking distance of the site 
including Bury Interchange.  
 
In terms of cycle access the site is in close proximity to the shared cycle/footway that runs 
from Irwell Street/Bolton Street. This route is part of Bury’s Cycle ‘Traffic Free’ routes 
demonstrated within the Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) cycle maps. The site is 
therefore considered to be highly accessible by cycle for staff living within 5km of the site.  
 
The nearest bus stops to the site are located on Jubilee Way, and Bolton Street providing 
wider accessibility to the site to and from Manchester, Rochdale and Bolton and access to 
nearby residential areas including but not limited to Radcliffe, Elton, Tottington and 
Ramsbottom.  In addition, Bury Interchange is located approximately 700m to the east of 
the site where a number of additional bus and tram services can be reached. 
 
It is therefore considered that it has been demonstrated that the site is highly accessible on 
foot, by cycling and by public transport. 
 
Parking 
In terms of parking standards UDP Policy HT2/4 requires all applications for development to 
make adequate provision for their car parking and servicing requirements. Supplementary 
Planning Document 11 provides parking standards for developments. PfE Policy JP-C8 
requires new development to be located and designed to enable and encourage walking, 
cycling and public transport use and to reduce the negative effects of car dependency.  
 
The site is located within a town centre location close to transport links and can be 
accessed on foot or through cycling. Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) are in place on Irwell 
Street and Lower Bank Street providing resident only parking permits and a large public car 
park is located to the rear of the site. SPD 11 states that the maximum parking standards for 
care homes is 1 space, per 4 beds this would equate to 10 spaces.  
 
The applicant's have confirmed that there will be a total of 38 members of staff during the 
day at the site, including ancillary staff with shift patterns split over two 12-hour shifts. There 
would be no resident members of staff employed at the site. 10no. spaces are proposed to 
be provided, with an additional 3no. disabled parking spaces located directly to the front of 
the proposed entrance to allow accessibility to the building.  
 
The proposal would comply with maximum standards for parking as set out within SPD 11. 
SPD 11 confirms that standards for care/nursing homes are for staff and visitors. Given the 
highly accessible nature of the site outlined above within the Transport Requirements 
section, the existing TROs and the town centre location proposed it is considered that the 
parking proposed would be adequate. 

Page 30



 
In terms of cycle parking, the proposal would provide 8 spaces which would exceed the 
minimum of 2 spaces required by SPD 11. As such the proposed cycle parking would 
comply with guidance. 
 
In terms of the outline permission again, the layout is not under consideration at present and 
would be a concern for the reserved matters application however, the indicative layout 
submitted shows similar level of parking could be provided. 
 
Ecology and Biodiversity Net Gain 
PfE Policy JP-G8 states that through local planning and associated activities a net 
enhancement of biodiversity resources will be sought. This is supported by UDP Policy 
EN6/3 that seeks to retain, protect and enhance the natural environment and seeks to retain 
features of ecological or wildlife value. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that the planning 
policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. 
UDP Policy EN8/2 supports and encourages new woodland and tree planting within the 
borough. 
 
Protected Species 
No evidence of any protected species was found and as such no further information or 
measures are required.  
 
Nesting Birds 
Trees and shrubs are present along the southern boundary, potential bird nesting habitat, 
with some removal proposed as part of the outline part of the development. A condition has 
been requested by GMEU to limit works to trees to outside of the bird nesting season. 
 
Invasive Species 
Two species of Cotoneaster were recorded on the site.  Certain species of Cotoneaster are 
listed under schedule 9 part 2 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).  It is 
illegal to introduce various species of  Cotoneaster to the wild, which this location is not, 
with one of the species identified as C. frigidus, which is not one of the Cotoneaster listed 
under schedule 9.  Given the low level of infestation and uncertainty regarding whether the 
species present are regarded as invasive, GMEU recommend an informative. 
 
Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment & Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
The development site is primarily brownfield, characterised by short ephemeral species a 
low value habitat.  A small area of broadleaved plantation/urban tree planting is also 
present along the southern boundary, some of which is shown as lost as part of the outline 
part of the application. Wildlife issues appear restricted to nesting birds.  
 
The development is subject to mandatory 10% BNG as submitted after the 12th February 
2024.   
 
For the outline site GMEU have confirmed that they are happy with the outline baseline 
values and are satisfied that this can be utilised for any future reserved matters applications. 
 
An on-site loss is deemed likely, with a shortfall of 0.43BU (Biodiversity Units) to achieve 
10% BNG.  This is in part reliant on enhancement of retained trees from moderate to good, 
which may or may not be achievable. Given the scale of the shortfall GMEU are satisfied 
that off-site compensation is feasible with finalised details on how BNG will be provided as 
part of reserved matters.  
 
In relation to the full planning part of the site the metric currently only achieves 8.8% Net 
gain, with a shortfall of just 0.01BU to achieve 10% net gain. Following this calculation the 

Page 31



planting schedule has been amended to include native trees and GMEU consider that 10% 
BNG would be achievable on site. The habitats creation sites are however reliant on the 
urban trees and other neutral grassland both medium distinctiveness habitats.  Based on 
Defra guidance these habitats are classed as significant. GMEU would therefore 
recommend that a legal agreement is signed with the developer to ensure the individual 
trees and grassland are maintained in the target condition for 30 years. 
 
With regards wildlife, GMEU consider that the only issue would be nesting birds and 
primarily with regards the outline part of the development. GMEU have therefore 
recommend provision of bird boxes primarily within the outline part of the development, on 
the retained trees.   As wildlife enhancement GMEU recommend integrated bat boxes 
within both the full and outline applications. These elements have been conditioned.  
 
Trees 
The arboricultural impact assessment submitted with the application confirms that the 
majority of the trees to be impacted by the proposal would be within site 2, which is the 
outline part of the proposed application. TT5 and T74 have been categorised as Category U 
trees and identified for removal due to their condition. As the layout of this part of the 
scheme is yet to be determined a condition will be attached to require the submission of an 
arboricultural method statement at first reserved matters stage to avoid the loss of trees 
which are of amenity value. 
 
Tree T35 however appears to be within site 1. This is identified within the assessment as an 
ash tree and is not indicated as being felled, however this tree is not shown on the proposed 
layout or planting plan as being retained. The tree is a C1 tree which is considered to be a 
low quality tree. Given the low quality of the tree, and the number of trees proposed to be 
planted along this frontage no objections are raised to the removal of this tree.  
 
Health and Wellbeing 
PfE Policy JP-P6 supports improvements in healthcare facilities. Where appropriate, the 
provision of new or improved health facilities will be required proportionate to the additional 
demand generated.   
 
A Health Impact Assessment (HIA) has been submitted with the application. The submitted 
HIA includes an assessment of the health impacts of the development over both the 
construction and operation phases and has utilised the HUDU Rapid Health Impact 
Assessment Matrix.  
 
The HIA identifies that there is a higher proportion of younger people (0-14) and people 
aged 15-24 within the vicinity of the site when compared to Bury and the North West, with a 
lower proportion of people aged 65+. In terms of overall deprivation the HIA states that the 
site is located in one of the 20% most deprived neighbourhoods in the country. Health is 
ranked in the 3rd decile and the site is situated in an area which is in the 10% most deprived 
areas in terms of Crime and Living Environment.  
 
The HIA however also highlights that the site is well served in terms of community and 
social infrastructure, and many amenities and services would also be provided on site for 
the residents of the care home.  
 
During the construction stage of development the HIA considered that there will be 
increased jobs and spending in the local area. Environmental Control can be achieved 
through the agreement of conditions.  During the operational phase the addition of the care 
home spaces will help to address the specified housing need in Bury.  The proposal will 
also create both full time and part time jobs which will represent a notable uplift in a site that 
is currently vacant. The HIA recommends a number of mitigations including, but not limited 

Page 32



to, implementation of the landscaping strategy, implementation of the mitigation measures 
within the noise assessment and implementation of the SuDs report.  
 
In summary the HIA concludes that the proposed development would achieve the objective 
of creating homes, jobs and services that people need whilst reducing the environmental 
risks. 
 
Carbon and Energy 
PfE Policy JP-S2 sets out the steps required to achieve net zero carbon emissions. A 
detailed Energy Statement has been submitted with the planning application. 
 
The construction of the building is based on well insulated cavity walls, solid concrete floors 
and highly insulated roof. With the under floor heating the building heats up and retains heat 
within the fabric and thermostatic controls steadily reduce the need to heat due to the 
thermal storage capacity of the building fabric, reducing energy/electric consumption. The 
submitted Energy Statement confirms that these would comply with Part L of the biding 
regulations. 
 
Low energy light fittings are proposed internally and externally. Heating would be provided 
through Air Source Heat Pumps. Hot water would be provided via high efficiency, low NOx 
gas fired water heaters. Gas hot water currently provide lower carbon emissions than air 
source heat pumps within Part L of the building regs. The submitted Energy Statement 
states that Photovoltaic (PV) Panels are proposed to be installed east facing to provide 
renewable energy, reducing the carbon footprint of the building. The level of PV has been 
set to provide an economically feasible amount of carbon reduction. Glazing areas have 
been lowered to reduce heat losses. 
 
The Energy Statement confirms that the proposed building was modelled in SBEM 2021 to 
determine the CO2 emissions.  These calculations show that with the development 
emissions are below that required for the current building regulation requirements (SBEM 
2021) and show a reduction in CO2 of in excess of 34% compared to the previous 
requirements of SBEM 2013. 
 
The proposal is therefore considered to be in conformity with Policy JP-S2. 
 
Digital Connectivity 
PfE Policy JP-C2 requires development to have full fibre to premises connections unless 
infeasible or unviable, with multiple-ducting.  The policy supports the provision of free, 
secure, high-speed public wi-fi connections, particularly in the most frequented areas. The 
applicant has confirmed that the development will be provided with full connections in 
accordance with the requirements of Policy JP-C2.   
 
Drainage 
Any proposal should include a surface water scheme that must be based on the hierarchy of 
drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance and include assessment of 
potential SuDS options for surface water drainage with appropriate calculations and test 
results to support the chosen solution. It must be designed in accordance with the 
Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015). 
 
United Utilities have reviewed the submitted drainage strategy and confirmed that the 
proposals are acceptable in principle and have requested a condition to ensure that the 
proposal is carried out in accordance with the principles set out within the submitted Foul 
and Surface Water Drainage Design Drawings.  
  
Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development 

Page 33



Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015 
 
The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify 
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised 
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were 
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local 
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Recommendation: Minded to Approve 
 
Conditions/ Reasons 
 

1. CONDITIONS RELATING TO ALL PARTS OF THE PLANNING APPLICATION 
(SITE 1 AND SITE 2) 

 

2. This decision relates to drawings numbered: 
IRWEL WBA SI ZZ DR A PL-001 P1, IRWEL WBA SI ZZ DR A PL-002 P1, IRWEL 
WBA SI ZZ DR A PL-003 P15, IRWEL-WBA-NB-00-DR-A-PL_100 P5, 
IRWEL-WBA-NB-01-DR-A-PL_101 P5, IRWEL-WBA-NB-02-DR-A-PL_102 P5,  
IRWEL-WBA-NB-RF-DR-A-PL_103 P3, IRWEL-WBA-NB-ZZ-DR-A-PL 201 P4, 
IRWEL-WBA-NB-ZZ-DR-A-PL 202 P4, IRWEL-WBA-NB-ZZ-DR-A-PL 203 P3,  
IRWEL WBA SI ZZ DR A PL-205, IRWEL WBA SI ZZ DR A PL-205 P1, 
IRWEL-WBA-NB-ZZ-DR-A-PL_206 P1, 23389-DCE-XX-XX-D-C-101-P03, 
23389-DCE-XX-XX-D-C-102 P02, 23389-DCE-XX-XX-D-C-103 P02, 
23389-DCE-XX-XX-D-X-104 P02, 23389-DCE-XX-XX-D-C-156 P01, 
23389-DCE-XX-XX-D-X-155-P05, AT.24.11879.101 R.07, AT.24.11879.102. R.08, 
AT.24.11879.103. R.01, TR-01 V1, 60307MCLS-01B Revision B. 
 
Supporting Documents 
Planning Statement March 2024 
Noise Impact Assessment 18th March 2024 NIA-11288-24-11502-v2  
Extended Phase One Habitat Survey (Preliminary Ecological Appraisal) 11761 
Bury PEA - RW – V1– 08.12.23 
Potential roost feature inspection surveys - trees 08/12/2023 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment 28.02.2024 
Air Quality Assessment March 2024 
Design and Access Statement  
Site 1 Drainage Strategy and Calculations 14/03/2024 
Combined Phase 1 Desk Study and Phase 2 Geo-Environmental Ground 
Investigation Report 3842-01 
Crime Impact Statement 2024/0095/CIS/01 
Health Impact Statement May 2024 
Transport Statement TS01B July 2024 
Full Fibre Broadband Statement 29th July 2024 
Assessment of Biodiversity - Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Version 5 29/08/2024 
The Biodiversity Metric 4.0 -Technical Annex 1: Condition Assessment Sheets and 
Methodology 
Statutory Biodiversity Metric Calculator - Full Site 
Statutory Biodiversity Metric Calculator - Outline site 
Energy/Sustainability Statement Version 1.1 
 
and the development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the 
drawings hereby approved. 

Page 34



Reason.  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
design pursuant to the policies of the Development Plan listed. 

 

3. Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the 
local planning authority and agreed in writing. The sustainable drainage 
management and maintenance plan shall include as a minimum: 
(i) Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident’s management 
company; and 
(ii) Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water drainage 
scheme throughout its lifetime. 
The development shall subsequently be completed, maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved plan. This condition can be satisfied in phases. 
Reason. To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the 
sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution 
during the lifetime of the development. 

 

4. No development shall commence unless and until:- 

• A contaminated land Preliminary Risk Assessment report to assess the 
actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks at the site 
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority; 

• Where actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks have 
been identified, detailed site investigation and suitable risk assessment shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 

• Where remediation/protection measures is/are required, a detailed 
Remediation Strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
This condition can be satisfied in Phases. 
Reason.  The scheme does not provide full details of the actual contamination 
and subsequent remediation, which is required to secure the satisfactory 
development of the site in terms of human health, controlled waters, ground gas 
and the wider environment and pursuant to National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 

 

5. Following the provisions of Condition 4 of this planning permission, where 
remediation is required, the approved Remediation Strategy must be carried out to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority within agreed timescales; and 
A Site Verification Report detailing the actions taken and conclusions at each 
stage of the remediation works, including substantiating evidence, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
development being brought into use. 
This condition can be satisfied in Phases. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 
health, controlled waters and the wider environment and pursuant to National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment.  
 

 

6. Prior to occupation the applicant shall provide: 
 
Electric vehicle (EV) charging points (minimum 7kW*) for a minimum of 20% of the 
proposed parking spaces. 

Page 35



 
Certification and photographic evidence of the installation of the agreed electric 
vehicle charge points shall be submitted to Local Planning Authority for approval 
prior to the development being brought into use. 
 
*Mode 3, 7kW (32A) single phase, or 22kW (32A) three phase, and for 50kW 
Mode 4 rapid charging may be required. British Standard BS EN 61851-1:2019 to 
be used. Further information regarding minimum standards can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/transport/low-emission-and-electric-vehicles.  
 
Reason. To encourage the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles and ensure the 
development is sustainable and to safeguard residential amenity, public health and 
quality of life with respect to Local Air Quality, in accordance with paragraphs 
111e, 116e, 180e and 192 of the National Planning Policy Framework (December 
2023) and Places for Everyone Policy JP-S5 (Clean Air).  
 

 

7. No development shall commence unless and until a scheme to minimise dust 
emissions arising from the construction process has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include 
details of all dust control measures to be used during any associated construction 
phase within the application site and to include the methods to monitor emissions 
of dust arising from the development. The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved scheme with the approved dust control measures 
being retained and maintained in a fully functional condition for the duration of the 
development hereby approved. This condition can be satisfied in Phases. 
Reason. The information is required to reduce the impacts of dust disturbance 
from the site on the local environment, pursuant to chapter 15 of the NPPF - 
Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 
 

 

8. No works to trees or shrubs shall occur or demolition commence between the 1st 
March and 31st August in any year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably 
experienced ecologist has been carried out immediately prior to clearance and 
written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are present which has been 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species 
pursuant to policies JP-G8 - A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
and EN6/3 - Features of Ecological Value of the Development Plan and National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 

9. An Overall Biodiversity Gain Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before the development is commenced. The 
Biodiversity Gain Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the Assessment of 
Biodiversity - Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) Version 5 29/08/2024 prepared by 
Simon Brain and must include: 
 
1. information about the steps taken or to be taken to minimise the adverse effect 

of the development on the biodiversity of the onsite habitat and any other 
habitat; 

2. the pre-development biodiversity value of the entire onsite habitat; 
3. any registered offsite biodiversity gain allocated or proposed to be allocated to 

the entire development and the biodiversity value of that gain in relation to the 
development; 

Page 36



4. any biodiversity credits purchased or proposed to be purchased for the entire 
development; and 

5. the post-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat for the entire 
development and each phase of development. 

Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

10. The development shall not commence until a Habitat Management and Monitoring 
Plan (the HMMP), prepared in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain 
Plan and including: 
1. a non-technical summary; 
2. the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the 

HMMP; 
3. the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve 

habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved 
Biodiversity Gain Plan; 

4. the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the 
approved Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion of 
development; and 

5. the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or 
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority. 

 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

11. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until: 
 
1. the habitat creation and enhancement works set out in the approved HMMP 

have been completed; and 
2. a completion report, evidencing the completed habitat enhancements, has 

been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMMP shall be 
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

12. Monitoring reports shall be submitted to local planning authority in writing in 
accordance with the methodology and frequency specified in the approved HMMP. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

13. Notwithstanding the details indicated on the approved plans, no development shall 
commence unless and until full details and programme of implementation of the 
following have been submitted on a topographical survey of the site and adjacent 
adopted highways to the Local Planning Authority: 

Page 37



 
1. Swept path analysis of the amended site access onto Irwell Street and 

proposed turning facilities serving both the full and outline proposals to ensure 
that appropriately sized delivery and refuse collection vehicles can enter and 
leave the site in a forward gear and access the proposed bin store positions, 
including any associated alterations to the access and car parking 
arrangements shown.  

2. Following the above exercise, formation of the proposed site access alterations 
and pedestrian improvements on Irwell Street and Lower Bank Street to a 
scope and specification to be agreed, incorporating revised access width and 
junction radii onto Irwell Street, the reinstatement of the redundant vehicular 
access to adjacent footway levels on Lower Bank Street, demarcation of the 
limits of the adopted highway, and all associated highway and highway 
drainage remedial works required as a result of the construction of the full and 
outline developments and any statutory undertakers connections to/works at 
the site; 

3. Scheme of site perimeter footway remedial works on Irwell Street and Lower 
Bank Street to a scope and specification to be agreed, required as a result of 
the demolition of the former police station and works at the interface with the 
adopted highway to form the proposed site boundary, incorporating the 
demarcation of the limits of the adopted highway and all proposed boundary 
treatment. 

4. Provision and retention of adequate levels of visibility at the junctions of the 
site access and Lower Bank Street with Irwell Street in accordance with the 
guidance in Manual for Streets, with no obstructions, including proposed 
boundary railings/treatment, above the height of 0.6m within the splays (other 
than on-street parking with the existing bays to be retained). 

 
The details subsequently approved shall be implemented to an agreed 
programme, 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of highway 
safety, ensure good highway design, minimise the standing and turning 
movements of vehicles on the highway, maintain the integrity of the adopted 
highway and ensure the intervisibility of the users of the site and the adjacent 
highways, all in the interests of highway safety pursuant to Development Plan 
Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - 
Walking and Cycling. 

 

14. No development shall commence unless and until a 'Construction Traffic 
Management Plan' (CTMP), has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority and shall confirm/provide the following: 
 
1. Photographic dilapidation survey of the footways and carriageways leading to 

and abutting the site in the event that subsequent remedial works are required 
following construction of the development and as a result of statutory 
undertakers connections to the site, including, if required, a review of the 
surveyed information between the full and outline application phases. 

2. Access route for all construction vehicles to the site from the Key Route 
Network. 

3. Access point/arrangements for construction traffic, taking into consideration the 
need to maintain safe pedestrian/vehicular access to adjacent residential 
properties and Castle Leisure Centre, and all temporary works required to 
facilitate access for construction vehicles. 

4. Hours of work for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction and 
number of vehicle movements. 

Page 38



5. Arrangements for the parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors on 
land within the applicant's control, together with storage on site or on land 
within the applicant's control of construction materials. 

6. Arrangements for the turning and manoeuvring of vehicles within the curtilage 
of the site and/or measures to control/manage delivery vehicle manoeuvres, 
including details of areas designated for the loading, unloading and storage of 
plant and materials. 

7. Details of the siting, height and maintenance of any site hoardings. 
8. The provision, where necessary, of temporary pedestrian facilities/protection 

measures on the adopted highway. 
9. A scheme of appropriate warning/construction traffic speed signage in the 

vicinity of the site and its access(es). 
10. Arrangements for the provision of wheel washing facilities for vehicles 

accessing the site. 
11. Measures to ensure that all mud and other loose materials are not spread onto 

the adjacent adopted highways a result of the groundworks operations or 
carried on the wheels and chassis of any vehicles leaving the site and 
measures to control the emission of noise, dust and dirt during construction. 

12. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works. 
 
The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the demolition/construction 
period and the measures shall be retained and facilities used for the intended 
purpose for the duration of the demolition and construction periods. The areas 
identified shall not be used for any other purposes other than the turning/parking of 
vehicles and storage of demolition/construction materials. The condition can be 
satisfied in phases.  
Reason.  Information not submitted at application stage. To mitigate the impact of 
the construction traffic generated by the proposed development on the adjacent 
residential streets, and ensure adequate off street car parking provision and 
materials storage arrangements for the duration of the construction period and that 
the adopted highways are kept free of deposited material from the ground works 
operations, in the interests of highway safety pursuant to Development Plan 
Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - 
Walking and Cycling. 

 

15. CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE FULL PLANNING PERMISSION (SITE 1) 
 

16. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 
of this permission. 
Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 Town & Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 

17. Details/Samples of the materials/bricks to be used in the external elevations, 
together with details of their manufacturer, type/colour and size, shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the development 
is commenced. Only the approved materials/bricks shall be used for the 
construction of the development. 
Reason. No material samples have been submitted and are required in the 
interests of visual amenity and to ensure a satisfactory development pursuant to 
UDP Policy EN1/2  - Townscape and Built Design 

 

18. The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 
accordance with the principles set out in the submitted Foul & Surface Water 
Drainage Design Drawing 23389-DCE-XX-XX-D-C-101 Rev P03 which was 
prepared by DUDLEYS. For the avoidance of doubt surface water on site 1 must 

Page 39



drain at the restricted rate of 3.0 l/s and surface water on site 2 must drain at the 
restricted rate of 2.4 l/s. No surface water will be permitted to drain directly or 
indirectly into the public sewer. Prior to occupation of the proposed development, 
the drainage schemes shall be completed in accordance with the approved details 
and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason. To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue 
increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding. To promote 
sustainable development and reduce flood risk pursuant to Development Plan 
Policies JP-S4 - Flood Risk and the Water Environment, EN7/3 - Water Pollution 
and EN7/5 - Waste Water Management and chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of 
climate change, flooding and coastal change of the NPPF. 

 

19. The landscaping scheme (softworks and planting plan AT.24.11879.102 Rev R.08) 
hereby approved shall be implemented to the written satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority not later than 12 months from the date the building is first 
occupied and shall include the provision of integrated bat boxes and swift bricks.  
Any trees or shrubs removed, dying or becoming severely damaged or becoming 
seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs 
of a similar size and species to those originally required to be planted to the written 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development in the interests of visual amenity 
and to ensure provision for protected species pursuant to policies JP-G8: A Net 
Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity and EN6/3 - Features of Ecological 
Value of the Development Plan and National Planning Policy Framework Section 
15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 

 

20. A Phase Biodiversity Gain Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before the development of site 1 is commenced. The 
Phase Biodiversity Gain Plan shall include: 
1. the post-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat for the phase of 

the development (which is the subject of the Plan); 
2. the post-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat for each other 

phase of development (whether begun or otherwise); 
3. any registered offsite biodiversity gain allocated to the entire development and 

the biodiversity value of that gain for the development prior to submission of 
the phase plan; 

4. any registered offsite biodiversity gain which is proposed to be allocated to the 
entire development and the biodiversity value of that gain in relation to the 
development; 

5. any biodiversity credits purchased for the entire development prior to 
submission of the phase plan; and 

6. any biodiversity credits proposed to be purchased for the entire development. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

21. The accommodation hereby approved shall include double glazing rated at 28 dB 
Rw+C with acoustic wall vents rated at least 43 dB Dn,e,w per 5000 mm2 (vent 
open) in accordance with the submitted Noise Impact Assessment ref 
NIA-11288-24-11502-v2. The acoustic attenuation scheme hereby approved shall 
be implemented in full and available for use before use of the premises first 
commences.  
Reason. To protect the amenity of the occupants of the premises once the 
development hereby approved is occupied pursuant to Bury Unitary Development 

Page 40



Plan Policy EN7/2 - Noise Pollution. 
 

 

22. Within 6 months of the occupation of the development hereby approved a Travel 
Plan shall be produced for the development, with the objective of reducing reliance 
on the private car, particularly single occupancy use and shall be submitted to, and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan should be 
designed to raise awareness of opportunities for reducing travel by car and should 
feature a range of measures and initiatives promoting a choice of transport mode, 
and a clear monitoring regime with agreed targets. 
 
The details subsequently approved shall be implemented to an agreed 
programme. 
Reason. Information not submitted with the planning application. To encourage 
sustainable travel choices pursuant to Development Plan Policies JP-C1 - An 
Integrated Network and JP- C3 - Public Transport. 

 

23. Subject to the provisions of Condition 13, the turning facilities indicated on the 
approved plans shall be provided before the areas of the development to which 
they relate are brought into use and the areas used for the manoeuvring of 
vehicles shall subsequently be maintained free of obstruction at all times.   
Reason. To minimise the standing and turning movements of vehicles on the 
highway in the interests of road safety pursuant to Development Plan Policies 
EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - Walking 
and Cycling. 

 

24. Subject to the provisions of Condition 13, the car, TWMV and cycle parking 
indicated on the approved plans shall be surfaced, demarcated and made 
available for use prior to the development hereby approved being brought into use 
and thereafter maintained at all times.   
Reason. To ensure adequate off street car parking provision in the interests of 
road safety pursuant to policy HT2/4 - Car Parking and New Development of the 
Bury Unitary Development Plan and Supplementary Planning Document 11: 
Parking Standards in Bury. 

 

25. Subject to the provisions of Condition 13, the refuse storage and access 
arrangements to be provided within the curtilage of the site shall be made 
available for use prior to the development hereby approved being brought into use 
and thereafter maintained at all times. 
Reason. To ensure that adequate bin storage arrangements are provided within 
the curtilage of the site, clear of the adopted highway To ensure that adequate bin 
storage arrangements are provided within the curtilage of the site, clear of the 
adopted highway pursuant to Development Plan Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and 
Built Design, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling. 

 

26. CONDITIONS RELATING TO THE OUTLINE PART OF THE PLANNING 
APPLICATION (SITE 2) 

 

27. Applications for approval of reserved matters must be made not later than: 
 

• the expiration of three years beginning with the date of the grant of outline 
planning permission; and 

• that the development to which the permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of two years from the final approval of the reserved matters 
or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final approval of the last such 

Page 41



matter to be approved. 
 
Reason. Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

 

28. Before the development is commenced, the applicant shall submit detailed plans 
and particulars to the Local Planning Authority, and obtain their approval under the 
Town and Country Planning Acts, of the following reserved matters; 

• the layout; 

• scale; 

• appearance;  

• access thereto; and  

• the landscaping of the site. 
Reason. To ensure the satisfactory development of the site and because this 
application is in outline only. 

 

29. As part of a Reserved matters application relating to appearance, details of the 
materials to be used in the external elevations, together with details of their 
manufacturer, type/colour and size, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority prior to construction of the building hereby 
approved.  Only the approved materials shall be used for the construction of the 
development. 
Reason. In the interests of visual amenity and to ensure a high quality and 
satisfactory development pursuant to pursuant to Development Plan Policy EN1/2  
- Townscape and Built Design 

 

30. As part of the Reserved Matters for landscaping a scheme shall be submitted  
that includes native tree and shrub planting, the provision bird boxes on the 
retained trees and integrated bat boxes and swift bricks.  The approved scheme 
shall thereafter be implemented not later than 12 months from the date the 
building(s) is first occupied or within the first available tree planting season; and 
any trees or shrubs removed, dying or becoming severely damaged or becoming 
severely diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs 
of a similar size or species to those originally required to be planted.   
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site and in the interests of 
visual amenity pursuant to Policies EN8/2 – Woodland and Tree Planting, EN6/3 – 
Features of Ecological Value of the  Development Plan and JP-G8 -  A Net 
Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity of the Development Plan and 
chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment of the NPPF.  

 

31. A Phase Biodiversity Gain Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority as part of the fist Reserved Matters for the site. The 
Phase Biodiversity Gain Plan shall include: 
1. the post-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat for the phase of 

the development (which is the subject of the Plan); 
2. the post-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat for each other 

phase of development (whether begun or otherwise); 
3. any registered offsite biodiversity gain allocated to the entire development and 

the biodiversity value of that gain for the development prior to submission of 
the phase plan; 

4. any registered offsite biodiversity gain which is proposed to be allocated to the 
entire development and the biodiversity value of that gain in relation to the 
development; 

5. any biodiversity credits purchased for the entire development prior to 
submission of the phase plan; and 

Page 42



6. any biodiversity credits proposed to be purchased for the entire development. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

32. Notwithstanding the details contained within the Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
28/02/2024 at first Reserved Matters an Arboricultural Method Statement shall be 
submitted to and produced in accordance with BS5837. The method statement 
shall include: 
 
1. A Tree Protection Plan showing trees that would be retained in the context of 
the final layout; 
2. The arrangement of temporary protection measures that would be installed prior 
to commencement and maintained during construction; 
3. The location of all proposed structures and surfaces, level changes, excavations 
and access requirements that could harm retained trees; 
4. A methodology and/or details for all activities identified at point 3 that will be 
followed to avoid harm to retained trees; 
5. A detail for any temporary construction measures, products or construction 
methods that are specified; 
6. Details of any proposed watching brief, monitoring or reporting; 
7. A schedule of works proposed to trees to be retained on site and reasons for 
those works 
 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason. To avoid the loss of trees which are of amenity value to the area pursuant 
to Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, JP-G7 - Trees and Woodland and 
EN8/2 – Woodland and Tree Planting of the Development Plan. 
 

 

33. As part of the reserved matters for layout a scheme of acoustic attenuation shall 
be submitted in accordance with the findings of the approved Noise Impact 
Assessment ref NIA-11288-24-11502-v2. Only the details of the approved acoustic 
attenuation scheme shall be implemented in full and available for use before use 
of the premises first commences.  
Reason. To protect the amenity of the occupants of the premises once the 
development hereby approved is occupied pursuant to Bury Unitary Development 
Plan Policy EN7/2 - Noise Pollution. 
 

 

34. Provision shall be made within the curtilage of the site for the loading and 
unloading of vehicles and the parking of cars which visit the site in connection with 
the use hereby approved.  The approved parking and servicing shall be 
demarcated and available for use before the building hereby approved within the 
outline area is first occupied.  
Reason. To minimise the standing and turning movements of vehicles on the 
highway and to ensure adequate off-street car parking provision, in the interests of 
highway safety pursuant to Development Plan Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and 
Built Design, JP-C5 - Streets for All, JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling HT2/4 - Car 
Parking and New Development and Supplementary Planning Document 11: 
Parking Standards in Bury.  

 

35. Provision shall be made within the site to enable vehicles to enter and leave the 
site in forward gear and shall subsequently be maintained free of obstruction.   

Page 43



Reason. To minimise the standing and turning movements of vehicles on the 
highway and to ensure adequate off-street car parking provision, in the interests of 
highway safety pursuant to Development Plan Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and 
Built Design, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling. 

 

36. Provision shall be made within the curtilage of the site for adequate refuse storage 
and access arrangements in connection with the use hereby approved. 
Reason. To ensure that adequate bin storage arrangements are provided within 
the curtilage of the outline site, clear of the adopted highway pursuant to 
Development Plan Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, JP-C5 - Streets 
for All and JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling. 

 

37. No development shall commence unless and until surface water drainage 
proposals have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme should be in accordance with the submitted Surface Water 
Sustainable Drainage Assessment and must be based on the hierarchy of 
drainage options in the National Planning Practice Guidance and be designed in 
accordance with the Non-Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (March 2015) in accordance with the principles set out within the 
submitted Foul and Surface Water Drainage Design Drawing 
23389-DCE-XX-XX-D-C-102 Rev P02. This must include assessment of potential 
SuDS options for surface water drainage with appropriate calculations and test 
results to support the chosen solution. For the avoidance of doubt surface water 
on site 1 must drain at the restricted rate of 3.0 l/s and surface water on site 2 
must drain at the restricted rate of 2.4 l/s. No surface water will be permitted to 
drain directly or indirectly into the public sewer. Prior to occupation of the proposed 
development, the drainage schemes shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason. The current application contains insufficient information regarding the 
proposed drainage scheme to fully assess the impact.  To promote sustainable 
development and reduce flood risk pursuant to Unitary Development Plan Policies 
EN5/1- New Development and Flood Risk , EN7/3 - Water Pollution and EN7/5 - 
Waste Water Management and chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate 
change, flooding and coastal change of the NPPF. 

 
For further information on the application please contact Helen Pressley on 0161 253 5277

Page 44



 
 
 

Page 45



Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

o

n

o

n

ADDRESS: Former Bury Police Office HQ, 
Irwell Street, Bury, BL9 0HE

© Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

L Twr

L Twr

L Twr

Sub
w
ay

ESSs 21

(PW)

Castle Leisure Centre

7

The Manna House

1

Regency

Chambers

Works

4
0

5

El Sub Sta

14

Shelter

11

2
7

Hilton House

2
8

2
1

1
1

3
1

2
9

1
4

Pipeline

Sloping masonry

Car Pk

S
M

Signal Gantry
E

a
st

 L
a
nc

as
h
ire

 R
a
ilw

ay

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

W
AY

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

JUBILEE

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

BACK TENTERDEN STREET

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

IR
W

E
L

L
 S

T
R

E
E

T

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

LOWER BANK STREET

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
A

C
K

 P
H

O
E

N
IX

 S
T

R
E

E
T

90.5m

1.

2.

8.

9.

7.

6.

4.

3.

5.

70565 - Viewpoints

Page 46



70565 

Photo 1 

 

Photo 2 

  Page 47



70565 

Photo 3 

 

Photo 4 

 Page 48



70565 

Photo 5 

 

Photo 6 

 Page 49



70565 

Photo 7 

 

Photo 8 

 Page 50



70565 

Photo 9 

 

Page 51



C

/

L

C

/L

C

/

L

I

/

R

C

/

L

C

/L

C

/
L

T

e

m

p

o

r

a

r

y

 

F

e

n

c

e

RS

RS

P

/

R

9

1

.

5

6

9

1

.

6

7

9

1

.

9

5

9

2

.

2

6

9

2

.

3

1

9

2

.

4

4

9

2

.

5

5

9

3

.

1

9

9

3

.

3

7

9

3

.

6

1

9

3

.

8

1

9

3

.

9

5

I/

R

RS

LP

LP

ST01

ST02

ST1A

ST1B

ST1C

ST2A

ST2B

ST2C

JB01

JB02

92.16

94.07

90.18

91.49

90.97

94.53

9

0

.

9

3

9
0
.
9
5

9

0

.

9

2

9

1

.
0

0

9

1

.

0

1

K

e

r

b

9

0

.
8

6

9

0

.

8

4

9

0

.

8

9

TC

I

/

R

I

/

R

I

/

R

I

/

R

I/R

9

4

.

1

7

9

4

.

1

5

9

4

.

5

0

9

4

.

6

9

9

4

.

8

2

9

4

.

8

8

9

4

.

9

2

9

4

.

9

9

9

5

.

3

0

9

5

.6

6

9

5

.5

5

95.45

R

a

m

p

9

4

.

6

1

9

4

.5

6

94.72

9

4

.

9

3

9

4

.7

5

9

4

.6

9

Silver Birch

Silver Birch

Silver Birch

Silver Birch

Silver Birch

Silver Birch

Silver Birch

94.46

94.65

94.65

94.41

94.25

94.56

94.43

W

a
l
l

1

2

8

7

4

0

1

1

2

9

I

R

W

E

L

L

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

L

O

W

E

R

 

B

A

N

K

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

J

U

B

I

L

E

E

 

W

A

Y

KEY

OVERALL SITE BOUNDARY - 1.6 Acres

AREA OF FULL APPLICATION SITE BOUNDARY -  0.9 Acres

AREA OF OUTLINE APPLICATION SITE BOUNDARY - 0.7 Acres

N

0

1:1250 SCALE BAR

10 20 40 60

Metres

Planning
PL

Suitability:

P1 15.02.2024 AKB GB

ISSUE FOR PLANNING

Drawn:
Checked:

Date:

Client:

Location:

UPRN Originator Zone
Level

Type
Role Number

Revision

Scale: Int Job No:

CAD REF:

Note: Do not Scale from this drawing. All dimensions to be checked on site.

- - - - - -

FUTURE BUILT

Residential Care Home

Site Location Plan

Irwell Street

Bury

BL9 0HE

Exemplar Healthcare Ltd

IRWEL WBA SI ZZ DR A PL-001 P1

18/08/23 GB NM 1:1250@A3 4009_020

P
age 52



Page 53



P
age 54



P
age 55



UP

UP

20 m²
Quiet Lounge 20 m²

Hoist Bedroom 6
20 m²

Hoist Bedroom 7

10 m²
Stair 3

41 m²
Dining

23 m²
Training Room

19 m²
Bedroom 8

19 m²
Bedroom 9

17 m²
Bedroom 10

29 m²
Therapy & Hair

36 m²
Hub

26 m²
Reception

17 m²

Visitors /
Multi-Faith Room

30 m²
Plant

42 m²
Kitchen

37 m²
Laundry

10 m²
Stair 1

9 m²
Lobby

6 m²

Staff Female
Changing Room

4 m²
Lobby

2 m²

Male
WC

2 m²

Female
WC

7 m²

Staff Male
Changing Room

18 m²
CHM Office

23 m²
Staff Room

LiftLift

19 m²
Lift Lobby

18 m²
Circulation

8 m²

Central Cooled
Drugs Store

6 m²
Sluice

11 m²
Nurses Station

9 m²
Drugs Store19 m²

Bedroom 1
19 m²

Bedroom 2

41 m²
Lounge

3 m²
Unit WC

17 m²
Bedroom 5

17 m²
Bedroom 4

16 m²

Assisted
Bathroom

17 m²
Bedroom 3

5 m²
Store

3 m²
Visitors WC

16 m²
Stair

4 m²
Store

7 m²
Lobby

14 m²
CNM Office

19 m²
Admin

8 m²

Consultation
Room

5 m²
Store

10 m²
Dry Store

2 m²
Kitchen Staff WC

4 m²

Kitchen Staff
Change

5 m²
Store

4 m²

Accessible
Shower

Unit 1 Entrance

Location:

Client:

Int Job No:Date:

Revision:

Scale:Drawn: Checked:

Shires House, Shires Road
Guiseley, Leeds LS20 8EU
Leeds         Loughborough
T: 01943 876 665
E: enquiries@watsonbatty.com
W: www.watsonbatty.com

FUTURE BUILT
Note: Do not Scale from this drawing.  All dimensions to be checked on site

@A1

UPRN Originator Zone Level Type Role Series/Number

Suitability:

S0 Work In Progress

P5

 1 : 100

Residential Care Home

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Irwell Street
Bury BL9 0HE

Exemplar Health Care Ltd

4009-02022/11/23 CB GB

IRWEL-WBA-NB-00-DR-A-PL_100

 1 : 100
L00_Ground Floor Plan

VISUAL SCALE 1:100

10m2m 8m6m4m0m

Rev: Date: Drawn: Checked: Description:

P1 16.01.24 CB GB Layouts amended following comments from the client
P2 19.01.24 CB GB Layouts amended following comments from the client
P3 24.01.24 CB GB Minor amendments
P4 09.02.24 AKB GB Draft Issue for Planning

P5 15.02.24 AKB GB Draft Issue for Planning following further comments from
client and updated proposed levels.

P
age 56



UP

UP

24 m²
Lift Lobby

LiftLift

21 m²
Stair 2

8 m²
Comms Room

6 m²
Sluice

11 m²
Nurses Station

9 m²
Drugs Store

40 m²
Dining

19 m²
Bedroom 11

19 m²
Bedroom 12

17 m²
Bedroom 13

16 m²

Assisted
Bathroom

15 m²
Stair 3

20 m²
Quiet Lounge

17 m²
Bedroom 14

17 m²
Bedroom 15

40 m²
Lounge

20 m²
Bedroom 16

20 m²
Bedroom 17 19 m²

Bedroom 18
19 m²

Bedroom 19
17 m²

Bedroom 20

17 m²
Bedroom 21

17 m²
Bedroom 22

17 m²
Bedroom 23

13 m²
Nurses Station

4 m²
Store

37 m²
Lounge

17 m²
Bedroom 24

17 m²
Bedroom 25

17 m²
Quiet Lounge15 m²

Stair 1

17 m²
Assisted Bathroom

38 m²
Dining

17 m²
Bedroom 29

17 m²
Bedroom 30

Unit 3 Entrance

Unit 2 Entrance

3 m²
Unit WC

9 m²
Drugs Store

17 m²
Bedroom 26

17 m²
Bedroom 27

17 m²
Bedroom 28

3 m²
Unit WC

5 m²
Store

3 m²
Store

7 m²
Hoist Store

Location:

Client:

Int Job No:Date:

Revision:

Scale:Drawn: Checked:

Shires House, Shires Road
Guiseley, Leeds LS20 8EU
Leeds         Loughborough
T: 01943 876 665
E: enquiries@watsonbatty.com
W: www.watsonbatty.com

FUTURE BUILT
Note: Do not Scale from this drawing.  All dimensions to be checked on site

@A1

UPRN Originator Zone Level Type Role Series/Number

Suitability:

S0 Work In Progress

P5

 1 : 100

Residential Care Home

Proposed First Floor Plan

Irwell Street
Bury BL9 0HE

Exemplar Health Care Ltd

4009-02022/11/23 CB GB

IRWEL-WBA-NB-01-DR-A-PL_101

 1 : 100
L01_First Floor Plan

VISUAL SCALE 1:100

10m2m 8m6m4m0m

Rev: Date: Drawn: Checked: Description:

P1 16.01.24 CB GB Layouts amended following comments from the client
P2 19.01.24 CB GB Layouts amended following comments from the client
P3 24.01.24 CB GB Minor amendments
P4 09.02.24 AKB GB Draft Issue for Planning

P5 15.02.24 AKB GB Draft Issue for Planning following further comments from
client and updated proposed levels.

P
age 57



24 m²
Lift Lobby

Lift Lift

8 m²
Hoist Store

6 m²
Sluice

11 m²
Nurses Station

9 m²
Drugs Store Room

40 m²
Dining

19 m²
Bedroom 31

19 m²
Bedroom 32

17 m²
Bedroom 33

16 m²

Assisted
Bathroom

15 m²
Stair 3

20 m²
Quiet Lounge

17 m²
Bedroom 34

17 m²
Bedroom 35

3 m²
Unit WC

40 m²
Lounge 20 m²

Bedroom 36
20 m²

Bedroom 37
19 m²

Bedroom 38
19 m²

Bedroom 39
17 m²

Bedroom 40

21 m²
Stair 2

Unit 4 Entrance

5 m²
Store

UP

UP

3 m²

Cleaners
Store

Location:

Client:

Int Job No:Date:

Revision:

Scale:Drawn: Checked:

Shires House, Shires Road
Guiseley, Leeds LS20 8EU
Leeds         Loughborough
T: 01943 876 665
E: enquiries@watsonbatty.com
W: www.watsonbatty.com

FUTURE BUILT
Note: Do not Scale from this drawing.  All dimensions to be checked on site

@A1

UPRN Originator Zone Level Type Role Series/Number

Suitability:

S0 Work In Progress

P5

 1 : 100

Residential Care Home

Proposed Second Floor Plan

Irwell Street
Bury BL9 0HE

Exemplar Health Care Ltd

4009-02022/11/23 CB GB

IRWEL-WBA-NB-02-DR-A-PL_102

 1 : 100
Proposed Second floor plan

VISUAL SCALE 1:100

10m2m 8m6m4m0m

Rev: Date: Drawn: Checked: Description:

P1 16.01.24 CB GB Layouts amended following comments from the client
P2 19.01.24 CB GB Layouts amended following comments from the client
P3 24.01.24 CB GB Minor amendments
P4 09.02.24 AKB GB Draft Issue for Planning

P5 15.02.24 AKB GB Draft Issue for Planning following further comments from
client and updated proposed levels.

P
age 58



P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  
 
Ward: Bury East - Redvales Item   3 

 
Applicant:  Bolton at Home 
 
Location: Land off Fletcher Fold Road, Bury, BL9 9RX 

 
Proposal: Erection of 4 no. bungalows and a block of 39 no. apartments for the over 55s 

including communal facilities, landscaping and car parking provision 
 
Application Ref:   70805/Full Target Date:  19/09/2024 
 
Recommendation: Minded to Approve 
 
It is recommended that this application is Minded to Approve subject to the signing 
and completion of a S106/legal agreement to ensure proposed habitats created as a 
result of Biodiversity Net Gain are maintained in the target condition for 30 years and 
to secure nomination rights for Affordable Housing. If the agreement is not signed 
within a reasonable timeframe, then delegated authority is sought by the 
Development Manager to determine the application. 
 
Description 
The application site relates to 0.90ha of land which formally comprised Millwood School and 
its grounds. The main school building was demolished in 2018 and a phased scope of 
clearance, remediation and enabling works followed to facilitate the future redevelopment of 
the site followed in 2021. Around the perimeter of the site and within the grounds is well 
established tree planting and vegetation.   
 
The site is within a residential setting and is accessed directly from Fletcher Fold Road, a 
residential street.  Running along the northern perimeter of the site is an unmade and 
unadopted access which is a Public Right of Way (Footpath 70BUR) and a Public Right of 
Way (Footpath 71BUR) also leads directly from Fletcher Fold Road into and through the 
site, exiting at Meadway to the south.  
 
To the east of the site is The Manor House, The Guest and The Nook, Grade II Listed 
Buildings.   
 
Planning permission is sought for the for the erection of 43 dwellings for the people over 55 
years of age with associated car parking and landscaping. The dwellings comprise of 4 x 
2no. bedroom bungalows and a three storey apartment building providing a total of 39 
apartments (33no. one bedroom apartments and 6 no. two bedroom apartments) with a 
communal room at ground floor.  
 
Communal landscaped gardens are proposed to the rear of the apartment blocks with 
parking located centrally within the built development, access from Fletcher Fold Road. Self 
contained gardens are proposed for the bungalows, with parking provided to the front or the 
side of each of these units. 
 
The application is being presented to committee as the Council has had involvement with 
the site and there has been 1 or more objection. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
02946/E - The proposed development is for the erection of 43 dwellings for the people over 

Page 61



55 years of age with associated car parking and landscaping. The dwelling comprise 4 x two 
bedroom bungalows and a three storey apartment building providing a total of 39 
apartments (27 one bedroom apartments and 12 two bedroom apartments) with a 
communal room at ground floor. - Enquiry completed 19/02/2024 
 
45330 - Single storey extension - Approve with Conditions 16/11/2005 
 
49271 - Erection of 2 metre high paladin fence to school boundary - Approve with 
Conditions 16/04/2008 
 
62832 - Prior notification of proposed demolition of single storey former primary and special 
school - Prior Approval Required and Granted 14/06/2018 
 
66306 - Demolition and site enabling works - Approve with Conditions 22/02/2021 
 
Publicity 
Letters sent to 115 neighbouring properties on the 25th June 2024. 3 Additional letters sent 
on the 1st July 2024.  
Site notice posted 3rd July 2024. 
Press notice in the Bury Times on the 27th June 2024. 
 
9 objections received in relation to: 

• Too many properties for the size of the site. 

• Three storey apartments are too high. Should be two storey.  

• Impact and potential damage to Listed Building 

• Site lies in a Conservation Area. 

• Loss of light, privacy and views 

• Access is too small/narrow for cars, emergency vehicles, delivery vans and refuse 
collections. 

• One way system should be developed via the car park to the rear of No. 1 - 9 Fletcher 
Fold Road and removing existing garage. 

• Concerns in relation to busy junctions at Manchester Road from Tennyson Avenue. 

• Traffic studies do not consider Goshen sports facilities. 

• Goshen Lane is the only access to properties to the east of the site and is private road 
maintained by 3 properties. Should be adopted by Council. 

• Since this land was last used an additional 5 family homes (Manor House Gardens) 
have been added to the area, accessed via the private Goshen Lane.  

• Existing drainage, sewage and utilities inadequate. 

• Lack of parking. 

• Impact on property values. 

• Area is dirty due to people dumping building materials. 

• Noise from apartment block 

• Potential damage to neighbouring properties - structural survey should be conducted 
first. 

• Site meeting with residents should be held. 

• Removal of healthy trees.  

• Area over crowded since people come from other areas to walk their dogs and socialise. 
 
2 comments received in relation to  

• Welcome redevelopment of school site.  

• School was single storey, surrounding dwellings two storey, hard to justify three storey. 

• Nearby extra care facility creates a lot of parking outside of curtilage. Insufficient on site 
parking proposed. 

Page 62



• Concerns in relation to construction traffic. 

• Surface of Fletcher Fold Road already has potholes. 

• I would like the council to make provision for building dependent species within this 
development by making integrated bird bricks BS42021, House Martin cups and bat 
bricks a condition of development. 

 
Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations 
Traffic Section - Acceptable in principle. Confirmation of wording of conditions to follow. 
 
Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - Request conditions to secure the 
submission of preliminary risk assessment, site investigation, detailed risk assessment, 
remediation strategy and site verification report. Condition also requested to ensure EV 
charging points. 
 
Waste Management - No response 
 
Public Rights of Way Officer - Acceptable in principle subject to conditions in relation to 
the protection of the provision of the footpath that runs through the site.  
 
Conservation Officer - The proposal would not be contrary to adopted UDP policy EN2/3 - 
Listed Buildings, paragraphs 200, 205, 206, 207 and 208 of the NPPF and policy JP-P1 of 
PfE. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - Ecological issues relating to bats, nesting birds, other 
wildlife and invasive species can be dealt with via condition. Biodiversity Net Gain to be 
secured via legal agreement. 
 
The Coal Authority - No objections to the proposed development subject to an informative 
in relation to coal mining features. 
 
United Utilities (Water and waste) -  Confirm that whilst the strategy for the disposal of 
foul and surface water is acceptable in principle, there are elements of the detailed drainage 
design that might not be acceptable to United Utilities and will require resolution by the 
applicant. Condition recommended for the submission of a sustainable surface water 
drainage scheme prior to commencement.  
 
Borough Engineer - Drainage Section - No response to report. 
 
Greater Manchester Police - designforsecurity - No response to report. 
 
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue - No response to report. 
 
Transport for Greater Manchester - Updated section relating to road safety covers the last 
5 years. Development is unlikely to result in a material impact on the highway network. 
 
 
Pre-start Conditions - To be agreed with applicant/agent 
 
Development Plan and Policies 
EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design 
EN2/3 Listed Buildings 
EN6/3 Features of Ecological Value 
EN7/3 Water Pollution 
EN7/5 Waste Water Management 

Page 63



EN8/2 Woodland and Tree Planting 
H1/2 Further Housing Development 
H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development 
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development 
H4/1 Affordable Housing 
RT2/2 Recreation Provision in New Housing Development 
RT3/3 Access to the Countryside 
RT3/4 Recreational Routes 
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development 
JP-C1 Our Integrated Network 
JP-C2 Digital Connectivity 
JP-C3 Our Public Transport 
JP-C5 Streets For All 
JP-C6 Walking and Cycling 
JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development 
JP-H3 Type, Size and Design of New Housing 
JP-H4 Density of New Housing 
JP-S2 Carbon and Energy 
JP-S4 Flood Risk and the Water Environment 
JP-S5 Clean Air 
JP-P1 Sustainable Places 
JP-P6 Health 
JP-G7 Trees and Woodland 
JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
JP-G1 Landscape Character 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
SPD1 Open Space, Sport and Recreation Provision 
SPD5 DC Policy Guidance Note 5: Affordable Housing 
SPD6 Supplementary Planning Document 6: Alterations & Extensions 
SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury 
 
Issues and Analysis 
 
The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant 
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the 
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material 
planning considerations.  
 
The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be 
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For 
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a 
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically 
mentioned. 
 
Principle (Residential) 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) should be treated as a material planning 
consideration and it emphasises the need for local planning authorities to boost the supply 
of housing to meet local housing targets in both the short and long term. The Framework 
states that unless they have an adopted plan that is less than five years old that identified a 
five year supply of specific deliverable sites at the time of conclusion of the examination, 
then local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific 
developable sites to provide either a minimum of five years' worth of housing, or a minimum 
of four years' worth of housing in certain circumstances set out in NPPF paragraph 226.  
 

Page 64



The joint Places for Everyone Plan was adopted with effect from 21 March 2024 and sets 
the up-to-date housing requirement for Bury against which the deliverable supply of housing 
land must be assessed. PfE Policy JP-H1 sets the following stepped targets for Bury: 
- 246 homes per year from 2022-2025; 
- 452 homes per year from 2025-2030; then 
- 520 homes per year from 2030-2039. 
 
Bury's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment sets out the latest housing supply 
position, which is made up of sites that have an extant planning permission and sites that 
have potential to obtain planning permission in the future. This shows that there are a 
number of sites within the Borough with the potential to deliver a significant amount of 
housing. However, not all of these sites will contribute to the deliverable land supply 
calculations as many sites will take longer than five years to come forward and be fully 
developed (e.g. some large sites could take up to ten years to be completed). In addition to 
the housing land supply in the SHLAA, the joint Places for Everyone Plan allocates 
significant strategic sites for housing within Bury and will accelerate housing delivery within 
the Borough to meet housing needs. 
 
Following the adoption of Places for Everyone, the Council is now able to demonstrate a 
deliverable 5 year supply of housing land when assessed against the adopted PfE housing 
requirement. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework also sets out the Housing Delivery Test, which is 
an assessment of net additional dwellings provided over the previous three years against 
the homes required. Where the test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially 
below (less than 75%) the housing requirement over the previous years, this needs to be 
taken into account in the decision-taking process. The latest results published by the 
Government show that Bury has a housing delivery test result of less than 75%, and 
therefore, this needs to be treated as a material factor when determining applications for 
residential development. 
 
Therefore, paragraph 11d) of the National Planning Policy Framework states that where 
there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless: 
i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas, or assets of particular 
importance, provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework, taken as a whole. 
 
In terms of housing delivery the Borough has underdelivered against the local housing 
need, and as a result the 'tilted balance' applies and planning permission should be granted 
unless the above points Para 11(d) i or ii apply.  
 
The site is considered to be in a sustainable location for housing within the urban area and 
sitting outside the Green Belt. The national requirement to significantly boost the supply of 
housing under the NPPF is a material consideration that would favour the residential 
development of this site in principle. 
 
Layout and Design 
PfE Policy JP-H4 requires new housing development to be delivered at a density 
appropriate to the location, reflecting the relative accessibility of the site by walking, cycling 
and public transport and the need to achieve efficient use of land and high quality design. 
PfE Policy JP-H4 sets out minimum densities that should be considered. 
 
The minimum density for the site would be 35 dwellings per hectare. The application form 

Page 65



states that the site area is 0.90 hectares. The proposal would therefore lead to a density of 
48 dwellings per hectare. The proposal would therefore exceed the minimum density 
required. As such, it is considered that the proposal would achieve efficient use of land. 
 
UDP Policies H2/1 and H2/2 provide the assessment criteria for detailed matters relating to 
height, appearance, density and character, aspects and finishing materials for new 
residential developments.  PfE Policy JP-H3 - Seeks to provide an appropriate mix of 
dwelling types and sizes reflecting local plan policies and having regard to relevant local 
evidence. Development across the plan area should seek to incorporate a range of dwelling 
types and sizes, including for self-build. 
 
The proposal would seek approval for 4no. bungalows and a three storey block of 
apartments. The buildings within the vicinity of the site are largely depicted by two storey 
semi-detached, and terraced dwellings however there are some three storey properties on 
Tennyson Avenue. This development has been designed with specific needs in mind for the 
over 55s and is considered to be appropriate. 
 
The west elevation of the apartment block shows a stepped roof/ridgeline adjacent to the 
two storey dwellings on Fletcher Fold Road. The overall ridge height would be higher than 
the neighbouring properties however, this slight step, and the distance between the existing 
residential properties and the apartment block helps to prevent the proposed apartments 
appearing overbearing. Whilst the bungalows would be of a lower height than the 
neighbouring two storey properties, there are only 4no. bungalows proposed and the former 
school development on the site was largely single storey in scale. The scale of the proposed 
dwellings is therefore considered to be acceptable given the context of the surrounding 
streets. 
 
Whilst varying in design and scale, the bungalows and apartment block can be visually tied 
together through the use of materials. The proposed apartments would use 3 types of facing 
brick work, with brick type 1 (red multi brick) used for the facing brick work of the 
bungalows. Proposed visuals have been submitted to show the contrasting brick types for 
the proposed apartments, and this has also been referenced in the design and access 
statement. The aim of the differing brickwork is to give the impression of a terrace of town 
houses which is further emphasised by the use of gables above each section of brick work. 
This change in brick work gives an element of interest to the principal front elevation. The 
same roof tile and window colour would be used for both the proposed apartments and 
bungalows. 
 
The bungalows and apartment block designs are also tied together through the use of gable 
detailing, that would replicate the shape and style of properties within the immediate vicinity 
of the site. The proportions of the elevations appear to be appropriately aligned. Verticality 
would be created through the windows and balcony areas of the apartments that would 
replicate the vertical emphasis of the bay windows of the semi-detached properties on 
Fletcher Fold Road, without being a pastiche of this existing built form. The proposed 
apartments have a legible entrance. 
 
The level of private amenity space for the proposed bungalows is acceptable and there 
would be space within the side or rear gardens for bin storage. The bungalows would face 
directly onto the access/shared surfaces to the front. Small areas of soft landscaping are 
proposed to the front of the proposed bungalows to break up the expanse of 
hardlandscaping. The introduction of soft landscaping features has been extended to the 
carparking area to the front of the proposed apartment blocks, creating pockets of greenery 
throughout the access and car parking layout. 
 
A landscaped garden is shown to the rear of the apartment block that would provide a 

Page 66



shared area of amenity space, whilst balconies are also shown for the individual apartments 
creating private space for the future occupiers.  A pitched roof bin store is shown for the 
use of the future occupiers of the apartment blocks. By placing the car parking centrally 
within the development there would be an element of natural surveillance.  
 
The submitted crime impact assessment confirms that the layout proposed is considered to 
be acceptable and has set out some recommendations which have largely been designed 
into the scheme. For example whilst the external ground floor doors have been retained to 
allow access to amenity space however these would be private terraces enclosed by 
hedging and 1.2m railings to deter unauthorised access. A 1.2 metre railing has also been 
introduced along the existing footpath and the proposed parking to provide a level of 
separation. GM Police have been consulted on the scheme and have provided no further 
comments.  
 
PfE Policy JP-H3: states that all new dwelling must: 
1. Comply with the nationally described space standards (NDSS); and 
2. Be built to the ‘accessible and adaptable’ standard in Part M4(2) of the Building 
Regulations unless specific site conditions make this impracticable. 
 
The 1no. bed and 2no. bed apartments would exceed the gross internal area required under 
NDSS. The double bedrooms in both apartment types exceed both the area and width 
required to meet NDSS. The additional single bedroom in the 2no. bed apartment exceeds 
the area and width required to meet standards. Adequate storage is proposed in both 
apartment types. 
 
The proposed bungalows would also exceed the gross internal area required under NDSS.  
The master bedroom would be a sufficient area and width to be considered to be a double 
bedroom, and the second bedroom sufficient area and width for a single bedroom. 
Adequate storage is proposed.  
 
The requirement to comply with Part M4(2) can be incorporated as a planning condition. 
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed development would not be a prominent or 
intrusive feature in the streetscene, and would provide suitable living and amenity space for 
future occupiers. The proposal would therefore be in accordance with Policies EN1/2, H2/1, 
H2/2 JP-H3 and JP-H4 of the Development Plan. 
 
Heritage 
There is a Grade II Listed Buildings, The Manor House, Manor Cottage, The Crest and The 
Nook are situated to the east of the site. The buildings are set back within their own grounds 
and also separated by the intervening access road. There is no designated Conservation 
Area. 
 
Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 require 
decision makers to have special regard to the desirability of preserving a listed building or 
its setting or any feature of architectural or historic interest it possesses. The decision maker 
must also give considerable importance and weight to the desirability of preserving the 
setting of the listed building.  
 
EN2/3 - Listed Buildings - The Council will actively safeguard the character and setting of 
Listed Buildings by not permitting works, alterations or changes of use which would have a 
detrimental effect on their historical or architectural character and features. Proposals for 
demolition will be opposed and will only be considered where it is demonstrated 
conclusively that the building(s) cannot be retained.  
 

Page 67



Paragraph 205 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states when considering 
the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, 
the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
Paragraph 206 of the NPPF states any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), 
should require clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:  
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be exceptional;  
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected wreck sites, 
registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and II* registered parks and 
gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly exceptional. 
 
Paragraph 207 of the NPPF states where a proposed development will lead to substantial 
harm to (or total loss of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning 
authorities should refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm 
or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or 
loss, or all of the following apply:  
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and 
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term through 
appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and  
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public 
ownership is demonstrably not possible; and  
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.  
 
Paragraph 208 of the NPPF states where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing 
its optimum viable use. 
 
A submitted heritage assessment describes the history and heritage significance of the 
listed buildings.  
 
Setting can be described as not only the surrounding area to a building but also how it is 
experienced, and this can be influenced by many factors such as landscape character, the 
built environment and how the building(s) is /are physically approached and changes within 
that setting and how that change has evolved.   
 
The setting of the listed buildings has been significantly reduced since they were originally 
built in the late 18th and early 19th centuries.  They are now surrounded by residential 
development built in the latter part of the 20th century and early 21st century.  Longer 
views of the site from the north, south east and east are screened by mature trees.  As 
such the setting is confined to a small area and therefore limits how the buildings are 
experienced in approaching on foot and by car and viewed from longer distances.   
 
The proposal would replace the previously existing structure and whilst there may be 
glimpsed views of the proposal from limited parts of the Manor House the elements that 
make up its setting would remain unchanged to the extent that there would be no loss of 
heritage significance of the listed buildings.   
 
As such the proposal would not conflict with to adopted UDP policy EN2/3 - Listed 
Buildings, paragraphs 200, 205, 206, 207 and 208 of the NPPF and policy JP-P1 of PfE. 
 
Residential Amenity 

Page 68



UDP Policy H1/2 states that the Council will have regard to various factors when assessing 
a proposal for residential development, including whether the proposal is within the urban 
area, the availability of infrastructure and the suitability of the site, with regard to amenity, 
the nature of the local environment and the surrounding land uses. There are no adopted 
aspect standards for new build residential properties however, Supplementary Planning 
Document 6 provides guidance on aspect standards between residential properties and as 
such, would be a reasonable guide in this case.  
 
For clarity the following aspect standards would be applicable: 

• 20 metres between directly facing habitable room windows; 

• 13 metres between an existing habitable room window and a proposed two storey blank 
wall 

• 6.5 metres between an existing habitable room window and a proposed single storey 
blank wall 

• 7 metres between a proposed first floor habitable room window and a directly facing 
boundary with a neighbouring property.  

 
Any assessment will take into account significant change in levels or new accommodation to 
be provided at a higher storey. In this regard, there should be an extra 3 metres of 
separation for each 2.5m or one storey of height or level difference in each of the above 
cases.  
 
Apartments 
The Manor House, which also includes Manor Cottage, The Crest and The Nook are 
situated to the east of the site. Section 06 references this relationship and whilst these 
properties are at a lower level than the apartment block, at circa 1.6 metres lower an 
additional 3 metres is not required for the purposes of aspect standards.  
 
There is significant tree coverage along this boundary that will be retained, and the 
properties to the east of the site would be separated from the site by the existing Public 
Right of Way. The proposed first floor rear windows would be located at minimum of 
approximately 17.4 metres from the site boundary, and the proposed first floor balconies 
would be located a minimum of 15.6 metres from the site boundary exceeding the 7 metres 
required by SPD 6. The proposed second floor rear windows would be located at minimum 
of 17.4 metres from the site boundary, and the proposed second floor balconies would be 
located a minimum of 15.6 metres from the site boundary exceeding the 10 metres required 
by SPD 6. Over 20 metres can be provided between directly facing habitable rooms. The 
proposal therefore complies with aspect standards.  
 
The proposed apartments would be located to the rear of the dwellings on Meadway. 
Section 05 references the relationship between the proposed apartments and No. 17 
Meadway. The ground floor of the apartments would be located approximately 5 metres 
higher than the ground floor of this property. As such an additional 6 metres have been 
added to the aspect standards set out above.  
 
As above significant tree coverage would be retained along this shared boundary. The 
proposed first floor rear windows would be located at minimum of approximately 27 metres 
from the site boundary, and the proposed first floor balconies would be located a minimum 
of 30 metres from the site boundary exceeding the 13 metres required by SPD 6. The 
proposed second floor rear windows would be located at minimum of 27 metres from the 
site boundary, and the proposed second floor balconies would be located a minimum of 30 
metres from the site boundary exceeding the 15 metres required by SPD 6. Over 20 metres 
can be provided between directly facing habitable rooms. The proposal therefore complies 
with aspect standards.  

Page 69



 
The side elevation of No. 42 and 44 Millwood Court faces towards the site. As this is not a 
principal elevation it is not protected in the same way. The residential amenity space of this 
property would also be located to the side of the proposed apartments. As the proposed 
apartment building would be located to the north of these properties it is considered unlikely 
that the proposal would be unduly overbearing. Glazing on the side elevation of the 
apartments facing towards this boundary  to relate to non-habitable rooms,  or would be 
secondary windows and as such aspect standards have not been applied. 
 
The proposed apartments would be located to the south of No.9 Fletcher Fold Road.  A 
building mass and overshadowing study has been provided showing the proposed 
overshadowing of the proposal throughout the spring, summer, autumn and winter at 
various times of day. Due to the orientation of the sun and location of the building 
overshadowing of this property would be largely limited to during the morning in spring time 
(between 10am and 12pm), and during the winter when there would be less hours of 
daylight in any event. Given that the overshadowing study submitted indicates limited 
impact on this property as set out above the location of the proposed apartments is 
considered to be acceptable. As above, glazing on the side elevation of the apartments 
facing towards this boundary appears to relate to non-habitable rooms or would be 
secondary windows as such aspect standards have not been applied. 
 
The proposed front windows would be separated from the directly facing bungalows by the 
car park and areas of landscaping and amenity space. A distance of over 20 metres can be 
provided.  
 
Bungalows 
The ground floor rear windows of the proposed bungalows would be screened from the rear 
gardens and windows of the properties fronting Manchester Road by the proposed 2.1 
metre boundary fencing. 
 
The proposed front windows would be separated from the directly facing apartments by the 
car park and areas of landscaping and amenity space. A distance of over 20 metres can be 
provided.  
 
The proposed side windows within the bungalows would be secondary windows, or relate to 
non-habitable rooms. As such aspects have not been applied.  
 
The proposal is therefore considered to comply with the aspect standards and guidance as 
set out within SPD 6.  
 
Highways, Access and Travel 
UDP Policy EN1/2 requires the consideration of the design and appearance of access, 
parking and service provision. This is further supported by Policy H2/2 that requires 
proposals to demonstrate adequate car parking provision, access for both vehicles and 
pedestrians, and provision for public transport and the existence of any public rights of way. 
Policies JP-C5 and JP-C6 require streets to be well designed and managed to make a 
significant positive contribution to the quality of place and support high levels of walking, 
cycling and public transport. 
 
Fletcher Fold Road is proposed as the principal access to the site, crossing over Footpath 
70 BUR. This is the historic access to the site that was utilised when the site was a school. 
Fletcher Fold Road is a highway and is there for the public to pass and repass however it is 
also utilised by existing residents to park their cars. This access road is approximately 1 
metre wider than minimum currently accepted standard for a minimum estate road. 
 

Page 70



The trip generation exercise contained within the submitted transport statement 
demonstrates that the development is likely to generate 3 two-way trips in the AM peak hour 
and 5 two-way trips in the PM peak hour. Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) have 
therefore advised that the development is therefore unlikely to result in a material impact on 
the highway network. 
 
A swept path analysis plan is contained within the Transport Statement  Appendices. This 
plan demonstrates that a refuse vehicle can undertake turning manoeuvres within the 
on-site turning head and therefore enter and exit the site in a forward gear. 
 
The Traffic Section have been consulted in relation to the proposed access to the site and 
have raised no objections to the use of this access in principle. Given the matters set out 
above it is therefore considered that the proposal would comply with UDP Policy EN1/2 and 
PfE Policies JP-C5 and JP-C6. 
 
Active Travel 
PfE Policy JP-C1 requires developments to be located and designed to deliver a significant 
increase in the proportion of trips that can be made by walking, cycling and public transport. 
Developments should prioritise pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users. Policy 
JP-C8 requires new development to be located and designed to enable and encourage 
walking, cycling and public transport use and to reduce the negative effects of car 
dependency.  
 
In order to encourage walking and cycling, it should be ensured that the pedestrian and 
cycling environment, within and around the site, is designed to be as safe, attractive and 
convenient as possible, including natural surveillance where possible. This should provide 
sufficient links to the surrounding pedestrian and cycle networks. 
 
There are a range of amenities such as local shops and community facilities within walking 
distance of the site which should encourage residents to make journeys to and from the site 
on foot. There is also a Public Right of Way running through the site which is proposed to be 
retained and secure cycle parking is also to be provided. In terms of Public Transport, 
several bus services providing connectivity to both Bury Town Centre and Manchester City 
Centre are located a short distance from the site on Manchester Road.  The proposals 
therefore provide opportunity to encourage residents to pursue an active lifestyle by a range 
of sustainable modes where they can. The proposal is therefore in conformity with PfE 
Policies JP-C1 and JP-C8. 
 
In addition to this footpath 71BUR runs through the site, and as set above footpath 70BUR 
is sited to the north of the access to the site along Goshen Lane.  As such UDP Policy 
RT3/3 - Access to the Countryside is also applicable as it requires the Council to seek to 
improve and extend the existing network of Public Rights of Way. This policy also supports 
the aspirations of the PfE policies listed above. The users of the public right of way will 
retain access through the site as indicated on drawing 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1200 P09. A 
condition however is requested to ensure that footpath 71BUR is fully protected during, and 
following development of the site.   
 
Parking 
In terms of parking standards, in addition to Policy JP-C8 and Policy HT2/4 requires all 
applications for development to make adequate provision for their car parking and servicing 
requirements .  Supplementary Planning Document 11 provides parking standards for 
developments. 
 
There is no specific parking standards for this type of development within SPD11. However, 
the maximum standards for sheltered housing, which is a similar use, is 1 space per 3 units. 

Page 71



This would equate to 14.33 spaces for the proposed 43 units.  20 spaces, including 2no. 
disabled spaces close to the main entrance door would be provided for the proposed 
apartments. 2no. spaces per bungalow are also proposed. This would equate to a total of 
28 spaces throughout the development.  
 
Whilst this would lead to an over provision of parking within the site, compared to the 
maximum standards set out within SPD 11 it is considered that this would allow parking 
within the site for visitors. As such the proposed parking is considered to be acceptable.  
 
There are no minimum standards within SPD 11 for cycle parking provision. The proposal 
seeks to provide 10 secure cycle spaces within the secure communal garden, and cycle 
parking could also be provided within the residential curtilage of the bungalows if required. 
As there are no standards for cycle parking the proposal would exceed minimum standards 
as required by TfGM.  
 
An internal scooter store is also proposed adjacent to the main entrance lobby to the 
apartment building.   
 
Ecology 
PfE Policy JP-G8 states that through local planning and associated activities a net 
enhancement of biodiversity resources will be sought. This is supported by Policy EN6/3 
that seeks to retain, protect and enhance the natural environment and seeks to retain 
features of ecological or wildlife value. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that the planning 
policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. 
UDP Policy EN8/2 supports and encourages new woodland and tree planting within the 
borough. This is further supported by PfE Policy JP-G7 that aims to significantly increase 
tree cover and requires 2no. replacement trees for each tree lost or other measures that 
would also result in a net enhancement in the character and quality of the treescape and 
biodiversity value in the local area.  
 
Bats 
A number of trees were assessed as providing bat roosting potential.  Currently all are 
shown as retained, this may however change as the consultant noted that trees had been 
removed as part of the site remediation that had been proposed for retention.  
 
A condition is therefore proposed that prevents the removal of trees with bat roosting 
potential unless approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
The consultant also noted that the retained trees provided potential foraging habitat and 
should be protected from external lighting.  Based on the proposed layout, GMEU would 
consider it unlikely that external lighting would be an issue on this site.  No further 
information or measures are therefore required.  
 
Other Protected Species 
No evidence of any other protected species was found or regarded as likely within the 
submitted documentation. GMEU agree with this assessment having accepted as part of the 
site remediation the absence of any such species.  Whilst badger could theoretically utilise 
the site, GMEU are satisfied that this is very unlikely and can be covered by general 
precautionary working measures.  No further information or measures are therefore 
required.  
 
Nesting Birds 
Further tree and scrub removal is proposed. Potential bird nesting habitat. All British birds 
nests and eggs (with certain limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981, as amended. a condition is therefore recommended to restrict works 

Page 72



to trees to outside of nesting season. 
 
Other Wildlife 
Habitats on the site provide suitable cover for species such as hedgehog and amphibians 
such as common toad, which combined with the suitable habitats nearby for such species 
(Goshen Wood and Hampson Mill Lodge) increase the level of risk.  GMEU therefore agree 
with the consultant that precautionary working measures should be applied and conditioned. 
 
Invasive Species 
A number of species listed under schedule 9 part 2 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 
(as amended) were recorded on the site, including japanese knotweed, himalayan balsam, 
montbretia and a Cotoneaster. A condition requiring a method statement detailing control 
measures is therefore required for any permission at this site.  
 
Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment & Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
A metric has been provided, based on the agreed baseline of the site prior to site clearance 
under application 66306.  More than 10% BNG is achievable on the site.    
 
As medium distinctiveness habitats are being created on the site, some of which have a 
target of good condition, GMEU would regard the habitat creation as significant and that the 
Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan (the HMMP) and Biodiversity gain plan will 
require securing by a legal agreement with the LPA and the on-site measures conditioned. 
 
With regards wildlife GMEU recommend provision of bird, bat boxes and swift bricks.  The 
details can be provided via condition.  
 
With regards the landscape layout, whilst GMEU would prefer to see more native trees in 
the planting schedule no objections have been raised.  
 
Trees 
An Arboricultural Impact Assessment has been submitted with the application which 
identified 26 individual trees (T1-T26) and 6 groups of trees (G1-G6) within the influencing 
distance of the application site.  
 
The proposal seeks to remove T2, T8, T9, T10, T22 and G1. Tree removal is primarily 
associated with the construction and garden space of plots 1 and 4 (T2 and G1) and to 
accommodate the proposed installation of drainage (T8-T10 and T22). These trees are all 
either of low quality (Category C) or poor quality (Category U). The planting plan sets out 
that 38 no. replacement trees are proposed throughout the site. Given the quality of the 
trees to be removed and the number of trees proposed to replace these trees no objections 
are raised to the proposed removals. 
 
Pruning works to trees within group G6 and tree T5 are proposed. This comprises crown 
lifting of T5 and the larger holm oak trees within G6 to ensure their lower canopies are 
above the boundary fencing and remove possible climbing aids. Minor canopy pruning may 
be required to trees T11 to T14 during drainage installation works within G5 to facilitate 
access. 
 
The assessment identifies that within the layout, there are instances of tolerable incursions 
into the root protection areas of retained trees. These comprise the proposed footpath/patio 
around plot 4 which encroaches into the RPA of T3 and the installation of drainage within 
G5 (inclusive of trees T11 to T18).  
 
Two of the trees, and one group identified within the assessment are protected by means of 
a TPO. These trees are not proposed for removal or works. 

Page 73



 
Given that further works to trees may be required and arboricultural method statement will 
be proposed via condition.    
 
Due to the group amenity value of the trees on site, that make up a significant screen it is 
considered that a group TPO should be applied to the trees on the site and a request to 
TPO the trees has been sent to the Council's legal department and a temporary TPO is in 
the process of being drafted. 
 
Given the matters set out above it is considered that the proposal would comply with the 
Policy considerations set out above, subject to the conditions and provisions highlighted. 
 
Carbon and Energy 
PfE Policy JP-S2 sets out the steps required to achieve net zero carbon emissions.  
 
The submitted Energy statement sets out a fabric first approach to meet PfE policy JP-S2. 
There would be no gas to the site and the all electrical heating system would be supported 
by PV panels on both the bungalows and the apartments. The applicant is proposing to use 
heat pumps for hot water for the apartments and air source heat pumps for the bungalows. 
The proposed design complies with and in some areas goes beyond what is required by 
Part L of Building Regs.  EV charging would also be provided. The proposals therefore 
comply with Policy JP-S2.  
 
Digital Connectivity 
PfE Policy JP-C2 requires all new development to have full fibre to premises connections 
unless technically infeasible and / or unviable. 
 
Full fibre is available within the vicinity of the site.  
 
Drainage 
Following their review of the submitted Drainage Strategy United Utilities have confirmed 
that whilst the strategy of foul and surface water is acceptable  in principle, there are 
elements of the detailed drainage design that might not be acceptable to United Utilities and 
will require resolution by the applicant however these elements have not been clarified by 
United Utilities within their response. For this reason, and to avoid any unnecessary delays 
or costs for the applicant, a condition has been proposed to submit details of a surface 
water drainage scheme and a foul water drainage scheme prior to commencement of 
development. 
 
Coal Authority  
Paragraphs 189 and 190 of the NPPF seek to ensure that sites are suitable for its proposed 
use taking into account ground conditions,  any risks arising from land instability and 
contamination. The application site falls within the Coal Authority's defined Development 
High Risk Area. The Coal Authority records indicate that the site lies within an area of 
probable historic unrecorded shallow coal mining. This could affect public safety and 
surface stability for the proposed development. 
 
The Coal Authority considers that the content and conclusions of Report on Coal Mining 
Related Site Investigation Works (T012 SFK (TLC1136) rep BS LKConsult 140121, January 
2021) are sufficient for the purposes of the planning system (NPPF paras. 189 and 190) in 
demonstrating (based on the professional opinion of The Land Consultancy Limited) that the 
application site is safe and stable for the proposed development. The Coal Authority has 
therefore raised no objection to the proposed development. 
 
Planning Obligations 

Page 74



Affordable Housing 
The proposal will deliver 100% affordable housing for older people with Bury Council to 
have 100% nomination rights in perpetuity.  
 
Recreation provision 
UDP Policy RT2/2 requires developers of new housing on sites of 10 or more dwellings to 
provide for the recreational needs of the prospective residents. SPD 1 Open Space, Sport 
and Recreation provision in New Housing Developments advises on specialised 
accommodation at paragraphs 4.11-4.12. 
 
Allowing for the fact that the development is directed toward older people the play provision 
element of the commuted sum is waived and the required contribution would be £71,243.16. 
Should viability be raised as an issue to the satisfaction of the Council, the provision of 
onsite amenity space for residents similar to that required for category C2 schemes may be 
acceptable. In this scenario, on-site recreation provision should be in the form of amenity 
land or communal space which forms part of the development. 
 
Viability has been raised as an issue for this site. The applicant has provided a viability 
appraisal that concludes that the gross development value amounts to £6,602,500 and 
based on the total scheme costs of £8,791,265 detailed above, without any uplift for current 
market conditions, the costs outweigh the GDV and the scheme shows a deficit of 
£2,188,765. The proposal is a 100% affordable development homes for social rent and 
shared ownership. Any additional financial planning contributions would generate a further 
negative surplus for the project rendering it unviable. 
 
It is considered that the application provides a more than sufficient amount of on-site 
amenity land to satisfy SPD1. The shared amenity space would comprise of a resident's 
garden with seating, sensory planting and a grow your own area. Areas of lawn and a 
meadow with mown paths to walk through area also provided. Pathways around the building 
and within the resident's garden are also proposed. As such additional financial 
contributions for recreation provision will not be sought for this scheme.  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
As set out above the HMMP and Biodiversity gain plan will require securing by a legal 
agreement. 
 
Response to objections 
It is considered that the material planning considerations have been addressed within the 
main body of the report. 
 
The creation of a one way system to access the site through the car park at the rear of No. 
1 - 9 Fletcher Fold Road would not be viable. This would include introducing additional 
traffic onto a public footpath where vehicular access should be limited, would impact on the 
car park which appears to be associated with the flats and shops on Tennyson Avenue and 
would involve the removal of a building outside of the applicant's control. The Traffic Section 
have reviewed the proposed access and consider that the road to the site is sufficient.  
 
The site is not located in a Conservation Area.  
  
Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015 
 
The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify 
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised 
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental 

Page 75



conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were 
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local 
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Recommendation: Minded to Approve 
 
Conditions/ Reasons 
 

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 
of this permission. 
Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 Town & Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 

2. This decision relates to drawings numbered 6071-POZ-00-ZZ-DR-A-1100 Rev 
P03, 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1200 Rev P09, 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1210 Rev 
P04, 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1211 Rev P03, 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1220 Rev 
P03, 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1221 Rev P03, 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1230 Rev 
P04, 6071-POZ-00-ZZ-DR-A-1350 Rev P04, 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1351 Rev 
P02, PAL-00-ZZ-DR-A-1400 Rev P01, 6071-POZ-00-ZZ-DR-A-1900 Rev P01, 
6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-VS-A-1212 Rev P02, 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-VS-A-1213 Rev P01, 
S23-0937 Rev A, S23-0938, 23-B-13947-100 Rev A, 23-B-13947-200 Rev B, 
D10188.001 Rev P01, D10188.002 Rev P01, D10188.100 Rev P01, D10188.201 
Rev P01. 
 
Supporting Documents 
Building Mass and overshadowing study 
Coal Mining Risk Assessment 23-12-115972/CMRA1 
Report on Coal Mining related site investigation works - 8th March 2024 
Planting Schedule D10188.200 P01 
Energy Statement Z63439 
Crime Impact Statement 2023/0563/CIS/01 
Ground Investigation Report 23-12-115972/GIR1 Rev B 
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy Report 23-B-13497 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment April 2024 
Protected Species Report: Amphibians 10188.003 
Ecological Assessment Report 10188.002 
Ecological Desk Study 10088.001 
Planning Statement May 2024 
Heritage Statement March 2024 
Affordable Housing Statement 
Design and Access Statement 6071-POZ-XX-XX-PP-A-1000-P02 
Micro Drainage Analysis Rev B 
Drainage Maintenance Plan 
Biodiversity Net Gain Impact Assessment and Design Stage Report 10188.003 
UK Urban Habitat Assessment sheets 
The Statutory Biodiversity metric  
Transport Statement 1911/1/B 
SuDs Suitability Assessment 13947 
Financial Viability Report 
 
Reason.  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
design pursuant to the policies of the Development Plan listed. 

 

3. Details/Samples of the (materials/bricks) to be used in the external elevations, 

Page 76



together with details of their manufacturer, type/colour and size, shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the development 
is commenced. Only the approved materials/bricks shall be used for the 
construction of the development. 
Reason. No material samples have been submitted and are required in the 
interests of visual amenity and to ensure a satisfactory development pursuant to 
UDP Policy EN1/2  - Townscape and Built Design 

 

4. The removal of certain trees may have the potential to cause harm to bats as 
identified in the Ecological Assessment TEP ref. 10188.002 version 2.0 Table 4 
and shall not in any circumstances occur unless further information has been 
provided to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority 
Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species 
pursuant to policies JP-G8 - A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
and EN6/3 - Features of Ecological Value of the Development Plan and National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 

5. No works to trees or shrubs shall occur or demolition commence between the 1st 
March and 31st August in any year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably 
experienced ecologist has been carried out immediately prior to clearance and 
written confirmation provided that no active bird nests are present which has been 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species 
pursuant to policies JP-G8 - A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
and EN6/3 - Features of Ecological Value of the Development Plan and National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 

5. Prior to any earthworks a method statement detailing control measures for 
himalayan balsam, japanese knotweed, monbretia and Cotoneaster should be 
supplied to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed 
method statement shall be adhered to and implemented in full. 
Reason.  The scheme does not provide full details of the actual extent of 
Japanese Knotweed, Himalayan Balsam, monbretia and Cotoneaster in the 
interest of Development Plan Policy JP-G1 - Landscape Character and pursuant to 
National Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the 
natural environment. 

 

6. The landscaping scheme hereby approved shall be implemented not later than 12 
months from the date the buildings is first occupied and shall include the provision 
of bird and bat boxes and swift bricks. Any trees or shrubs removed, dying or 
becoming severely damaged or becoming seriously diseased within 5 years of 
planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of a similar size and species to those 
originally required to be planted to the written satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development and to ensure provision for 
protected species pursuant to policies JP-G8: A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity 
and Geodiversity and EN6/3 - Features of Ecological Value of the Development 
Plan and National Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and 
enhancing the natural environment. 

 

7. Prior to any further earthworks or vegetation clearance a precautionary working 
measures strategy for mammals such as hedgehog and badger and amphibians 
such as common toad will be provided to and agreed in writing by the Local 

Page 77



Planning Authority. The works shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details. 
Reason.  In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species 
pursuant to policies JP-G8 - A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
and EN6/3 - Features of Ecological Value of the Development Plan and National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 

8. The Biodiversity Gain Plan shall be prepared in accordance with the Biodiversity 
Net Gain Impact Assessment and Design Stage Report reference 10188.003 
prepared by The Environment Partnership and must include: 
1. information about the steps taken or to be taken to minimise the adverse effect 

of the development on the biodiversity of the onsite habitat and any other 
habitat; 

2. the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat; 
3. the post-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat; 
4. any registered offsite biodiversity gain allocated to the development and the 

biodiversity and the biodiversity value of that gain in relation to the 
development; 

5. any biodiversity credits purchased for the development; and 
6. any such other matters as the Secretary of State may by regulations specify. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

9. The development shall not commence until a Habitat Management and Monitoring 
Plan (the HMMP), prepared in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain 
Plan and including: 
1. a non-technical summary; 
2. the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the 

HMMP; 
3. the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve 

habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved 
Biodiversity Gain Plan; 

4. the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the 
approved Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion of 
development; and 

5. the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or 
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority. 

 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

10. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until: 
 
1. the habitat creation and enhancement works set out in the approved HMMP 

have been completed; and 
2. a completion report, evidencing the completed habitat enhancements, has 

been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMMP shall be 

Page 78



managed and maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

11. Monitoring reports shall be submitted to local planning authority in writing in 
accordance with the methodology and frequency specified in the approved HMMP. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of 
Biodiversity and Geodiversity. 

 

12. Notwithstanding the details contained within the Arboricultural Impact Statement 
April 2024, an Arboricultural Method Statement shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 
development and shall be produced in accordance with BS5837. The method 
statement shall include: 
 
1. A Tree Protection Plan showing trees that would be retained in the context of 
the final layout; 
2. The arrangement of temporary protection measures that would be installed prior 
to commencement and maintained during construction; 
3. The location of all proposed structures and surfaces, level changes, excavations 
and access requirements that could harm retained trees; 
4. A methodology and/or details for all activities identified at point (3) that will be 
followed to avoid harm to retained trees; 
5. A detail for any temporary construction measures, products or construction 
methods that are specified; 
6. Details of any proposed watching brief, monitoring or reporting; 
7. A schedule of works proposed to trees to be retained on site and those 
overhanging Public Right of Way Footpath 71BUR, including the reason for such 
works. 
 
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason. To avoid the loss of trees which are of amenity value to the area pursuant 
to Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design,  JP-G7 - Trees and Woodland  
and EN8/2 - Woodland and Tree Planting of the Development Plan. 

 

13. Prior to the commencement of development, details of a sustainable surface water 
drainage  scheme and a foul water drainage scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by  the Local Planning Authority. The drainage schemes must 
include:  
(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning 
Practice Guidance (or any subsequent amendment thereof). This investigation 
shall include evidence of an assessment of ground conditions and the potential for 
infiltration of surface water in  accordance with BRE365;  
(ii) A restricted rate of discharge of surface water agreed with the local planning 
authority (if  it is agreed that infiltration is discounted by the investigations);  
(iii) Levels of the proposed drainage systems including proposed ground and 
finished floor  levels in AOD;  
(iv) Incorporate mitigation measures to manage the risk of sewer surcharge where 
applicable;  
and  
(v) Foul and surface water shall drain on separate systems.  

Page 79



 
The approved schemes shall also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards. Prior to occupation of the proposed 
development, the drainage schemes shall be completed in accordance with the 
approved details and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development.  
Reason. The current application contains insufficient information regarding the 
proposed drainage scheme to fully assess the impact.  To promote sustainable 
development, secure proper drainage and to manage the risk  of flooding and 
pollution pursuant to Development Plan Policies JP-S4 - Flood Risk and the Water 
Environment, EN7/3 - Water Pollution and EN7/5 - Waste Water Management and 
chapter 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
of the NPPF. 

 

14. No development shall commence unless and until:- 

• A contaminated land Preliminary Risk Assessment report to assess the 
actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks at the site 
shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority; 

• Where actual/potential contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks have 
been identified, detailed site investigation and suitable risk assessment shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 

• Where remediation/protection measures is/are required, a detailed 
Remediation Strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason.  The scheme does not provide full details of the actual contamination 
and subsequent remediation, which is required to secure the satisfactory 
development of the site in terms of human health, controlled waters, ground gas 
and the wider environment and pursuant to National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 

 

15. Following the provisions of Condition 14 of this planning permission, where 
remediation is required, the approved Remediation Strategy must be carried out to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority within agreed timescales; and 
A Site Verification Report detailing the actions taken and conclusions at each 
stage of the remediation works, including substantiating evidence, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
development being brought into use. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 
health, controlled waters and the wider environment and pursuant to National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment.  
 

 

16. Any soil or soil forming materials brought to site for use in garden areas, soft 
landscaping, filling and level raising shall be tested for contamination and 
suitability for use on site.  Proposals for contamination testing including testing 
schedules, sampling frequencies and allowable contaminant concentrations (as 
determined by appropriate risk assessment) and source material information shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
any soil or soil forming materials being brought onto site, and; 
The approved contamination testing shall then be carried out and validatory 
evidence (soil descriptions, laboratory certificates, photographs etc) submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the development 
being brought into use. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 

Page 80



health, controlled waters and the wider environment and pursuant to National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment.  

 

17. All instances of contamination encountered during the development works which 
do not form part of an approved Remediation Strategy shall be reported to the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) immediately and the following shall be carried out 
where appropriate:    
 

• Any further investigation, risk assessment, remedial and / or protective works 
shall be carried out to agreed timescales and be approved by the LPA in 
writing; 

 

•  A Site Verification Report detailing the conclusions and actions taken at each 
stage of the works including validation works shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the LPA prior to the development being brought into 
use. 

Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 
health and the wider environment and pursuant to National Planning Policy 
Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 
 

 

18. Prior to occupation/first use the applicant shall provide: 
1. one electric vehicle (EV) charging point (minimum 7kW*) per unit (dwelling with 

dedicated parking).  
2. electric vehicle (EV) charging points (minimum 7kW*) for a minimum of 20% of 

car parking spaces for dwellings with unallocated parking. 
 
Certification and photographic evidence of the installation of the agreed electric 
vehicle charge points shall be submitted. 
 
*Mode 3, 7kW (32A) single phase, or 22kW (32A) three phase, and for 50kW 
Mode 4 rapid charging may be required. British Standard BS EN 61851-1:2019 to 
be used. Further information regarding minimum standards can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/transport/low-emission-and-electric-vehicles.  
 
Reason. In accordance with the NPPF, to encourage the uptake of ultra-low 
emission vehicles and ensure the development is sustainable. To safeguard 
residential amenity, public health and quality of life. 
 

 

19. Notwithstanding the details indicated on the approved plans, no development shall 
commence unless and until full details for a scheme of protection for Public 
Footpath 71BUR indicated as "existing footpath" on drawing number 
6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1200 P09 that crosses the site have been submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Authority. The scheme shall include: 
1. Submission of a dilapidation survey of the existing public right of way; 
2. A scheme of surface improvements along the public right of way that runs 
through the site to a scope and specification to be agreed; 
3. The arrangement of temporary protection measures that would be installed prior 
to commencement, to maintain provision of the public right of way through the site, 
to be maintained free of obstruction and maintained during construction; 
4. Submission of a drawing, based on a topographical survey that indicates the 
existing width and levels of the public right of way and adjacent land; 
5. Details of how the public right of way will be maintained free of obstruction, and 

Page 81



at its existing width following construction as identified under bullet point 4 above. 
The details subsequently approved shall be implemented to an agreed 
programme. 
Reason. To maintain the extent of existing Public Right of Way footpath 71BUR 
pursuant to Policy RT3/4 - Recreational Routes of the Bury Unitary Development 
Plan. 
 

 

20. If a temporary obstruction of the public right of way Footpath 71BUR is required 
during development no development shall take place unless and until a closure 
order has been made to Bury Council and a suitable temporary alternative route(s) 
made available.  
Reason. To maintain the extent of existing Public Right of Way footpath 71BUR 
pursuant to Policy RT3/4 - Recreational Routes of the Bury Unitary Development 
Plan. 
 

 

21. The turning facilities indicated on the approved plans shall be provided before the 
areas of the development to which they relate are brought into use and the areas 
used for the manoeuvring of vehicles shall subsequently be maintained free of 
obstruction at all times.   
Reason. To minimise the standing and turning movements of vehicles on the 
highway in the interests of road safety pursuant to Development Plan Policies 
EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential 
Development, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling. 

 

22. The car parking indicated on the approved plans shall be surfaced, demarcated 
and made available for use prior to the development hereby approved being 
brought into use and thereafter maintained at all times. 
Reason. To ensure adequate off street car parking provision in the interests of 
road safety pursuant to policy HT2/4 - Car Parking and New Development of the 
Bury Unitary Development Plan and Supplementary Planning Document 11: 
Parking Standards in Bury. 

 

23. The refuse storage and access arrangements to be provided within the curtilage of 
the site shall be made available for use prior to the development hereby approved 
being brought into use and thereafter maintained at all times. 
Reason. To ensure that adequate bin storage arrangements are provided within 
the curtilage of the site, clear of the adopted highway To ensure that adequate bin 
storage arrangements are provided within the curtilage of the site, clear of the 
adopted highway pursuant to Development Plan Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and 
Built Design, H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential Development, JP-C5 - Streets 
for All and JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling. 

 

24. Notwithstanding the details contained within the approved Construction Traffic 
Management Plan dated 11th September 2024 no development shall commence 
unless and until the following have been submitted to, and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority: 
 
1. Photographic dilapidation survey of the footways and carriageways leading to 

and abutting the site in the event that subsequent remedial works are required 
following construction of the development and as a result of statutory 
undertakers connections to the site; 

2. Access route for all construction vehicles to the site from the Key Route 
Network; 

Page 82



3. Access point/arrangements for construction traffic, taking into consideration the 
need to maintain safe pedestrian/vehicular access to adjacent residential 
properties and Public Footpath No. 71, Bury, and all temporary works required 
to facilitate access for construction vehicles; 

4. Hours of work for site preparation, delivery of materials and construction and 
number of vehicle movements; 

5. Arrangements for the parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors on 
land within the applicant's control, together with storage on site or on land 
within the applicant's control of construction materials; 

6. Arrangements for the turning and manoeuvring of vehicles within the curtilage 
of the site and/or measures to control/manage delivery vehicle manoeuvres 
including details of areas designated for the loading, unloading and storage of 
plant and materials; 

7. Details of the siting, height and maintenance of all security hoardings clear of 
the adopted highway and (in the absence of any temporary closure) Public 
Footpath No. 71, Bury; 

8. The provision, where necessary, of temporary pedestrian facilities/protection 
measures on the adopted and unadopted highways and Public Right of Way 
that crosses the site; 

9. A scheme of appropriate warning/construction traffic speed signage in the 
vicinity of the site and its access(es); 

10. Arrangements for the provision of wheel washing facilities for vehicles 
accessing the site; 

11. Measures to ensure that all mud and other loose materials are not spread onto 
the adjacent adopted highways or Public Right of Way as a result of the 
groundworks operations or carried on the wheels and chassis of any vehicles 
leaving the site and measures to control the emission of noise, dust and dirt 
during construction; 

12. A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works; 
and 

13. A strategy to inform neighbouring occupiers (which as a minimum, shall 
include those adjoining the site boundaries) of the timing and duration of any 
piling operations, and contact details for the site operator during this period. 

 
The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and the 
measures shall be retained and facilities used for the intended purpose for the 
duration of the construction period. The areas identified shall not be used for any 
other purposes other than the turning/parking of vehicles and storage of 
construction materials. All highway remedial works identified as a result of the 
dilapidation survey shall be implemented to the written satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority prior to the development hereby approved being brought into 
use. 
Reason.  Information not submitted at application stage. To mitigate the impact of 
the construction traffic generated by the proposed development on the adjacent 
residential streets, and ensure adequate off street car parking provision and 
materials storage arrangements for the duration of the construction period and that 
the adopted highways are kept free of deposited material from the ground works 
operations, in the interests of highway safety pursuant to Development Plan 
Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, H2/2 - The Layout of New 
Residential Development, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling. 

 

25. Notwithstanding the details indicated on the approved plans, no development shall 
commence unless and until full details of the following have been submitted on a 
topographical survey of the site and adjacent adopted highways to the Local 
Planning Authority: 

Page 83



 
1. Formation of the proposed site access alterations and pedestrian 

improvements on Fletcher Fold Road at the junction with Goshen Lane to a 
scope and specification to be agreed, incorporating works at/beyond the limits 
of the adopted highway to form adequate arrangements for pedestrians across 
Goshen Lane, demarcation of the limits of the adopted highway, and all 
associated highway and highway drainage remedial works; 

2. Scheme of carriageway resurfacing works on Fletcher Fold Road in the vicinity 
of the revised access to a scope and specification to be agreed; 

 
The details subsequently approved shall be implemented to an agreed programme 
and to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of highway 
safety, ensure good highway design, ensure the intervisibility of the users of the 
site and the adjacent highways and maintain the integrity of the adopted highway, 
all in the interests of highway safety pursuant to pursuant to Development Plan 
Policies EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, H2/2 - The Layout of New 
Residential Development, JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling. 

 

26. The dwellings hereby approved shall be built in accordance with the ‘accessible 
and adaptable’ standard in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site pursuant to Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-H3: Type, Size and Design of New 
Housing. 

 
For further information on the application please contact Helen Pressley on 0161 253 5277

Page 84



 
 
 

Page 85



Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

o

n

o

n

ADDRESS: Land off Fletcher Fold Road, 
Bury, BL9 9RX

© Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

1
5

1

19

The

Crest

2
4

W
oo

dl
an

d 
C

ot
ta

ge

NookThe

Manor House

22
24

26

39

4
2

30
32

4
4

3

31
9

2

9

1

1
0

7
2

1

3

19

21

26
28

10

12

1

2
4

14
16

4
1
1

4
2
3

4
2

5

4
0
5

4
1
7

4
6
7

FOLD

FLETCHER

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

GOSHEN LANE

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

MIL
LW

OOD

COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT
COURT

4.

5.

6.

3.

2.
1.

7.8.

70805 - Viewpoints

Page 86



70805 

Photo 1 

 

Photo 2 

 Page 87



70805 

Photo 3 

 

Photo 4 

 Page 88



70805 

Photo 5 

 

Photo 6 

 Page 89



70805 

Photo 7 

 

Photo 8 

 Page 90



4
1
1

14

22

The

4
8

4

4
1

7

3
0

2

4
0

3

4
2

3

4
4

4
8

2

3

Cre
st

Nook

26

3
0

16

Shelter

28

5
1
4

4

24

5
0
2

4
9
6

5
0

0

516

3
2

1
9

2

31

4

4

1
0

Gardens

25

11

19

7
2

2

4
2

9

Manor House

1

5
2

2

10

12

4
8

9

2

Manor

4
7
7

23

4
6
7

The

21

3

19

3

4
8
1

W
oo

dl
an

d 
C
ot

ta
ge

1

S
h

e
lte

r

4
2
5

1
5

4
0
5

1

2
6

39

1

38

M
E

A
D

W
A

Y

M
A

N
C

H
E

S
T

E
R

 R
O

A
D

F
L

E
T

C
H

E
R

 F
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

MILLW
OOD

COURT

GOSHEN LANE

Reservoir

74.7m

76.2m

76.8m

LB

N
o
rt

h

0.9 hectare
2.3 acres

Site Area

NOTES

Site boundary

For the topographical information refer to drawing

S23-0937 produced by Survey OperationsJPL Surveys

For the Arboricultural information refer to X10188.01.001 for 

the tree survey data and D10188.01.001 for the tree constraints 

plan both produced by The Environmental Partnership

Site ownership boundary

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

The Contractor is to check all dimensions and conditions on site 
before commencing. Do not scale from this drawing.
This drawing remains the copyright of POZZONI Architecture ltd.

Scale Bars TO BE USED ONLY AS GUIDANCE

Notes

+44 161 928 7848

Woodville House
2 Woodville Road

Altrincham

WA14 2FH

Contract As Built

Planning

Design

Tender Construction

C
lie
n
t

Jo
b

D
ra
w
in
g

P
O
Z
 R
ef
.

R
ev

Sc
al
e

architects@pozzoni.co.uk

3
D

 C
o
O

rd

A
p
p
ro

ve
d

D
at
e

P
ro

je
c
t 
S

ta
tu

s

www.pozzoni.co.uk

2
D

 C
o

O
rd

@ A3

B
S.
R
ef

P:\MCAD\6051-6100\6071\PAL\Design\Models\6071_POZ_S1_XX_M3_0001.rvt
14/05/2024 14:37:33

1 : 1250

PLANNING - SITE LOCATION
PLAN

19/01/24

ARCON HOUSING ASSOCIATION
(BOLTON AT HOME)

FLETCHER FOLD ROAD, BURY

6071_1100 P03

BAP EM JW

6071-POZ-00-ZZ-DR-A-1100

1 : 1250

SITE LOCATION PLAN

Rev Description By Date

P01 Issued for Pre-App planning advice EM 19/01/24

P02 Revised site boundary to site
ownership boundary and unadopted
highway

BAP 08/02/24

P03 Planning Issue BAP 16/05/24

P
age 91



Brick Type 1 Brick Type 2 Brick Type 3 Brick Type 1 Brick Type 2 Brick Type 3 Brick Type 1Brick Type 1 Brick T2Brick T1

Brick Type 2Brick Type 3 Brick Type 1

Brick Type 1 Brick Type 1Brick T2

Brick Type 1Brick Type 2Brick Type 1Brick Type 2Brick Type 3Brick Type 1Brick Type 2 Brick Type 3

N
o
rt

h

3

2

1

4

MATERIALS
ITEM

Facing materials

Apartments door and 

window frames

Entrance, stair, scooter st. 

& plant doors

Apartment glass infil panel

Scooter st. glass infil panel

Roof

Fascia

Soffit

Rainwater goods

Balcony structure

Balcony & Juliet balustrade

MATERIAL

Brick type 1

Brick type 2

Brick type 3

UPVC, black

Aluminium, black

Patterned glass

Opaque black glass

Slate effect tiles

UPVC, black

UPVC, white

UPVC, black 

Powder coated metal, black

Clear glass with powder coated 

handrail, black

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

The Contractor is to check all dimensions and conditions on site 
before commencing. Do not scale from this drawing.
This drawing remains the copyright of POZZONI Architecture ltd.

KEYPLAN

Scale Bars TO BE USED ONLY AS GUIDANCE

Notes

+44 161 928 7848

Woodville House
2 Woodville Road

Altrincham

WA14 2FH

Contract As Built

Planning

Design

Tender Construction

C
lie
n
t

Jo
b

D
ra
w
in
g

P
O
Z
 R
ef
.

R
ev

Sc
al
e

architects@pozzoni.co.uk

3
D

 C
o
O

rd

A
p
p
ro

ve
d

D
at
e

P
ro

je
c
t 
S

ta
tu

s

www.pozzoni.co.uk

2
D

 C
o

O
rd

@ A1

B
S.
R
ef

P:\MCAD\6051-6100\6071\PAL\Design\Models\6071_POZ_A1_XX_M3_0001.rvt
14/05/2024 15:51:21

As indicated

PLANNING - APARTMENTS
ELEVATIONS

19/01/24

ARCON HOUSING ASSOCIATION
(BOLTON AT HOME)

FLETCHER FOLD ROAD, BURY

6071_1350 P04

BAP EM JW

6071-POZ-00-ZZ-DR-A-1350

1 : 200

WEST ELEVATION FACING THE CAR PARK
1

1 : 200

SOUTH ELEVATION FACING THE FOOTPATH
2

1 : 200

NORTH ELEVATION FACING GOSHEN LANE
4

1 : 200

EAST ELEVATION FACING THE GARDEN
3

Rev Description By Date

P01 Issued for Pre-App planning advice EM 19/01/24

P02 Six 2 bed apartments changed to 1
bed following housing need
feedback. 2 Beds increased to
NDSS area. Position of the
apartment building on the site
adjusted to avoid root protection
zones.

EM 14/03/24

P03 Scooter store & plant/tank room
switched. Insulation added to
corridor party walls.

EM 10/04/24

P04 Planning Issue BAP 16/05/24

Page 92



N
o
rt

h

1
4

3

2

6

5

Plot 4 Plot 3 Plot 2 Plot 1

Plot 4Plot 3Plot 2Plot 1

Privacy glazing

Privacy glazing

MATERIALS
ITEM

Facing materials

Patio door and window frames

Entrance door

Roof

Fascia

Soffit

Rainwater goods

MATERIAL

Brick type 1 - red multi

UPVC, black

Composite door

Slate effect tiles

UPVC, black

UPVC, white

UPVC, black 

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

The Contractor is to check all dimensions and conditions on site 
before commencing. Do not scale from this drawing.
This drawing remains the copyright of POZZONI Architecture ltd.

KEYPLAN

Scale Bars TO BE USED ONLY AS GUIDANCE

Notes

+44 161 928 7848

Woodville House
2 Woodville Road

Altrincham

WA14 2FH

Contract As Built

Planning

Design

Tender Construction

C
lie
n
t

Jo
b

D
ra
w
in
g

P
O
Z
 R
ef
.

R
ev

Sc
al
e

architects@pozzoni.co.uk

3
D

 C
o
O

rd

A
p
p
ro

ve
d

D
at
e

P
ro

je
c
t 
S

ta
tu

s

www.pozzoni.co.uk

2
D

 C
o

O
rd

@ A2

B
S.
R
ef

P:\MCAD\6051-6100\6071\PAL\Design\Models\6071_POZ_S1_XX_M3_0001.rvt
14/05/2024 15:24:01

As indicated

PLANNING-BUNGALOW
ELEVATIONS

19/01/24

ARCON HOUSING ASSOCIATION
(BOLTON AT HOME)

FLETCHER FOLD ROAD, BURY

6071_1351 P02

BAP EM JW

6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1351

Rev Description By Date

P01 Issued for Pre-App planning advice EM 19/01/24

P02 Planning Issue BAP 16/05/24

1 : 200

EAST ELEVATION PLOTS 1 to 4 FACING THE CAR PARK AND APARTMENTS
1

1 : 200

WEST ELEVATION PLOTS 1 to 4
5

1 : 200

NORTH ELEVATION PLOT 1
2

1 : 200

NORTH ELEVATION PLOT 3
3

1 : 200

SOUTH ELEVATION PLOT 2
4

1 : 200

SOUTH ELEVATION PLOT 4
6

P
age 93



14

4
4

Crest

26

16
28

1
0

19

4
2

9

Manor House
The

21

19

3

4
2
5

1
5

1

1

CL75.612
MH

CL74.491
MH

45
.0
0°

25
.0
0°

1 
m75619 rel.Gnd FFL

Reference plane

PROPOSED BUNGALOWS

Reference plane

25.00°
45.00°

1 
m

PROPOSED APARTMENTS

45
.0
0°

25
.0
0°

75804 rel.Gnd FFL

1 
m Reference plane

PROPOSED BUNGALOWS

25
.0
0°

45
.0
0°

Reference plane
69982 rel.Gnd FFL

PROPOSED BUNGALOWS AND APARTMENTS

45.00°

25.00°

Reference plane 75513 rel.Gnd FFL

PROPOSED APARTMENTS

25.00°

45.00°

1 
mReference plane 76404 rel.Gnd FFL

PROPOSED BUNGALOWS

1

2

3

4

Existing footpath

E
xisting footpath

Bin sto
re
Cycle 

st

ENTR
ANCE

01

02

02

01

03

03

04

04

05

05

06

06

NOTES

Floor levels of surrounding dwellings have been 

indicated using the topographical information. 

Please refer to JLP Surveying drawing S23-0937 

for further details. 

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

The Contractor is to check all dimensions and conditions on site 
before commencing. Do not scale from this drawing.
This drawing remains the copyright of POZZONI Architecture ltd.

Scale Bars TO BE USED ONLY AS GUIDANCE

Notes

+44 161 928 7848

Woodville House
2 Woodville Road

Altrincham

WA14 2FH

Contract As Built

Planning

Design

Tender Construction

C
lie
n
t

Jo
b

D
ra
w
in
g

P
O
Z
 R
ef
.

R
ev

Sc
al
e

architects@pozzoni.co.uk

3
D

 C
o
O

rd

A
p
p
ro

ve
d

D
at
e

P
ro

je
c
t 
S

ta
tu

s

www.pozzoni.co.uk

2
D

 C
o

O
rd

@ A1

B
S.
R
ef

P:\MCAD\6051-6100\6071\PAL\Design\Models\6071_POZ_S1_XX_M3_0001.rvt
14/05/2024 15:21:38

As indicated

PLANNING- SITE SECTIONS

01/05/24

ARCON HOUSING ASSOCIATION
(BOLTON AT HOME)

FLETCHER FOLD ROAD, BURY

6071_1400 P01

BAP BAP EM

PAL-00-ZZ-DR-A-1400

1 : 200

SITE SECTIONS 02 - THROUGH BUNGALOWS AND 423 MANCHESTER ROAD

1 : 200

SECTION 06 - THROUGH APARTMENTS AND THE CRESCENT HOUSES

1 : 200

SITE SECTION 01 - THROUGH BUNGALOWS AND 419 MANCHESTER ROAD

1 : 200

SECTION 05 - THROUGH BUNGALOW AND APARTMENT AND 17 MEADWAY

1 : 200

SECTION 04 - THROUGH APARTMENT AND 42 MILLWOOD COURT

1 : 200

SECTION 03 - THROUGH BUNGALOWS AND 10 FLETCHER FOLD ROAD

1 : 1000

SECTION KEY PLAN

Rev Description By Date

P01 Planning Issue BAP 16/05/24

P
age 94



1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

The Contractor is to check all dimensions and conditions on site 
before commencing. Do not scale from this drawing.
This drawing remains the copyright of POZZONI Architecture ltd.

 

Notes

+44 161 928 7848

Woodville House
2 Woodville Road

Altrincham

WA14 2FH

Contract As Built

Planning

Design

Tender Construction
































architects@pozzoni.co.uk

3
D

 C
o
O

rd

A
p
p
ro

ve
d





P

ro
je

c
t 
S

ta
tu

s

www.pozzoni.co.uk

2
D

 C
o
O

rd

@ A2






P:\MCAD\6051-6100\6071\PAL\Design\Models\6071_POZ_S1_XX_M3_0001.rvt
02/05/2024 15:09:31

 









 

  

6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-VS-A-1212







Rev Description By Date

P01 Issued for Pre-App planning advice EM 19/01/24

P02 Planning Issue BAP 01/05/24

AERIAL VIEW OF FLETCHER FOLD SITE 

APPROACH VIEW VIA FLETCHER FOLD ROAD

VIEW INTO THE SITE FROM THE JUNCTION WITH GOSHEN LANE 

Page 95



1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

The Contractor is to check all dimensions and conditions on site 
before commencing. Do not scale from this drawing.
This drawing remains the copyright of POZZONI Architecture ltd.

 

Notes

+44 161 928 7848

Woodville House
2 Woodville Road

Altrincham

WA14 2FH

Contract As Built

Planning

Design

Tender Construction
































architects@pozzoni.co.uk

3
D

 C
o
O

rd

A
p
p
ro

ve
d





P

ro
je

c
t 
S

ta
tu

s

www.pozzoni.co.uk

2
D

 C
o

O
rd

@ A2






P:\MCAD\6051-6100\6071\PAL\Design\Models\6071_POZ_S1_XX_M3_0001.rvt
14/05/2024 15:28:43

 









 

  

6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-VS-A-1213

Rev Description By Date

P01 Planning Issue BAP 16/05/24

FRONT ELEVATION OF APARTMENTS 

VIEW FROM PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY TOWARDS PROPOSED BUNGALOWS 

APARTMENT REAR ELEVATION AND COMMUNAL GARDENS

Page 96



4
1
1

14

The

4
1
7

3
0

2

4
0
3

4
2
3

4
4

Crest

Nook

26

16
28

4

3
2

2
4

1
0

11

19

7
2

2

4
2

9

Manor House
10

12
The

21

3

19

3

W
oo

dl
an

d 
C

ot
ta

ge

1

4
2
5

1
5

4
0
5

1

1

CL75.612
MH

CL74.491
MH

CL68.952
MH

N
o
rt

h

LANDSCAPED 

GARDEN

Turning head 
provided

Shared 
Surface

1

2

3

4

20 parking spaces (including 2 

disabled accessible spaces) 

Existing trees and planting on the 
bank to be retained and enhanced 

(indicated in a darker green) 

G6 along the sourthern boundary 
to be pruned to improve visiblity 

and daylighting

GO
SH

EN
 LA

NE

F
LE

T
C
H
E
R
 F
O
LD

 R
O
A
D

TENNY
SON AVEN

UE

M
A
N
C
H
E
S
T
E
R
 R
O
A
D

MIL
LW

OO
D C

OU
RT

M
EA

D
W
A
Y

Existing footpath

E
xisting footpath

20.2 m

22.3 m

25.7 m

24.1 m

23.6 m

9.
8 
m

G1 (shown dotted in red) 
to be removed

Dry riser inlet

Bin sto
re

Cycle 
st

ENTR
ANCERumble strip

52.4 m

51.3 m

13.8 m

13
.5
 m

NOTES

ACCOMMODATION SUMMARY

PARKING PROVISION

Table 2 of Bury Councils SPD 11 requires 1.5 

parking spaces in an accessible area, which this 

is, for a 2 bed dwelling. For sheltered housing the 

requirement is for 1 space per 3 units.

We have indicated 2 spaces per dwelling for the 

bungalows which are for sale. For the apartments 

we have indicated 20 spaces for the 39 dwellings 

to allow for visitor parking.

For further information about the parking provision 

and tracking please refer to the Transport 

Statement 1911/1/A prepared by Ashley Helme 

Associates. 

REFUSE STORAGE PROVISION

Please refer to drawing 6071-POZ-ZZ-XX-DR-

A-1900 APARTMENT BIN STORE for details about 

the bungalow and apartment sefuse storage 

provision. 

TYPE

Two bedroom bungalow

One bedroom apartment

Two bedroom apartment

COUNT

4

33

6

43

All accommodation is designed to meet the 

Nationally Described Space Standards and Part 

M4 Category 2:  accessible and adaptable. 

Please refer to drawings 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-

A-1220 & 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1221 for 

bungalow and apartment compliance plans. 

KEY

Proposed Tree

Existing category A tree*

Existing category B tree*

Existing category C tree*

Root protection zones*

* For further information about the existing trees please refer to the 
Tree Survey by TEP

Total
1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

The Contractor is to check all dimensions and conditions on site 
before commencing. Do not scale from this drawing.
This drawing remains the copyright of POZZONI Architecture ltd.

Scale Bars TO BE USED ONLY AS GUIDANCE

Notes

+44 161 928 7848

Woodville House
2 Woodville Road

Altrincham

WA14 2FH

Contract As Built

Planning

Design

Tender Construction

C
lie
n
t

Jo
b

D
ra
w
in
g

P
O
Z
 R
e
f.

R
ev

Sc
al
e

architects@pozzoni.co.uk

3
D

 C
o
O

rd

A
p
p
ro

ve
d

D
at
e

P
ro

je
c
t 
S

ta
tu

s

www.pozzoni.co.uk

2
D

 C
o
O

rd

@ A2

B
S.
R
e
f

P:\MCAD\6051-6100\6071\PAL\Design\Models\6071_POZ_S1_XX_M3_0001.rvt
14/05/2024 15:05:09

1 : 500

PLANNING - SITE LAYOUT
PLAN

19/01/24

ARCON HOUSING ASSOCIATION
(BOLTON AT HOME)

FLETCHER FOLD ROAD, BURY

6071_1200 P09

BAP EM JW

6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1200

1 : 500

SITE LAYOUT PLAN

Rev Description By Date

P01 Issued for Pre-App planning advice EM 19/01/24

P02 Changes to car park and turning
head following pre-app Highways
feedback

EM 30/01/24

P03 Revised site boundary to site
ownership boundary

BAP 08/02/24

P04 Building moved 5m to the right to
allow the proposed drainage to sit
outside of the tree root protection
zones. Car parking adjusted
accordingly.

EM 27/02/24

P05 Path alongside building in southern
corner reinstated.

EM 29/02/24

P06 Six 2 bed apartments changed to 1
bed following housing need
feedback. 2 Beds increased to
NDSS area. Site adjusted
accordingly.

EM 14/03/24

P07 Scooter store and tank room
switched

EM 09/04/24

P08 Boundary locations and heights
adjusted to match landcape design.
900mm high railings to the
apartment patios in secure garden
omitted. Updated Landscape.

EM 25/04/24

P09 Revised Landscaping BAP 14/05/24

P
age 97



SCOOTER STORE

62 m²
2 BED APT_T2

APT 09

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 07

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 05

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 03

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 01

STAIR 1

LOBBY

CYCLE STORE

LIFT

BIN STORE

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 04

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 02

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 06

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 08

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 10

62 m²
2 BED APT_T2

APT 11

47 m²
LOUNGE

COMMS ROOM

FURNITURE ST

ELEC SWITCHWC

CLEANERS ST.

TANK ROOM

SERVICE RISER

LIFT LOBBY

BIN STORE

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 21

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 19

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 17

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 15

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 13

62 m²
2 BED APT_T2

APT 23

STAIR 1

STAIR 2

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 18

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 16

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 20

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 22

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 24

62 m²
2 BED APT_T2

APT 25

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 14

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 12

BIN STORE

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 35

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 33

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 31

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 29

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 27

62 m²
2 BED APT_T2

APT 37

STAIR 1

STAIR 2

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 32

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 30

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 34

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 36

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 38

62 m²
2 BED APT_T2

APT 39

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 28

50 m²
1 BED APT_T1

APT 26

BIN STORE

22.50°

22.50°

22.50°22.50°

22.50°

22.50°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

22.50°
22.50°

22.50°

22.50°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

37
.5

0°
37

.5
0°

NOTES

For detailed apartment plans refer to drawing 6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-

DR-A-1220. For detailed communal area plan refer to drawing 

6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1230. 

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

The Contractor is to check all dimensions and conditions on site 
before commencing. Do not scale from this drawing.
This drawing remains the copyright of POZZONI Architecture ltd.

Scale Bars TO BE USED ONLY AS GUIDANCE

Notes

+44 161 928 7848

Woodville House
2 Woodville Road

Altrincham

WA14 2FH

Contract As Built

Planning

Design

Tender Construction

C
lie
n
t

Jo
b

D
ra
w
in
g

P
O
Z
 R
ef
.

R
ev

Sc
al
e

architects@pozzoni.co.uk

3
D

 C
o
O

rd

A
p
p
ro

ve
d

D
at
e

P
ro

je
c
t 
S

ta
tu

s

www.pozzoni.co.uk

2
D

 C
o

O
rd

@ A1

B
S.
R
ef

P:\MCAD\6051-6100\6071\PAL\Design\Models\6071_POZ_A1_XX_M3_0001.rvt
14/05/2024 15:41:43

1 : 200

PLANNING - APARTMENTS
FLOOR & ROOF PLANS

19/01/24

ARCON HOUSING ASSOCIATION
(BOLTON AT HOME)

FLETCHER FOLD ROAD, BURY

6071_1210 P04

BAP EM JW

6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1210

1 : 200

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

1 : 200

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

ACCOMMODATION SUMMARY

TYPE COUNT

ONE BED APT 33

TWO BED APT 6

Grand total 39

1 : 200

SECOND FLOOR PLAN
1 : 200

ROOF PLAN

Rev Description By Date

P01 Issued for Pre-App planning advice EM 19/01/24

P02 Six 2 bed apartments changed to 1
bed following housing need
feedback. 2 Beds increased to
NDSS area. Position of the
apartment building on the site
adjusted to avoid root protection
zones.

EM 14/03/24

P03 Scooter store & plant/tank room
switched. Insulation added to
corridor party walls.

EM 10/04/24

P04 Planning Issue BAP 16/05/24

P
age 98



12.1 m²
MASTER BEDROOM

17.4 m²
LOUNGE/ DINING

10.7 m²
SECOND BEDROOM

8.4 m²
HALLWAY

4.5 m²
SHOWER ROOM

1.0 m²
STORE 2

1.0 m²
STORE 1

7.7 m²
KITCHEN

12.1 m²
MASTER BEDROOM

17.4 m²
LOUNGE/ DINING

10.6 m²
SECOND BEDROOM

8.5 m²
HALLWAY

4.5 m²
SHOWER ROOM

1.0 m²
STORE 2

1.0 m²
STORE 1

7.7 m²
KITCHEN

30
.0
0°

30
.0
0°

30
.0
0°

37.50° 37.50° 37.50° 37.50°

1:1250

1:100

1:200

1000 3000 5000

1:500 5 15 25

10 30 50 70

M

mm

mm

M

5000 8000

The Contractor is to check all dimensions and conditions on site 
before commencing. Do not scale from this drawing.
This drawing remains the copyright of POZZONI Architecture ltd.

Scale Bars TO BE USED ONLY AS GUIDANCE

Notes

+44 161 928 7848

Woodville House
2 Woodville Road

Altrincham

WA14 2FH

Contract As Built

Planning

Design

Tender Construction

C
lie
n
t

Jo
b

D
ra
w
in
g

P
O
Z
 R
ef
.

R
ev

Sc
al
e

architects@pozzoni.co.uk

3
D

 C
o
O

rd

A
p
p
ro

ve
d

D
at
e

P
ro

je
c
t 
S

ta
tu

s

www.pozzoni.co.uk

2
D

 C
o

O
rd

@ A3

B
S.
R
ef

P:\MCAD\6051-6100\6071\PAL\Design\Models\6071_POZ_B1_XX_M3_0001.rvt
14/05/2024 15:56:58

1 : 100

PLANNING - BUNGALOW
FLOOR & ROOF PLAN

19/01/24

ARCON HOUSING ASSOCIATION
(BOLTON AT HOME)

FLETCHER FOLD ROAD, BURY

6071_1211 P03

EM EM JW

6071-POZ-XX-ZZ-DR-A-1211

1 : 100

FLOOR PLAN

1 : 100

ROOF PLAN

Rev Description By Date

P01 Issued for pre-app planning advice EM 19/01/24

P02 Room labels corrected EM 14/03/24

P03 Planning Issue BAP 16/05/24

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  
 
Ward: Bury East Item   4 

 
Applicant:  Fairfield General Hospital 
 
Location: Fairfield General Hospital, Rochdale Old Road, Bury, BL9 7TD 

 
Proposal: Installation of temporary car park 
 
Application Ref:   70979/Full Target Date:  17/09/2024 
 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Description 
The application relates to Fairfield General Hospital, Rochdale Road. The hospital site is 
bound largely by residential properties, with the River Roch and Broad Oak Wood to the 
South and Rochdale Old Road to the North. The main access to the site is from Rochdale 
Old Road, via Rough Hill Lane. This leads to Jericho Road that enables access to the wider 
site. A one way system is operated around the site. 
 
The application site within the hospital compound is located to the south of 396 - 422 
Rochdale Old Road and to the east of the properties on Bamford Close and Smethurst Hall 
Road. The site previously comprised 2 blocks of 2 storey residential accommodation. These 
blocks were used as nurses accommodation in association with the hospital use and were 
given prior approval for demolition in 2023. Existing car parks are located to the north and 
south of the site.  
 
Planning permission is sought for a temporary car park for 5 years within the site, to provide 
97no. parking spaces for staff at the site. The car park would be accessed from a new 
access to the south of an existing staff car park. Users of the car park would arrive via the 
main site access and depart via the one-way system to the exit-only access with the B6222 
immediately north of the site. 
 
The application is retrospective in part and has arisen due to enforcement complaints. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
02840/E - Consideration of 3 no. options for the installation of a car park deck within 
Fairfield Hospital Grounds - Enquiry completed 13/09/2023 
35406 - Redevelopment - Approve with conditions 07/07/1999 
 
37893 - New offices and car park - 31/08/2001 
 
44321 - Demolition of existing nursery and erection of new prefabricated modular building to 
form nursery - Approve with Conditions 19/05/2005 
 
46815 - Construction of external fenced compound and installation of stand-by generator 
with 24 hour fuel tank - Approve with Conditions 27/09/2006 
 
51546 - Erection of smoke particulate emissions control filtration unit for the coal fired 
energy plant   - Approve with Conditions 04/09/2009 
 
54442 - Two single storey extensions at ground floor level; internal remodelling to the 
existing Accident and Emergency Department. - Approve with Conditions 25/10/2011 

Page 101



 
62511 - Construction of a car park and associated access, footpaths, boundary treatments, 
lighting columns and landscaping. - Approve with Conditions 06/06/2018 
 
65385 - Link bridge at first floor level to connect Wards 24 and 25 to the main hospital street 
corridor - Approve with Conditions 30/06/2020 
 
65466 - Extension at level 03 built on the existing flat roof to the South.  - Approve with 
Conditions 24/06/2020 
 
66197 - Installation of a VIE Compound containing a liquid oxygen vessel and two ambient 
vaporisers in order to supply medical oxygen to the hospital, perimeter security fencing and 
works to site and access  - Approve with Conditions 12/02/2021 
 
66815 - Erection of a facility for cold water booster tanks containing 2no. 125m3 water 
tanks, booster units and associated external works. - Approve with Conditions 21/09/2021 
69513 - Erection of a new single storey ED modular unit extension - Approve with 
Conditions 07/12/2023 
 
69880 - Prior approval for proposed demolition of existing two storey residential 
accommodation blocks, nos. 54, 55, 56 and 57 - Prior Approval Required and Granted 
04/08/2023 
 
70502 - Installation of a generator compound containing 2 no. generators and 2 no. fuel 
tanks with surrounding fence - Approve with Conditions 20/05/2024 
 
70779 - Variation of condition no. 2 (approved plans) following approval of planning 
permission 66815: Replace 'Site Location Plan' and 'Design and Access Statement' to 
amend the proposed replacement tree planting locations - Approve with Conditions 
11/07/2024 
 
Publicity 
Letter sent to 34 neighbouring properties on the 1st August 2024. 
 
2 comments received in relation to where plans and information could be viewed/accessed - 
These were contacted via email by the case officer. 
 
8 objections received in relation to: 

• Noise pollution 

• Light pollution 

• Air pollution 

• Reduction of security 

• Loss of privacy  

• Restrict enjoyment of gardens 

• What does temporary mean? Temporary in time or will be expanded 

• Believe this will eventually be a multi floor car park 

• Trees have been removed.  

• Biodiversity Net Gain required 

• Loss of property value 
 
Following the receipt of additional information in relation to lighting, landscaping, site 
sections and a planning addendum further letters were sent on the 6th September 2024. 1 
further objection received in relation to: 

• Nurses accommodation previously provided a physical barrier between the hospital and 

Page 102



residential properties preventing light and noise pollution.  

• Area was landscaped with grass. 

• Planning permission was not obtained to demolish the nurses accommodation. 

• Trees cut down during demolition. 

• Hospital told resident's and Bury MBC that the site would not be a car park. 

• Complaints made to Environmental Health in relation to lighting have not been 
responded to. 

• Adding additional lighting will make it worse. 

• No background noise from Rochdale Road at rear of property. 

• Increase in visible parking from 40, to 180 and now to 277. 

• 5 trees does not compensate for those removed. 

• 5 years is not temporary. 
 
Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations 
Traffic Section - No objections in principle as it would alleviate parking problems on the 
highway and PROW. 
 
Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - The Environment Section has assessed the 
application and has no comments to make regarding contaminated land and air quality. No 
request for EV chargepoints due to hospital infrastructure. Informative in relation to the 
control of noise requested. 
 
Conservation Officer - No objection. 
 
The Coal Authority - Confirm that the site falls within the defined Development High Risk 
Area. Material Consideration but do not objection to this planning application.  
 
Drainage Section - No response to report. 
 
United Utilities (Water and waste) - No response to report. 
 
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit - No response to report. 
 
Environmental Health - Pollution Control - No response to report 
 
Pre-start Conditions - Applicant/Agent to agree 
 
Development Plan and Policies 
CF1/1 Location of New Community Facilities 
EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design 
EN7/2 Noise Pollution 
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development 
H3/2 Existing Incompatible Uses 
JP-P6 Health 
JP-C5 Streets For All 
JP-C6 Walking and Cycling 
JP-S2 Carbon and Energy 
JP-S5 Clean Air 
EN8/2 Woodland and Tree Planting 
JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
JP-G7 Trees and Woodland 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Issues and Analysis 

Page 103



 
The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant 
policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the 
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material 
planning considerations.  
 
The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be 
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For 
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a 
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically 
mentioned. 
 
Principle 
UDP Policy CF1/1 generally looks favourably on proposals for additional or improved 
community facilities where these do not conflict with amenity or the local environment. PfE 
Policy JP-P6 confirms that improvements to health facilities will be supported, responding to 
the changing needs and demands of both existing and new residents including through 
enabling the continued enhancement and successful operation of our hospitals.  
 
The submitted planning statement confirms that the proposal would provide additional staff 
car parking provision within the hospital site. The lack of parking at the site has previously 
had the knock on effect of causing on-street parking in the wider residential areas, also 
within the site which is often on double yellow lines and has created problems for safe 
circulation and blue light access around the site. The planning statement also confirms that 
there has been an increased capacity of health care facilities and hospital visits at the site 
that have added pressure to the existing car parking provision. It is therefore considered 
that the proposal would provide support for health care facilities for the benefit of the local 
community and as such the proposal would support the policy considerations for 
improvements to health care facilities and would therefore comply with UDP Policy CF1/1 
and PfE JP-P6. 
 
Layout and Design 
UDP Policy EN1/2 seek to ensure that development proposals would not have a detrimental 
effect on the visual amenity and character of a particular area. PfE Policy JP-P1 aims to 
promote a series of beautiful, healthy and varied places.  
 
The proposal would be located between 2no. existing car parking areas. The site sections 
confirm that the proposed car park would be at a lower level than the existing northern car 
park that is currently located to the rear of properties on Rochdale Old Road. The proposal 
seeks to introduce a soft landscaping buffer between the proposed temporary car park and 
the existing northern car park, along an existing banking that would break up the extent of 
hard standing between the two locations. The car park would be finished in MOT crushed 
stone/hardcore. The existing trees between the proposed car park, and the existing 
southern car park are indicated to be retained as existing. 
 
3no. lighting columns are also proposed throughout the car park that would reach a height 
of 8 metres. The existing 5 metres lighting columns within the existing car park would be 
retained, with light fitting heads replaced. 
 
Given the context of the site, within an established hospital facility and the location of the 
car park between 2 existing hardstanding, car park areas it is considered that the extension 
of the car park in this location would not adversely impact on the visual amenity of the 
location and as such would comply with PfE Policy JP-P1 and UDP Policy EN1/2. 
 

Page 104



Amenity 
UDP Policy EN1/2 seeks to ensure that proposals for development are considered in 
relation to their relationship to the surrounding area, and the use of lighting. This is further 
supported by UDP Policy EN7/2  that restricts development that would lead to an 
unacceptable noise nuisance to nearby occupiers and/or amenity users. UDP Policy Ha/2 
confirms that where existing non-compatible uses operate within a residential area the 
Council will seek to ensure that any existing conflicts are resolved where possible and 
where opportunities arise.  
 
SPED 11 states that communal car parking should not normally be provided within 5 metres 
of a habitable room window of any dwelling. Whilst this relates to car parks associated with 
residential developments this distance is deemed necessary to protect the amenity of 
occupiers through engine noise and exhaust fume pollution and as such would be a 
reasonable guide in this case. 
 
The red edge of the proposed car park would be located a minimum of approximately 15 
metres from the rear boundary fences of the properties on Rochdale Old Road, and a 
minimum of approximately 39 metres from the rear habitable room windows. Areas of 
landscaping would further increase the distance between the proposed parking bays, and 
the rear boundaries and windows.  
 
The red edge of the proposed car park would be located a minimum of approximately 6 
metres from the side boundary of the properties on Bamford Close and 15 metres from the 
side elevations of these properties.  
 
Existing background noise levels in and around the site are typically as a result of road 
vehicle movements on Rochdale Old Road, sound from the operation of equipment at the 
hospital itself, and some sound from low speed road vehicle movements within the existing 
car park. Any cars manoeuvring within the site would be driving at low speeds. It should 
also be noted that the proposed car park would be located further away from the dwellings 
on Rochdale Old Road than the existing car park and would also be located at a lower level 
than these properties. 
 
Given the distances and relationships of the existing residential properties set out above, 
and the existing ambient noise in and around the existing hospital site it is considered that 
the proposal would not have a significant impact in relation to noise in order to warrant 
refusal of the scheme.  
 
Lighting onto the proposed temporary car park would be required for safety of the car park 
users. 
 
A luminary report has been submitted showing the impact of the lighting from the 3no. 
proposed lighting columns. The supporting plans show the orientation of the proposed 
lighting, which would face towards the car parking areas. The orientation of existing lighting 
is also shown on these plans. 
 
The report shows the impact of the existing lighting within the existing car parks, as well as 
the proposed lighting. The evaluation of the luminary report indicates that the total 
illuminance would be highest within the existing and proposed car parking areas, reducing 
towards the boundaries of these locations with the residential properties. Given the location 
of the proposed lighting columns, and the impact of the existing lighting within the existing 
car parks it is considered that the proposal would not significantly increase light pollution 
above what already exists from within the site. 
 
Access and Parking 

Page 105



PfE Policies JP-Cc and JP-Cc require streets to be well designed and managed to make a 
significant positive contribution to the quality of place and support high levels of walking, 
cycling and public transport. In terms of parking standards Policy HT2/4 requires all 
applications for development to make adequate provision for their car parking and servicing 
requirements. Supplementary Planning Document 11 provides parking standards for 
developments.  
 
Highways have raised no objections to the proposal in principle, as the aim of the proposal 
is to help to alleviate parking problems on the local highway network.  The temporary car 
park would be provided for staff in order to cater for existing demand and free up space 
limited visitor parking. Current pressures result in staff using visitor spaces due to being 
unable to find spaces within the existing permitted staff car parks. There is an existing 
Traffic Regulation Orders in place on and off the site to try to address this problem. 
 
The layout of the proposed car park is unconventional but the proposal is temporary in 
nature and as such no objections are raised. 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
PfE Policy JP-G8 states that through local planning and associated activities a net 
enhancement of biodiversity resources will be sought. This is supported by UDP Policy 
EN6/3 that seeks to retain, protect and enhance the natural environment and seeks to retain 
features of ecological or wildlife value. Paragraph 180 of the NPPF states that the planning 
policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. 
UDP Policy EN8/2 supports and encourages new woodland and tree planting within the 
borough. PfE Policy JP-G7 further reinforces this policy seeking to significantly increase tree 
cover and requiring replacement of trees on the basis of two trees for each tree lost. 
 
While every grant of planning permission in England is deemed to have been granted 
subject to the biodiversity gain condition, commencement and transitional arrangements, as 
well as exemptions, mean that certain permissions are not subject to biodiversity net gain.  
 
Biodiversity net gain does not apply to retrospective applications made under section 73A of 
the town and country planning act as a pre-commencement condition cannot be applied to 
an application that has already commenced. The Planning practice guidance on biodiversity 
net gain also confirms that it would be inappropriate for decision makers to continue to give 
weight to aspects of existing local policies related to biodiversity gains which are 
inconsistent with the statutory framework for biodiversity net gain. 
 
A tree survey was submitted with the prior approval application for the demolition of the 
nurses accommodation. Tree works were identified, including the removal of 1 dead tree 
and the removal of small trees up to 8cm dbh (diameter at breast height). A condition was 
attached to the prior approval to ensure the trees to be retained on site were protected in 
accordance with British Standards. Further trees have been removed from the boundary of 
the site that were not indicated within the previous tree works. It should be noted however 
that the trees on site were not protected by a TPO and as such no permission was required 
to remove these trees. It appears approximately 14 trees have been removed. 
 
The applicant has submitted a site layout that shows 24no. trees to be planted largely to the 
north of the proposed car park.  Whilst this would not provide a two for one replacement it 
would improve the treescape within the site, and as such is in compliance with Policy 
JP-G7. A condition, that requires a full landscaping scheme including native tree planting 
can be attached to any permission.   
 
Carbon, Energy and Air Quality 
PfE Policy JP-S2 sets out the steps required to achieve net zero carbon emissions. PfE 

Page 106



Policy JP-S5 supports improvement in air quality. 
 
The proposal does not seek to add additional capacity at the site in terms of visiting cars 
and additional journeys but seeks to alleviate an existing parking problem in and around the 
hospital site. The submitted Transport Statement confirms this and summarises that "it is 
anticipated that in reality the number of new trips would be small; the overwhelming majority 
of movements at the temporary car park are already taking place to the Fairfield General 
site; as demonstrated by the volumes of vehicles entering the surveyed car park and being 
unable to find a space." The peak hours identified for use of the car park are between 0800 
- 0900 and 1600-1700. The vehicles located within the car park would not be active for 
extended periods of time. 
 
With regard to the installation of EV charging. PfE seeks to support the installation of EV 
charging points taking account of the potential maximum energy demand for the site. The 
applicant has confirmed that the hospital is currently nearing their upper limits of capacity for 
the site to operate safely and as such EV charging points within this temporary car park are 
not considered to be feasible or viable at this time. 
 
Response to representations 
It is considered that the material planning considerations have been addressed within the 
main body of the report. 
 
A condition has been attached to ensure the use of the car park for 5 years. Should the 
applicant wish to extend this car park, to create additional levels then a new planning 
application would be required and would be duly assessed.  
 
Prior approval was granted for the demolition of the nurses accommodation, which included 
a wider tree survey of the site referenced above.  
 
Trees removed were not protected by means of a TPO and as such permission was not 
required to remove these trees. An indicative landscaping scheme has been submitted with 
the application that shows the provision of 24no. trees. Details of the full planting scheme 
can be provided via condition.  
  
Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015 
 
The Local Planning Authority worked positively and proactively with the applicant to identify 
various solutions during the application process to ensure that the proposal comprised 
sustainable development and would improve the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area and would accord with the development plan. These were 
incorporated into the scheme and/or have been secured by planning condition. The Local 
Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in Paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Conditions/ Reasons 
 

1. Permission is hereby granted for a limited period only, namely for a period expiring 
5 years from the date of this decision notice, and the works and use comprising 
the development for which permission is hereby granted are required to be 
respectively removed and discontinued at the end of the said period and the land 
reinstated to its former condition unless a valid application is received by the Local 
Planning Authority for its retention. 

Page 107



Reason. In view of the temporary nature of the development and in order to retain 
control over its continued use having regard to the particular nature of the site and 
surroundings pursuant to The National Planning Policy Framework.  

 

2. This decision relates to drawings numbered B101, B102 Rev A,  B103 Rev B, 
B104, 28670-1 
 
Supporting Documents: 
Transport Statement Dated 17th July 2024 
Planning Statement Including Non-Designated Heritage Assets Statement and 
Crime Impact Statement Dated 18th July 
Luminaire data 11.07.2024 
Planning Addendum Dated 4th September 2024 
Lighting datasheet  
 
and the development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the 
drawings hereby approved. 
Reason.  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
design pursuant to the policies of the Development Plan listed. 

 

3. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, a landscaping scheme 
shall be submitted to, and approved by the Local Planning Authority within 3 
months of the date of the decision. The contents of the plan should include 24no. 
native trees, shrub planting and the provision of bat and bird boxes.  The 
approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented not later than 12 months from 
the date of the decision or within the first available tree planting season,; and any 
trees or shrubs removed, dying or becoming severely damaged or becoming 
severely diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs 
of a similar size or species to those originally required to be planted.   
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site and in the interests of 
visual amenity pursuant to Policies H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential 
Development,  EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design, EN8/2 - Woodland and Tree 
Planting and JP-G7 - Trees and Woodland of the adopted Development Plan and 
chapter 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment of the NPPF.  

 
For further information on the application please contact Helen Pressley on 0161 253 5277

Page 108



 
 
 

Page 109



Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

o

n

o

n

ADDRESS:
Fairfield General Hospital, 
Rochdale Old Road, Bury, BL9 
7TD

© Crown Copyright and database right (2023). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

15

426

428

20

432

422

553

410

555

543

2

Shelter

541
1

519

398

531

396

Tank

26

JERICHO

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

BAMFORD CLOSE

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

ROCHDALE OLD ROAD

148.7m

7.

3.

5.

6.8.
1.

2.
4.

70979 - Viewpoints

Page 110



70979 

Photo 1 

 

Photo 2 

 Page 111



70979 

Photo 3 

 

Photo 4 

 Page 112



70979 

Photo 5 

 

Photo 6 

 Page 113



70979 

Photo 7 

 

Photo 8 

 Page 114



P
age 115



P
age 116



P
age 117



P
age 118



  
 
Ward: North Manor Item   5 

 
Applicant: Mr Nicholas Mordin 
 
Location: Brookhouse Farm, 218 Holcombe Road, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4BQ 

 
Proposal: Demolition of existing garages/stables and erection of 1 no. dwelling (renewal of 

extant planning permission 66444) 
 
Application Ref:   70666/Full Target Date:  20/09/2024 
 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Description 
The application site is located to the south of Holcombe Road and forms part of a larger 
complex of buildings, which are known as Brookhouse Farm. There is a farmhouse, cottage 
and barn, which is located along the frontage with Holcombe Road and a detached stables 
building, which is perpendicular to the road. The application site contains a terrace of 
garages and is located to the northeast of the main farmhouse building. 
 
The farmhouse, cottage and barn are constructed from stone with a stone flag roof and date 
from the 17th century, possibly earlier. Brookhouse Farm forms part of the draft local list 
and the attached barn is a Grade II listed building.  
 
Access to the farmhouse and cottage is located off Holcombe Road to the north east of the 
builds with the barn and stables accessed separately to the south of Holcombe Road.    
 
There are open fields to the north-east, east and south of the site. There are residential 
properties to the north and west on Holcombe Road. The site falls and the open land to the 
south and east falls within the Green Belt, Landscape character Area, River Valley and a 
Wildlife Corridor. 
 
Planning consent was allowed on appeal in April 2022 (66444) along with a partial award of 
costs to the applicant for the demolition of the terrace of garages, a single pitched roof stone 
garage and garden store and the erection of a split level detached dwelling with a two storey 
outrigger and single garage at the front.  
 
The proposed development is identical to the previously approved scheme and seeks the 
demolition of these buildings and the erection of a detached dwelling.  
 
In summary, the proposal comprises the following: 

• A split level single detached dwelling with two storey outrigger and single garage to the 
front. To be finished in natural stone with stone slates and powder coated aluminium 
windows and incorporating stone quoin, sill, lintel and mullion detailing; 

• Re-positioned front boundary wall with an improved access to the proposed dwelling 
and a new access to the existing dwelling in the same general area as the existing 
access from Holcombe Road; 

• Patio area to rear (south) in natural stone flags including stairways from the driveway  
down to the lower garden. 

 
The submission states that the proposal would represent a 35% decrease in the total 
footprint of buildings at the site compared to the existing outbuildings to be removed and a 

Page 119



33% increase in the total volume. However, it is also stated that the above ground volume 
would be 5% less than the combined outbuildings to be demolished. 
 
 
Relevant Planning History 
59881 - Demolition of existing garages and erection of 1 no. dwelling at Brookhouse Farm, 
218 Holcombe Road, Tottington. Refused - 7 July 2017. 
 
66444 - Demolition of existing garages/stables and erection of 1 no. dwelling at Brookhouse 
Farm, 218 Holcombe Road, Tottington. Refused at Planning Committee contrary to Officer 
recommendation - 11 November 2021. Allowed on appeal - 12 April 2022.  
 
70116 - Lawful Development Certificate for proposed single storey rear extension at 218 
Holcombe Road, Tottington. Lawful development - 21 November 2023. 
 
Publicity 
The neighbouring properties were notified by means of a letter on 30 July 2024 and a press 
notice was published in the Bury Times on 1 August 2024. Site notices were posted on lst 
August 2024. 
 
3 letters have been received, which have raised the following issues: 

• There are no documents viewable with this application. When will they be available? 

• I am also confused, as this proposal has been rejected twice previously, one of those 
times being only 3 years ago.  

• If the proposal is an exact copy of the previous, what would have changed peoples 
opinion in 3 years?  

• Greenmount is a GREEN area, if the plans are still to compromise this then I do not see 
this as an exceptional circumstance to do so.  

• Everybody's concerns will still remain. 

• All of my previous objections to 66444 remain valid. 

• The deceptive inclusion of the stable block, in conjunction with the garage block, is a 
bare faced ruse to expand the regulatory permitted footprint area of the proposed 
dwelling. The stable block is situated sixty meters to the south of the garage block, on 
the opposing side of Brookhouse farm. It is completely devoid of any physical 
connection to this, presumably, resurrected 66444  project. 

• The close proximity of the bus shelter to the proposed house entrance is a serious 
concern as this section of Holcombe Road is a notorious accident blackspot. The narrow 
one meter wide footpath, opposite to the bus shelter, means that pedestrians have to 
rub shoulders with articulated trucks when a bus is picking up or alighting passengers. A 
minimum two metre wide footpath is legally required in conjunction with the passage of 
h.g.v. traffic in a residential zone   Any potential increase in 'across traffic' vehicle 
manoeuvres at this obscured location should be avoided in the interest of road safety. 
The ever increasing volume of traffic (particularly h.g.v.'s.) plying this inadequate 
Brookhouse route will inevitably end in tragedy. 

• This extensive contemporary house proposal will necessitate the destruction of historic 
wild life habitat at this river valley location, & will ultimately dominate the visual aspect of 
the immediately adjacent Grade 2 listed Brookhouse farm. A notable 'Blue Plaque' 
structure with origins dating back to the 16th century that have deep rooted historic 
connotations for our North American cousins. In particular, residents of the city of 
Woodbury, New Jersey, U.S.A., whose 17th century origins stem directly from this 
farmhouse, via the auspices of local Quaker, Henry Wood.  

• The underground Utility network in this locality is already overloaded & creaking at the 
seams. Hardly a month has passed by over the last two decades without some element 
of roadworks  disruption occurring on Holcombe road. Continually connecting more & 

Page 120



more new properties to outdated, fundamentally flawed under road Utility infrastructure, 
that is relentlessly pummeled by 'around the clock'  h.g.v. traffic,  is undeniably stupid. 

 
The objectors have been notified of the Planning Control Committee meeting. 
 
Statutory/Non-Statutory Consultations 
Traffic Section - No objection subject to conditions. 
Drainage Section - No response received. 
Environmental Health - Contaminated Land - No objections, subject to the inclusion of 
conditions relating to contaminated land.  
Environmental Health - Air Quality - No objections, subject to the inclusion of a condition 
relating to electric vehicle charging. 
Waste Management - No response received. 
Environment Agency - No response received. 
United Utilities - No objections, subject to the inclusion of conditions relating to surface 
water and foul drainage.  
GM Ecology Unit - No objection 
Conservation Officer - No objections - the proposal is identical to the extant consent. 
Minerals and Waste Planning Unit - No response. 
 
Pre-start Conditions - Applicant/Agent has agreed with pre-start conditions 
 
Development Plan and Policies 
H1/2 Further Housing Development 
H2/1 The Form of New Residential Development 
H2/2 The Layout of New Residential Development 
H2/6 Garden and Backland Development 
EN1/2 Townscape and Built Design 
EN6/3 Features of Ecological Value 
EN6/4 Wildlife Links and Corridors 
EN7/5 Waste Water Management 
EN8/2 Woodland and Tree Planting 
OL1/2 New Buildings in the Green Belt 
OL5/2 Development in River Valleys 
HT2/4 Car Parking and New Development 
HT5/1 Access For Those with Special Needs 
HT6/2 Pedestrian/Vehicular Conflict 
SPD6 Supplementary Planning Document 6: Alterations & Extensions 
SPD8 DC Policy Guidance Note 8 - New Buildings in the Green Belt 
SPD 9 Conversion and Re-use of Buildings in the Green Belt 
SPD11 Parking Standards in Bury 
SPD16 Design and Layout of New Development in Bury 
JP-H3 Type, Size and Design of New Housing 
JP-P1 Sustainable Places 
JP-P2 Heritage 
JP-G8 A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
JP-S5 Clean Air 
JP-G7 Trees and Woodland 
JP-C8 Transport Requirements of New Development 
JP-C5 Streets For All 
JP-C6 Walking and Cycling 
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Issues and Analysis 
The following report includes analysis of the merits of the application against the relevant 

Page 121



policies of both the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), the adopted Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) and the saved policies within the 
adopted Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP), together with other relevant material 
planning considerations.  
 
The policies of the UDP that have been used to assess this application are considered to be 
in accordance with the NPPF and as such are material planning considerations. For 
simplicity, just the UDP and PfE Policies will be referred to in the report, unless there is a 
particular matter to highlight arising from the NPPF where it would otherwise be specifically 
mentioned. 
 
Principle (Green Belt) 
The site is designated as Green Belt under PfE Policy JP-G9. 
The proposed development on the site would be subject to NPPF Paragraph 154 and UDP 
Policy OL1/2 regarding new buildings in the Green Belt.    
 
Paragraph 154 of the NPPF is clear that a local planning authority should regard the 
construction of new buildings as inappropriate in the Green Belt. Exceptions to this are:  
a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;   
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land 
or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds 
and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not 
conflict with the purposes of including land within it;   
c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in 
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;   
d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and 
not materially larger than the one it replaces;   
e) limited infilling in villages;   
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in 
the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and  
g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would:   
- not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the existing 
development; or  
- not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the development 
would re-use previously developed land and contribute to meeting an identified affordable 
housing need within the area of the local planning authority.  
 
UDP Policy OL1/2 states that the construction of new buildings in the Green Belt is 
inappropriate development, unless it is for one or more of the following purposes: 

• agriculture and forestry; 

• essential facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, for cemeteries and for other 
uses of land which preserve the openness of the Green Belt and which do not conflict 
with the purposes of including land within it; 

• Limited extension, alteration or replacement of existing dwellings, provided that this 
would not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original 
dwelling, or, in the case of replacement dwellings, the new dwelling is not materially 
larger than the one it replaces; 

• Limited infilling in existing villages as set out under UDP Policy OL1/3. 
 
UDP Policy OL5/2 - Development in River Valleys - New buildings or the change of use of 
land will not be permitted.  The only exceptions considered acceptable will be those where 
the development would not lead to the division of the open parts  of the valley into sections 
and would fall within the same terms where the area is designated as Green Belt, which in 

Page 122



this case it is.  
 
SPD8 - New Buildings and Associated Development in the Green Belt offers more detailed 
advice in terms of acceptability including scale and form, siting and visual design and 
materials. 
 
The proposed development would involve the demolition of the existing terrace of 5 
garages, two stables and a shed and the erection of a split level dwelling and single garage.   
Whilst the proposed dwelling would not be for any of the forms of development listed in 
Policy OL1/2, this policy is not in full accordance with the Framework, as amongst other 
things, it does not include the provisions outlined above in paragraph 149 g). 
 
The application area forms part of a developed site and as such the proposed development 
would involve the redevelopment of previously-developed land under exception g) of para 
154 of the NPPF. 
However to accord with this exception, the proposal should not have a greater impact on the 
openness of the Green Belt.  
 
The site consists a complex of buildings associated originally with a farm.  These include a 
large stone building which comprises a barn, farmhouse and cottage, together with a 
number of outbuildings located across the site.  It is proposed to demolish the 5 
outbuildings that comprise the garages, stable blocks and a shed/woodstore and replace 
them with split-level dwelling with a detached garage to the front. This would be located in a 
similar position to the existing garages. 
 
The proposed development would result in a decrease in the footprint of buildings on the 
site of circa 35% whilst the volume would increase by circa 35%, the above ground volume 
would decrease by approximately 5%.  
 
The width of the proposed dwelling would be comparable to that of the garage block and 
located in a similar position on the site.  Like the garages, the proposed dwelling would 
appear as a single storey building at the front and wit the screening provided by the hedge 
along the front boundary, the new building would not be readily discernible.   
 
The rear of the dwelling would include a basement level and due to the topography and 
vegetation, there would be minimal visibility of this part of the site from the footpaths to 
north-east and east of the site, even in winter. In addition, the removal of the stable blocks 
to the rear of the barn, at the south-western end of the site, would mean that the proposal 
would help to concentrate the built development on the site. 
 
In the same scheme which was allowed on appeal, the Inspector stated that both visually 
and spatially, the proposal would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green 
Belt and concluded that - 'The proposed development would not be inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt and so there is no need to demonstrate very special 
circumstances.  Moreover, it would have a beneficial impact on nearby heritage assets and 
the natural environment.' 
 
It is therefore concluded that given the Inspector's judgement and that the current 
submission would be no different to the scheme previously allowed on appeal, the same 
conclusion could be reached, that the proposed development would not have a harmful 
impact on the spatial or visual openness of the Green Belt and would therefore be 
appropriate development and comply with the principles of para 154 of the NPPF.  
 
Principle - Residential 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) should be treated as a material planning 

Page 123



consideration and it emphasises the need for local planning authorities to boost the supply 
of housing to meet local housing targets in both the short and long term. The Framework 
states that unless they have an adopted plan that is less than five years old that identified a 
five year supply of specific deliverable sites at the time of conclusion of the examination, 
then local planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific 
developable sites to provide either a minimum of five years' worth of housing, or a minimum 
of four years' worth of housing in certain circumstances set out in NPPF paragraph 226.  
 
Bury's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment sets out the latest housing supply 
position, which is made up of sites that have an extant planning permission and sites that 
have potential to obtain planning permission in the future. 
 
This shows that there are a number of sites within the Borough with the potential to deliver a 
significant amount of housing. However, not all of these sites will contribute to the 
deliverable land supply calculations as many sites will take longer than five years to come 
forward and be fully developed (e.g. some large sites could take up to ten years to be 
completed). In addition to the housing land supply in the SHLAA, the joint Places for 
Everyone Plan was adopted with effect from 21 March 2024 and allocates significant 
strategic sites for housing within Bury.  
 
The adopted joint Places for Everyone Plan Policy JP-H1 sets a requirement for an average 
of 452 homes per year over the plan period, with stepped targets starting from a minimum 
housing target of 246 homes per year from 2022-2025 (increasing in future years of the 
plan). Following the adoption of PfE the Council is able to demonstrate a 5 year supply with 
a 20% buffer. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework also sets out the Housing Delivery Test, which is 
an assessment of net additional dwellings provided over the previous three years against 
the homes required. Where the test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially 
below (less than 75%) of the housing requirement over the previous years, this needs to be 
taken into account in the decision-taking process. The latest results published by the 
Government show that Bury has a housing delivery test result of less than 75%, and 
therefore, this needs to be treated as a material factor when determining applications for 
residential development. 
 
Therefore, paragraph 11d) of the National Planning Policy Framework states that where 
there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for 
determining the application are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted unless: 
i. The application of policies in the Framework that protect areas, or assets of particular 
importance, provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 
ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework, taken as a whole. 
 
Due to the housing delivery test result, the 'tilted balance' applies and planning permission 
should be granted unless the above points Para 11(d) i or ii apply.  
 
However, the application site is located within the Green Belt and the tilted balance does not 
apply.  
 
UDP Policy H1/2 states that the Council will have regard to various factors when assessing 
a proposal for residential development, including whether the proposal is within the urban 
area, the availability of infrastructure and the suitability of the site, with regard to amenity, 
the nature of the local environment and the surrounding land uses. 
 
The site is located in a suburban area and there is residential development to the north, 

Page 124



west and along both side of Holcombe Road in each direction.  As such, the proposed 
development would not conflict with the surrounding land uses. Appropriate infrastructure 
would be available. The site contains buildings and would be defined as previously 
developed land. As such, the proposed development would be acceptable in principle and 
would be in accordance with Policy H1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and the 
NPPF. 
 
Heritage 
Brookhouse Farm form part of the draft local list and the attached barn is a Grade II listed 
building. As such, the buildings are heritage assets as defined in the NPPF. 
 
The NPPF states that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and they should be 
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. 
 
Paragraph 200 states that in determining applications, local planning authorities should 
require an applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including 
any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the 
assets' importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the 
proposal on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic environment record 
should have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise 
where necessary. 
 
Paragraph 209 states that the effect of an application on the significance of a 
non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. 
In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non-designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset. 
 
The proposed development would be located to the north east of the farmhouse. The Grade 
II listed barn is located to the southwest of the existing farmhouse and as such, the 
proposed development would be screened by the existing farmhouse and would not impact 
significantly upon the setting of the Grade II listed barn. 
 
The existing farmhouse would be located adjacent to the proposed development and forms 
part of the draft local list. The existing garages are constructed form red brick, which 
conflicts with the stone built farmhouse and barn and the design is not in keeping with the 
adjacent farmhouse. As such, it is considered that the existing garages contribute little to 
the setting of the farmhouse. 
 
The proposed dwelling would be located to the north east of the site, set back from the main 
road and would be constructed from natural stone with a natural stone roof, which would be 
sympathetic to the existing buildings.  The design would incorporate some detailing from 
the existing dwelling, including mullioned windows and stone copings and considered 
appropriate to the setting.  
 
The proposed driveway would be surfaced with reclaimed stone setts and paving slabs and 
a stone wall would be constructed between the existing and proposed dwellings. As such, it 
is considered that the proposed development would enhance the character and setting of 
the locally listed building and preserve the setting of the Grade II listed building. Therefore, 
the proposed development would be in accordance with Policies EN1/1, EN1/2, EN2 and 
EN2/3 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and the NPPF.  
 
The listed barn and the Non-Designated Heritage Asset status of Brookhouse Farm (NDHA) 
would have only limited views from wider distances, which are not considered to be within 
the heritage assets' setting. Along Holcombe Road, the setting would be restricted to much 

Page 125



shorter views and from residential properties to the north and the heritage assets would not 
be visible from longer distances to the south and west. 
 
It is therefore considered the proposal would not have an impact on the setting of the NDHA 
or listed building to the degree that it would alter the way in which the significance of the 
NDHA and listed building is experienced and appreciated. As such the proposal would not 
affect the setting of the listed building or NDHA and would comply with the principles of the 
NPPF.  
 
Grade II Listed Barn 
The applicant has made a commitment to the carrying out of a Schedule of Works to the 
listed building and to improve the condition and ensure its longevity for the future.  
The Schedule of Works include re-pointing, repair to damaged timber, repairs to walls  and 
stone lintels and repair or replacement of damaged roof tiles. 
   
The Conservation Officer has assessed the proposed works which are confirmed as 
acceptable and reasonable to be required by the applicant. The proposal is identical to that 
of the extant consent and there have been no changes to national or local heritage planning 
policy, therefore there is no objection.  The proposed works would fall within the remit of 
Historic England's advice of what constitutes maintenance and would not impact on the 
special interest of the barn and as such would not require a Listed Building Consent.   
 
The works to the Listed Barn are both welcomed and supported as is the applicant's 
commitment to the carrying out of the works prior to the commencement of the proposed 
development and this would be recommended as a condition. 
 
Layout 
Density - PfE Policy JP-H4 states that new housing development should be delivered at a 
density appropriate to the location, reflecting the relative accessibility of the site by walking, 
cycling and public transport and the need to achieve efficient use of land and high quality 
design. Regard should be had to the minimum densities, which would be 35 dwellings per 
hectare in this case. Lower densities may be acceptable where they can clearly be justified 
by: 

• Local housing market issues, such as a demonstrable need for a particular type of 
housing that cannot be delivered at a higher density; or 

• Site specific issues, such as the design context and any potential impact on the wider 
landscape or townscape including heritage assets and green infrastructure. 

 
The proposed development would have a density of 6 dwellings per hectare, which would 
be below the minimum density of 35 dwellings per hectare. It is noted that not all of the site 
is developable for housing. The layout of the site is constrained by the Green Belt, the 
location of the existing buildings, which includes a Grade II listed building and the bank of 
trees surrounding the site, which need to be retained and the levels differences. Given the 
specific constraints, which include constraints on the volume of the development which it 
would replace and the need to accommodate these constraints, a density of 6 dwellings per 
hectare is considered acceptable. As such, the proposed development would be in 
accordance with PfE Policy JP-H4 of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.  
 
UDP Policies H2/1 and H2/2 provide the assessment criteria for detailed matters relating to 
height, appearance, density and character, aspects and finishing materials for new 
residential developments.  PfE Policy JP-H3 - Seeks to provide an appropriate mix of 
dwelling types and sizes reflecting local plan policies and having regard to relevant local 
evidence. 
 
The proposed dwelling would be sited in the north easterly part of the site and in the general 

Page 126



area of the existing garages proposed for removal.  The dwelling would be set back from 
Holcombe Road slightly behind the front building line of the existing farmhouse.       
 
There would be a new 6.9m wide shared access from Holcombe Road, splitting into 
separate driveways to provide a new driveway for parking and turning within the site for the 
new dwelling and existing house and acceptable levels of visibility on entry and exit of the 
site.  
 
The level of private amenity space would be commensurate and acceptable for a dwelling of 
this size which would be formed at the rear of the dwelling by a patio and lower garden area 
which would be accessed by steps.  
 
There would be space to the side or rear of the proposed dwelling for bin storage.  A new 
post and rail fence along the north east and rear boundaries is considered to be appropriate 
within the Green Belt setting and new shrubs and planting would be incorporated to add to 
the existing vegetation and hedgerows.   
Additional planting would be incorporated to the boundary with Holcombe Road which would 
soften and partly screen the development from public views outside the site.  
 
It is considered that the proposed arrangement of the dwelling within the site would utilise 
space available to provide all associated facilities of access, parking, bin storage and 
garden and would be sensitively sited to minimise and have respect to the openness of the 
Green Belt. 
 
Therefore, the proposed development would be in accordance with Policies EN1/2, H2/1,  
H2/2 and OL1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan 
 
PfE Policy JP-H3  - Space Standards - states that all new dwellings must: 

• comply with the nationally prescribed space standards; and 

• be built to the 'accessible and adaptable' standard in Part M4(2) of the Building 
Regulations unless specific site conditions make this impracticable. 

 
The applicant has provided a report which confirms that the proposed dwelling would 
comply with the nationally prescribed space standards for a 4 bedroom, 7 person dwelling. 
The report also confirms that the development would be carried out in accordance with Part 
M4(2), which would be secured by a condition. Therefore, the proposed development would 
comply with the national prescribed space standards and would be in accordance with 
Policy JP-H3 of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan.  
 
Design and appearance 
The proposed development would offer a split level solution, viewed as a single storey 
dwelling from the front and 2 storey at the rear where the land is at a lower level.   
 
The ridge and eaves heights of the proposed dwelling would be lower than the existing 
property and roof constructed with stone slab roofing tiles similar to the adjacent farmhouse. 
Elevations would comprise coursed stone and feature stone lintels, mullions, sills and stone 
quoins, reflecting that of the farmhouse.    
 
Window openings on the front and north east elevations would be minimal, the larger 
principal windows being located on the rear elevation which would be open to lesser public 
views.  
 
It is therefore considered that a sensitive approach to the design and appearance of the 
proposed dwelling has been taken, which would be in keeping with the character of the site 
and adjacent property and would acknowledge of the special character of the Green Belt 

Page 127



location. 
 
The proposed development would therefore comply with H2/1 and SPD8. 
 
Impact on residential amenity 
SPD6 provides guidance on aspect standards and as such, is a useful guide in this 
instance. The aspect standards states that there should be a minimum of 20 metres 
between directly facing habitable windows and 13 metres between a habitable room window 
and a two storey blank wall. 
 
There would be 11.3 metres from the proposed dwelling to the boundary with the existing 
dwelling, which would be acceptable. There would be a minimum of 28 metres from the 
proposed dwelling to the dwellings on Holcombe Road, which would be in excess of the 20 
metre aspect standard.  
 
Therefore, the proposed development would not have a significant adverse impact upon the 
amenity of the neighbouring properties. 
 
Highway issues 
Access -  The proposed development would be accessed through the existing opening 
which would be widened and improved and separate driveways would be provided for the 
proposed dwelling and existing dwelling.  Turning facilities would be provided within the site 
for both dwellings (existing and proposed), which would be welcomed.   
 
The Traffic Section has no objections in principle to the proposed development but required 
some amendments, which would be secured through conditions. Therefore, the proposed 
development would not be detrimental to highway safety and would be in accordance with 
Policies H2/1 and H2/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan.  
 
Parking - SPD11 states that the maximum parking standards for dwellings are 3 spaces per 
4 bed dwelling.  The proposed development would provide scope for 4 parking spaces on 
the driveway and a single garage.  2 parking spaces could comfortably be provided for the 
existing dwelling. As such, the proposed development would comply with the maximum 
parking standards and would be in accordance with Policy HT2/4 of the Bury Unitary 
Development Plan and SPD11.  
 
EV charge points are to be installed within the proposed garage and this would be secured 
by condition. 
 
Ecology 
Summary 
The main ecological issue is likely to be biodiversity net gain.  Other ecological issues are 
unchanged from the previous application. 
 
Bats 
Buildings and trees on site were reassessed by a suitable ecological consultancy.  No 
evidence of bats was found and all buildings and trees assessed as having no bat roosting 
potential.  GMEU have no reason to doubt the findings of the report, the photographs 
supporting the assessment.  As individual bats can on occasion turn up in unexpected 
locations and the building is located in a valley known to support high numbers of bats, 
GMEU recommend an informative is applied to any permission to remind the applicant of 
their responsibilities under the 2019 Regulations.  
 
Nesting Birds 
Evidence of a historic nest was found in one building and the development will result in the 

Page 128



loss of trees and scrub also with bird nesting potential.  All British birds nests and eggs 
(with certain limited exceptions) are protected by Section 1 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 
1981, as amended. GMEU recommend a condition to restrict the removal of vegetation.  
 
Himalayan Balsam 
Himalayan balsam was previously recorded. Species such as Himalayan balsam are 
included within schedule 9 part 2 of the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, as amended. It is 
an offence to introduce or cause to grow wild any plant listed under this schedule.  It is 
possible that it has now been controlled.  However GMEU recommend a condition for a 
survey for invasive species to be carried out and if any invasive species are present a 
method statement detailing avoidance, control and eradication measures provided.  
 
Contributing to and Enhancing the Natural Environment & Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
Section 180 of the NPPF 2023 states that the planning policies and decisions should 
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment. 10% BNG is mandatory under 
Schedule 7A of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by schedule 14 of the 
Environment Act 2021).  The development will result in the loss of trees, scrub and 
associated bird nesting habitat.   GMEU previously accepted that mitigation and 
enhancement was possible on the site, however legislation now requires 10% BNG. 
 
The proposal would meet the BNG requirement for a 10% uplift within the application site, 
with the uplift scrub area falling outside of the proposed garden but within the site.  
 
GMEU would also note that the existing permission is still in place and the applicant would 
therefore within their rights to clear the site of the existing vegetation as part of the previous 
permission. 
 
Carbon and energy  
An energy statement was submitted as part of the application and states that the proposed 
development would be constructed in accordance with Part L of the Building Regulations, 
which deals with energy efficiency and the proposed site plan indicates that an air source 
heat pump would be installed to reduce the amount of carbon required. The measures 
identified would reduce the energy required and CO2 emissions. Therefore, the proposed 
development would be in accordance with Policy JP-S2 of the Places for Everyone Joint 
Development Plan.  
 
Digital connectivity 
PfE Policy JP-C2 supports the provision of affordable, high quality, digital infrastructure. 
 
A statement confirms that the dwelling will have full fibre connectivity and this would be fully 
operational upon the occupation of the dwelling. Therefore, the proposed development 
would be in accordance with Policy JP-C2 of the Places for Everyone Joint Development 
Plan.  
 
Response to objectors 

• The plans and reports are available to view in the related documents section of the 
planning website. 

• The application was refused in 2017 and November 2021. However, the applicant was 
successful at appeal and there is an extant planning consent for a single dwelling as a 
result. 

• The proposed development is identical to the previous application, which was allowed 
on appeal (66444). 

• The issues relating to the Green Belt, the demolition of the existing buildings, highway 
safety, ecology and the Grade II listed building have been addressed in the report 

Page 129



above. 

• The proposed site plan includes proposals for access improvements and the widening of 
the footway abutting the site (condition 8) and which is considered to be commensurate 
with the scale and location of the development. 

• There would be capacity within the existing network and United Utilities have no 
objections to the proposed development. 

 
  
Statement in accordance with Article 35(2) Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) (Amendment) Order 2015 
 
The proposal complies with the development plan and would improve the economic, social 
and environmental conditions of the area. It therefore comprises sustainable development 
and the Local Planning Authority worked proactively and positively to issue the decision 
without delay. The Local Planning Authority has therefore implemented the requirement in 
Paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Recommendation:  Approve with Conditions 
 
Conditions/ Reasons 
 

1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning with the date 
of this permission. 
Reason. Required to be imposed by Section 91 Town & Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 

2. This decision relates to drawings numbered 20-06-01, 20-06-05-A, 20-06-19-D, 
20-06-27-B, 20-06-28-B, 20-06-29, 14-06-06 and the development shall not be 
carried out except in accordance with the drawings hereby approved. 
Reason.  For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of 
design pursuant to the policies of the Bury Unitary Development Plan listed. 

 

3. No development above ground shall commence unless or until details of the 
materials to be used in the external elevations, together with details of their 
manufacturer, type/colour and size, have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. Only the approved materials shall be used for the 
construction of the development. 
Reason. No material samples have been submitted and are required in the 
interests of visual amenity and to ensure a satisfactory development pursuant to 
UDP Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and H2/1 - The Form of New 
Residential Development. 

 

4. Prior to the commencement of development and where actual/potential 
contamination and/or ground gas/landfill gas risks have been identified in the 
submitted Contaminated land Preliminary Risk Assessment, a detailed site 
investigation and suitable risk assessment shall be submitted to, and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 

• Where remediation/protection measures is/are required, a detailed 
Remediation Strategy shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason.  The scheme does not provide full details of the actual contamination 
and subsequent remediation, which is required to secure the satisfactory 
development of the site in terms of human health, controlled waters, ground gas 
and the wider environment and pursuant to National Planning Policy Framework 
Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 

Page 130



 

5. Following the provisions of Condition 4 of this planning permission, where 
remediation is required, the approved Remediation Strategy must be carried out to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority within agreed timescales; and 
A Site Verification Report detailing the actions taken and conclusions at each 
stage of the remediation works, including substantiating evidence, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
development being brought into use. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 
health, controlled waters and the wider environment and pursuant to National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 

6. Any soil or soil forming materials brought to site for use in garden areas, soft 
landscaping, filling and level raising shall be tested for contamination and 
suitability for use on site.  Proposals for contamination testing including testing 
schedules, sampling frequencies and allowable contaminant concentrations (as 
determined by appropriate risk assessment) and source material information shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
any soil or soil forming materials being brought onto site, and; 
The approved contamination testing shall then be carried out and validatory 
evidence (soil descriptions, laboratory certificates, photographs etc) submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the development 
being brought into use. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 
health, controlled waters and the wider environment and pursuant to National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 

7. All instances of contamination encountered during the development works which 
do not form part of an approved Remediation Strategy shall be reported to the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) immediately and the following shall be carried out 
where appropriate:    
 

• Any further investigation, risk assessment, remedial and / or protective works 
shall be carried out to agreed timescales and be approved by the LPA in 
writing; 

 

•  A Site Verification Report detailing the conclusions and actions taken at each 
stage of the works including validation works shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the LPA prior to the development being brought into 
use. 

Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site in terms of human 
health and the wider environment and pursuant to National Planning Policy 
Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment. 

 

8. The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until the 
access improvements and bin storage arrangements indicated on approved plan 
reference 20-06-27 Revision B, incorporating the widening of the footway abutting 
the site, all necessary alterations to the existing footway crossing, demarcation of 
the limits of the adopted highway as a result of the highway works, relocated 
450mm high boundary wall, relocated pedestrian gate pillars behind the visibility 
splay shown, inward opening gates set back from the adopted highway and new 
driveway in a porous/permeable material and/or measures to prevent the 
discharge of surface water onto the adopted highway, have been implemented in 

Page 131



full. 
Reason. To ensure good highway design and maintain the integrity of the adopted 
highway in the interests of highway safety, pursuant to policies EN1/2 - 
Townscape and Built Design and H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential 
Development of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Policies JP-C5 - Streets 
for All, JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling and JP-C8 - Transport Requirements of New 
Development of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan. 

 

9. The visibility splays indicated on approved plan reference 20-06-27 Revision B 
shall be implemented before the development is brought into use and 
subsequently maintained free of obstruction above the height of 0.6m. 
Reason. To ensure the intervisibility of the users of the site and the adjacent 
highways in the interests of road safety pursuant to Bury Unitary Development 
Plan Policy H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential Development and Policies 
JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling of the Places for Everyone 
Joint Development Plan. 

 

10. The parking and turning facilities, including the garage space, indicated on 
approved plan reference 20-06-27 Revision B shall be provided before the 
development hereby approved is first occupied and shall thereafter be kept 
available at all times for those purposes. 
Reason. To minimise the standing and turning movements of vehicles on the 
highway in the interests of road safety pursuant to Bury Unitary Development Plan 
Policies H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential Development and  
JP-C5 - Streets for All and JP-C6 - Walking and Cycling of the Places for Everyone 
Joint Development Plan. 

 

11. The garage associated with the development hereby approved shall not be 
converted to additional living accommodation. 
Reason. To ensure adequate car parking provision is retained pursuant to Policy 
H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential Development and HT2/4 - Car Parking and 
New Development of the Bury Unitary Development Plan and Supplementary 
Planning Documents 6 and 11. 

 

12. Prior to occupation the applicant shall provide and install an electric vehicle (EV) 
charging point. EV chargepoints shall be chosen from the Electric Vehicle 
Homecharge Scheme approved chargepoint model list.  
Reason: To encourage the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles and ensure the 
development is sustainable to safeguard public health and quality of life, in 
accordance with paragraph 35 and 124 of the NPPF. 

 

13. The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 
accordance with principles set out in approved drawing dwg no. 20-06-27 B. For 
the avoidance of doubt no surface water will be permitted to drain directly or 
indirectly into the public sewer. The development shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details. Furthermore, foul and surface water shall 
be drained on separate systems. 
Reason.  To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue 
increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding, pursuant to 
Chapter 14 - Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, flooding and coastal 
change of the NPPF. 

 

14. No works to trees or shrubs shall occur between the 1st March and 31st August in 
any year unless a detailed bird nest survey by a suitably experienced ecologist 
has been carried out immediately prior to clearance. 

Page 132



Reason. In order to ensure that no harm is caused to a Protected Species 
pursuant to Policy EN6/3 - Features of Ecological Value of the Bury Unitary 
Development Plan, Policy JP-G8 - A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan and National 
Planning Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 

15. Prior to any vegetation clearance, earthworks or demolition a survey for invasive 
plant species, including Himalayan Balsam shall be undertaken and submitted to 
the local planning authority. If any invasive species are found to be present a 
method statement detailing avoidance, control and eradication measures should 
be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority and 
implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason.  The scheme does not provide full details of the actual extent of 
Japanese Knotweed and Himalayan Balsam in the interest of National Planning 
Policy Framework Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural 
environment. 

 

16. No development above ground level shall take place until full details of both hard 
and soft landscape works with an associated implementation plan, have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  

• The hard landscape details shall include proposed finished levels or contours; 
means of enclosure and hard surfacing materials.  

• The soft landscaping works shall include planting plans; written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 
establishment); schedules of native plants and trees, noting species, plant/tree 
sizes and proposed numbers/densities and the implementation programme.  

• The scheme shall also include the provision for bats, birds and invertebrates 
and a hedgehog home as set out in the “Inspection and Assessment in relation 
to Bats and Breeding Birds” document dated December 2020 (associated with 
planning permission 66444), as updated by letter 'Updated Site Visit to check 
the ecological status of the site remains the same as of 2020 Ecological report' 
Project No. PR-0149-24) from Tyrer Ecological Consultants Limited, dated 
15/05/2024. 

The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented not later than 12 months 
from the date the development hereby permitted is first occupied or within the first 
available tree planting season, and any trees or shrubs removed, dying or 
becoming severely damaged or becoming severely diseased within five years of 
planting shall be replaced by trees or shrubs of a similar size or species to those 
originally required to be planted. 
Reason.  To secure the satisfactory development of the site and in the interests of 
visual amenity pursuant to Policies H2/2 - The Layout of New Residential 
Development,  EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and chapter 15 - Conserving 
and enhancing the natural environment of the NPPF. 

 

17. Notwithstanding the terms of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015, as subsequently amended, no development 
shall be carried out  within the terms of Classes A to E of Part 1 of Schedule 2 of 
the Order, at the existing or approved dwelling without the submission and 
approval of a relevant planning application. 
Reason. The applicant justified the new dwelling on the basis of the removal of the 
existing buildings.  As such, to appropriately control the size and scale of any 
buildings within the curtilage of the listed building and site within the Green Belt 
the condition would ensure that future inappropriate alterations and extensions do 
not occur to negate the Very Special Circumstances put forward pursuant to UDP 

Page 133



Policies  H2/1 - The Form of New Residential Development, EN2/3 - Listed 
Buildings, OL1/2 - New Buildings in the Green Belt and para 149 c) of the NPPF.  
 

 

18. The finished floor levels shall be as indicated on approved plan 20-06-27 B. 
Reason: To secure the satisfactory development of the site and the assimilation of 
the new building into the locality pursuant to Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built 
Design of Bury Unitary Development Plan and Section 13 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 

19. No development shall take place until the buildings indicated in pink on submitted 
plan Drg. No. 20-06-05-A have been demolished and all arising materials have 
been removed from the site (or the arising materials re-used or retained in a 
position on site to be agreed by the local planning authority and thereafter so 
retained). 
Reason. To maintain the openness of the Green Belt and in the interests of visual 
amenity to ensure a satisfactory development pursuant to UDP Policy EN1/2 - 
Townscape and Built Design and Section 13 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 

20. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the Proposed 
Works Schedule ref WS1 dated 14/09/2021 for the carrying out of the works to the 
Listed Barn Building shall be carried out and completed by a suitably experienced 
and qualified person and following completion, evidence provided to the LPA that 
the works have been carried out and completed in accordance with the approved 
Works Schedule.  
Reason.  In order to preserve and protect the integrity and  historic interest and 
special architectural qualities of the Grade II Listed Building pursuant to UDP 
Policy EN2/3 - Listed Buildings and the principles of the NPPF.  

 

21. All trees to be retained on site shall be protected in accordance with BS 5837:2012 
"Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction". The development shall 
not commence unless and until the measures required by the British Standard are 
implemented and all measures required shall remain in situ until the development 
has been completed. 
Reason. To avoid the loss of trees which are of amenity value to the area pursuant 
to Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design and EN8/2 – Woodland and Tree 
Planting of the Bury Unitary Development Plan. 

 

22. No development shall commence unless and until a 'Construction Traffic 
Management Plan' (CTMP), has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority and shall confirm/provide the following: 
  
1. Photographic dilapidation survey of the footways and carriageways abutting 

the site in the event that subsequent remedial works are required following 
construction of the development and as a result of any statutory undertakers 
connections to the new dwelling; 

2. Access point(s) for demolition/construction traffic from the adopted highway; 
3. Proposed site hoardings (if proposed) clear of the visibility splays indicated on 

approved site plan reference 20-06-27 Revision B; 
4. Hours of operation and number of vehicle movements; 
5. A scheme of appropriate warning/construction traffic speed signage in the 

vicinity of the site and its access; 
6. Arrangements for the turning and manoeuvring of vehicles within the curtilage 

of the site, including any requisite phasing of the development to 

Page 134



accommodate this; 
7. Parking on site (or on land under the applicant's control) of operatives' and 

demolition/construction vehicles together with storage on site of 
demolition/construction materials, including any requisite phasing of the 
development to accommodate this; 

8. Measures to ensure that all mud and other loose materials are not spread onto 
the adjacent adopted highways as a result of the groundworks operations or 
carried on the wheels and chassis of any vehicles leaving the site and 
measures to minimise dust nuisance caused by the operations. 

 
The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period and the 
measures shall be retained and facilities used for the intended purpose for the 
duration of the construction period. 
 
The areas identified shall not be used for any purposes other than the parking of 
vehicles and storage of demolition/construction materials. All highway remedial 
works identified as a result of the dilapidation survey shall be implemented prior to 
the development hereby approved being occupied. 
Reason. Information not submitted at application stage. To maintain the integrity of 
the adopted highway, mitigate the impact of the construction traffic generated by 
the proposed development on the adjacent adopted highways, ensure adequate 
off street car parking provision and materials storage arrangements for the 
duration of the construction period and ensure that the adopted highways are kept 
free of deposited material from the ground works operations, in the interests of 
highway safety, pursuant to Policy EN1/2 - Townscape and Built Design of the 
Bury Unitary Development Plan and PfE Policies JP-C5 - Streets for All, JP-C6 - 
Walking and Cycling and JP-C8 - Transport Requirements of New Development.  

 

23. The Biodiversity Gain Plan shall include: 

• information about the steps taken or to be taken to minimise the adverse effect 
of the development on the biodiversity of the onsite habitat and any other 
habitat; 

• the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat; 

• the post-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat, including an 
amended Biodiversity Net Gain Metric Calculation that ensure that the loss of 
xxxx units of medium distinctiveness scrub units should be replaced with the 
same broad 

• habitat or with a more higher distinctive habitat.; 

• any registered offsite biodiversity gain allocated to the development and the 
biodiversity and the biodiversity value of that gain in relation to the 
development; 

• any biodiversity credits purchased for the development; and 

• any such other matters as the Secretary of State may by regulations specify. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Policy JP-G8 - A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity of the Places 
for People Joint Development Plan Document. 

 

24. The development shall not commence until a Habitat Management and Monitoring 
Plan (the HMMP), prepared in accordance with the approved Biodiversity Gain 
Plan and including: 
1. a non-technical summary; 
2. the roles and responsibilities of the people or organisation(s) delivering the 
HMMP; 

Page 135



3. the planned habitat creation and enhancement works to create or improve 
habitat to achieve the biodiversity net gain in accordance with the approved 
Biodiversity Gain Plan; 
4. the management measures to maintain habitat in accordance with the approved 
Biodiversity Gain Plan for a period of 30 years from the completion of 
development; and 
5. the monitoring methodology and frequency in respect of the created or 
enhanced habitat to be submitted to the local planning authority, 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Policy JP-G8 -  A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity of the Places 
for People Joint Development Plan Document. 

 

25. The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and until: 
 
1. the habitat creation and enhancement works set out in the approved HMMP 
have been completed; and 
2. a completion report, evidencing the completed habitat enhancements, has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 
The created and/or enhanced habitat specified in the approved HMMP shall be 
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved HMMP. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Policy JP-G8 -  A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity of the Places 
for People Joint Development Plan Document. 

 

26. Monitoring reports shall be submitted to the local planning authority in writing in 
accordance with the methodology and frequency specified in the approved HMMP. 
Reason. To ensure the development delivers a biodiversity net gain on site in 
accordance with Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and 
Policy JP-G8 -  A Net Enhancement of Biodiversity and Geodiversity of the Places 
for People Joint Development Plan Document. 

 

27. The dwelling hereby approved shall be built in accordance with the ‘accessible and 
adaptable’ standard in Part M4(2) of the Building Regulations. 
Reason. To secure the satisfactory development of the site pursuant to Places for 
Everyone Joint Development Plan Policy JP-H3: Type, Size and Design of New 
Housing. 

 
For further information on the application please contact Dean Clapworthy on 0161 253 5317

Page 136



 
 
 

Page 137



Planning, Environmental and Regulatory Services

No Window

No Window

ADDRESS:

PLANNING APPLICATION LOCATION PLAN 

APP. NO 70666

Brookhouse Farm, 218 Holcombe Road
Tottington



(C) Crown Copyright and database right (2015). Ordnance Survey 100023063.

FB
Bridge

Brookhouse

62

22
9

23
7

5

18

3 14

Farm

2

21
5

Brookhouse

201

216

Shelter

13
3

13
1

2

13
5

1

19
5

12

8

19
11

1

19
9

19
7

16

14
9

21

H
O

LC
O

M
B
E
 R

O
A
D

C
LO

S
E

GREENSIDE DRIVE

C
R

E
S

C
E

N
T

B
R

O
O

K
H

O
U

S
E

B
R

O
O

K
S

I D
E

133.8m

139.0m

Viewpoints

1 2

3

4

5

6

7

Page 138



 
 

70666 

Photo 1 

Photo 2 

 

Page 139



 
 

70666 

Photo 3 

Photo 4 

 

 

Page 140



 
 

70666 

Photo 5 

Photo 6 
 

 

 

Page 141



 
 

70666 

Photo 7 

Page 142



P
age 143



Natural stone wall

Five brickwork garages with profiled

asbestos-cement roof cladding

Single stone garage with

slate roof cladding

Painted steel up &

over doors

Painted steel up &

over door

Red-brown common brickwork

Natural stone wall

Natural slate roof

Grey common brickwork

Gate

Natural stone wall Natural stone wall

Profiled asbestos-cement roof cladding

Natural slate roof

Grey common brickwork

Grey common brickwork

Five brickwork garages with profiled

asbestos-cement roof cladding

Single stone garage with

slate roof cladding

4
.
8

m

12.7m

5

.
2

m

1
.
2

m

4.3m

Existing gravel drive

3

.
2

m

10 2 3 4 5

Project

Drawing

Client

Scale

Drg. No.

Drg. Size

Date

NOTES

    This drawing is copyright.  No unauthorised copying of drawing

    without the express permission of the architect.

    Do not scale from prints.  Use figure dimensions only.

    Contractors to check all dimensions on site prior to

    commencement of works.

    All works to be carried out in accordance with current statutory

    Health and Safety Regulations.

    This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant

    consultants' and / or specialists' drawings / documents and any

    discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect

    before affected work commences.

REV.        AMENDMENTS                                                    DATE

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT: 216-218 HOLCOMBE

ROAD, GREENMOUNT, BURY BL8 4BQ

EXISTING GARAGES: ROOF PLAN & ELEVATIONS

1:50 @ A1

MR N. MORDIN

14-06-06

A1

NOVEMBER 2020

NPDwn. By

Existing Roof Plan & Elevations @1:50

Hilpsford         New Barn Lane         Rawtenstall          Lancashire       BB4 6HT

Tel: 01706218170
Email: mail@peeldesigns .co.uk
Web: www.peeldesigns.co.uk
RIBA Chartered Practice 20001293

Peel Design Partnership Ltd

Existing Garage Roof Plan

Existing Garage North Elevation

Existing Garage South Elevation Existing Garage East Elevation

Existing Garage West Elevation

Refer to Existing Site Survey Plan for Location of

Garages Drawing No: 20-06-05

P
age 144



H

 
O

 
L

 
C

 
O

 
M

 
B

 
E

 
 
 
R

 
O

 
A

 
D

+

 
1

3

5

.
9

4

+

 
1

3

6

.
1

0

+136.4

+136.3

+

 
1

3

7

.
1

1

+

 
1

3

6

.
8

2

+137.5

136.3+

+136.5

136.7+

+136.5

134.1+

+134.1

136.85+

+

 
1

3

8

.
0

0

+

 
1

3

7

.
5

0

+

 
1

3

7

.
0

0

+

 
1

3

6

.
5

0

+137.5

+138.00

136.55

+136.85

+136.85

134.1+

134.1+

134.1+

+138.00

+138.00

+137.5

+137.5

+137.5

+137.5

+137.0

+137.0

137.0+

+136.85

+136.85

136.75+

+136.8

136.6+

136.5+

136.4+

N

O

R

T

H

Surface Water Soak-away

HOUSE

BARN

COTTAGE

V

i
s

i
b

i
l
i
t
y

 
s

p

l
a

y

N

e

w

 
s

t
o

n

e

 
g

a

r
d

e

n

 
w

a

l
l
 
m

a

x

 
h

e

i
g

h

t
 
4

5

0

m

m

 
a

b

o

v

e

 
g

r
o

u

n

d

 
l
e

v

e

l

New stone garden wall 450mm high

N
e
w

 
s
t
o
n
e
 
g
a
r
d
e
n
 
w

a
l
l
 
1
1
0
0
m

m
 
h
i
g
h

N
e
w

 
s
t
o
n
e
 
g
a
r
d
e
n
 
w

a
l
l
 
1
1
0
0
m

m
 
h
i
g
h

V

i
s

i
b

i
l
i
t
y

 
s

p

l
a

y

E

x

i
s

t
i
n

g

 
f
o

u

l
 
s

e

w

e

r

E

x

i
s

t
i
n

g

 
s

u

r
f
a

c

e

 
w

a

t
e

r
 
s

e

w

e

r

V

i
s

i
b

i
l
i
t
y

 
s

p

l
a

y

Existing tree

Existing tree

1
8
0
0
m

m
 
h
i
g
h
 
c
l
o
s
e
 
b
o
a
r
d
e
d
 
t
i
m

b
e
r
 
f
e
n
c
e

B
O

U
N

D
A

R
Y

BOUNDARY

Existing tree

Dense Vegetation

New Driveway of permeable

granular paving surface

B

O

U

N

D

A

R

Y

N

e

w

 
s

h

r
u

b

s

 
a

d

d

e

d

 
t
o

 
e

x

i
s

t
i
n

g

 
s

h

r
u

b

s

N

e

w

 
s

h

r
u

b

s

 
a

d

d

e

d

 
t
o

 
e

x

i
s

t
i
n

g

 
s

h

r
u

b

s

Existing tree

Existing tree

Existing tree

Existing tree

E

l
e

v

a

t
i
o

n

 
A

E

l
e

v

a

t
i
o

n

 
D

N

e

w

 
1

.
2

m

 
h

i
g

h

 
o

p

e

n

 
p

o

s

t
 
&

 
r
a

i
l
 
t
i
m

b

e

r
 
b

o

u

n

d

a

r
y

 
f
e

n

c

e

N

e

w

 
s

h

r
u

b

s

 
a

d

d

e

d

 
t
o

 
e

x

i
s

t
i
n

g

 
s

h

r
u

b

s

N

e

w

 
s

h

r
u

b

s

 
a

d

d

e

d

 
t
o

 
e

x

i
s

t
i
n

g

 
s

h

r
u

b

s

N

e

w

 
1

.
2

m

 
h

i
g

h

 
o

p

e

n

 
p

o

s

t
 
&

 
r
a

i
l
 
t
i
m

b

e

r
 
b

o

u

n

d

a

r
y

 
f
e

n

c

e

Grass

Grass

4

3

m

4

3

m

201

203

205

207

209

211

213

215

Photomontage B

Photomontage A

Existing Gate and stone pillars

rebuilt behind visibility splay

Existing gate

N

e

w

 
p

a

v

e

m

e

n

t
 
i
n

f
i
l
l
 
t
o

 
m

a

t
c

h

 
t
h

e

 
e

x

i
s

t
i
n

g

Bins

New Driveway of permeable

granular paving surface

E

l
e

v

a

t
i
o

n

 
B

E

l
e

v

a

t
i
o

n

 
C

G

a

b

i
o

n

 
R

e

t
a

i
n

i
n

g

 
W

a

l
l

G

a

b

i
o

n

 
R

e

t
a

i
n

i
n

g

 
W

a

l
l

2

9

m

Notes:

 and level datum using Leica GPS SmartNet data.

Abbreviations:

Stop Valve

Road Sign

Cable Stay

Vent Pipe

Safety Barrier

Wire Mesh

Floodlight

Gully

Flagpole

Post & Wire

Post & Rail

Kerb Outlet

Lamp Post

Utility marker

Letter Box

Junction box

Inspection Cover

Hydrant

Gas Valve

Invert Level

Ridge Level

Parapet Level

Rodding Eye

Road Name Plate

Post

Soffit Level

Parking Meter

Basement Light

British Telecom Cover

Conc Paving Slabs

Cable Television Cover

Electric Cover

British Telecom Cover

Litter Bin

Closed Board

Corrugated Iron

Chain Link

Conc Panel

Earthing Rod

Barbed Wire

Mixed Fencing

Electric Pole

Arch Level

Cover Level

Bed Level

Post & Chain

Iron Railings

Open Board

Eaves Level

Dilapidated Fence

Topographical Surveys

Threshold Level

Top of Fence Level

Top of Wall Level

Water Level

The survey has been related to the Ordnance Survey National Grid

Telephone Box

Traffic Light

Unable to Lift

Water Meter

Water Outlet

Telegraph Pole

Rain water pipe

Tree heights and spreads are estimated and specie identification cannot be assured.

Only features that are accessible/visible at the time of survey can be detailed.

There are no gaurantees offered on the drainage information supplied.

Should there be any discrepencies, inconsistencies,omissions or queries 

please contact Quickdraw Surveys Ltd as soon as possible for a resolution.  

Before commencing works please check important dimensions on-site.

Tree Schedule:

Station Coordinates:

Foul drain from United

Utilities records

Surface water from UU records

0m 2m 4m 6m 8m 10m

En-suite

Wardrobe

Bedroom 3

Cloak/Boot room

WC

Hall

Stairs

Rooflight

Utility

Garage

Bathroom

Bedroom 2 Bedroom 1

Lounge

Kitchen

Dining

Patio

Wardrobe

Sun-pipe

Air Source

Heatpump

Woodburner

Sun-pipe

6
.
6
m

5.9m

4
.
8
m

3.5m 6.9m

1
.
2
m

5.6m

3
.
6
m

16.3m

Rooflight

Steps

Plantroom

Study

Kitchenette

En-suite

Wardrobe

Bedroom 4

Sun-pipe

Lounge

Stairs

Patio

Stairs

Stairs

9.4m

6
.
6
m

1
1
.
4
m

5.9m3.5m

Wardrobe

FFL 137.0

4
.
3
5
m

2
.
1
m

Total Gross Floor Area

House 143m²

Garage 20m²

Total 163m²

Volume

Ground level 481m³

Lower Ground Level 217m³

Garage 56m³

Total Volume 754m³

4
.
2
m

2
.
1
m

FFL 137.0

FFL 134.25

FGL 134.1

4
.
3
5
m

2
.
1
m

4
.
2
m

m
2
.
7
m

4
.
2
m

2
.
1
m

4
.
2
m

2
.
1
m

FFL 137.0

FFL 134.25

FGL 134.1

4
.
8
m

0m 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m0m 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

0m 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

0m 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

0m 1m 2m 3m 4m 5m

Project

Drawing

Client

Scale

Drg. No.

Drg. Size

Date

NOTES

    This drawing is copyright.  No unauthorised copying of drawing

    without the express permission of the architect.

    Do not scale from prints.  Use figure dimensions only.

    Contractors to check all dimensions on site prior to

    commencement of works.

    All works to be carried out in accordance with current statutory

    Health and Safety Regulations.

    This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant

    consultants' and / or specialists' drawings / documents and any

    discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect

    before affected work commences.

REV.        AMENDMENTS                                                    DATE

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT: 216-218 HOLCOMBE

ROAD, GREENMOUNT, BURY BL8 4BQ

PROPOSED BLOCK PLAN & BUILDING PLANS

1:200 & 1:100 @ A1

MR N. MORDIN

20-06-27-B

A1

APRIL 2021

NPDwn. By

DO NOT SCALE DRAWING

Hilpsford         New Barn Lane         Rawtenstall          Lancashire       BB4 6HT

Tel: 01706218170
Email: mail@peeldesigns .co.uk
Web: www.peeldesigns.co.uk
RIBA Chartered Practice 20001293

Peel Design Partnership Ltd

Proposed Block Plan @ 1:200

Ground Floor @ 1:100

Elevation A schematic  @ 1:100

Elevation B schematic  @ 1:100

Lower Ground Floor @ 1:100

Elevation C schematic  @ 1:100

Elevation D schematic  @ 1:100

Rev A Layout & window amendments 21-04-20

Rev B Window removed from Garage, Bi-fold

doors added to lower ground 21-04-26

P
age 145



10m 2 3 4 5m

B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

Natural stone roofing tiles

Natural stone smooth cut

sills, lintels & mullions

PPC aluminium window

& door frames with

clear & frosted glazing

where indicated.

PPC Aluminium

Sliding-folding doors

Smooth cut natural

stone dental quoins

Natural stone filled

"Gabion" retaining wall

GARAGE

G.L. 134.25

Stainless steel chimney flue

B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

Clear glass Juliet balcony

Natural stone roofing tiles

PPC Aluminium

Sliding doors

PPC Aluminium

Sliding doors

PPC Aluminium

Sliding doors

PPC Aluminium

Sliding doors

PPC Aluminium

feature window

Natural stone filled

"Gabion" retaining wall

G.L. 134.25

G.L. 136.50

G.L. 136.85

SunpipeStainless steel chimney flue

NOTES

    This drawing is copyright.  No unauthorised copying of drawing

    without the express permission of the architect.

    Do not scale from prints.  Use figure dimensions only.

    Contractors to check all dimensions on site prior to

    commencement of works.

    All works to be carried out in accordance with current statutory

    Health and Safety Regulations.

    This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant

    consultants' and / or specialists' drawings / documents and any

    discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect

    before affected work commences.

REV.        AMENDMENTS                                                    DATE

Proposed Elevations @1:50

Proposed Southwest Elevation

Proposed Southeast Elevation

Project

Drawing

Client

Scale

Drg. No.

Drg. Size

Date

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT: 216-218 HOLCOMBE

ROAD, GREENMOUNT, BURY BL8 4BQ

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 1of 2

1:50 @ A1

MR N. MORDIN

20-06-28-B

A1

APRIL 2021

NPDwn. By

Hilpsford         New Barn Lane         Rawtenstall          Lancashire       BB4 6HT

Tel: 01706218170
Email: mail@peeldesigns .co.uk
Web: www.peeldesigns.co.uk
RIBA Chartered Practice 20001293

Peel Design Partnership Ltd

Rev A Sliding Folding doors to lower ground floor 21-04-26

Rev B Text removed 21-04-27

P
age 146



10m 2 3 4 5m

Natural stone roofing tiles

Smooth cut natural

stone dental quoins

Natural stone smooth cut

sills, lintels & mullions

PPC aluminium window

& door frames with

clear & frosted glazing

where indicated.

B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

Split face coursed natural stone

Main entrance

GARAGE

Conservation rooflights

Sunpipe

B
o

u
n

d
a

r
y

Natural stone roofing tiles

PPC Aluminium

Sliding doors

GARAGE

G.L. 136.85G.L. 136.85 G.L. 136.85

Split face coursed natural stone

NOTES

    This drawing is copyright.  No unauthorised copying of drawing

    without the express permission of the architect.

    Do not scale from prints.  Use figure dimensions only.

    Contractors to check all dimensions on site prior to

    commencement of works.

    All works to be carried out in accordance with current statutory

    Health and Safety Regulations.

    This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant

    consultants' and / or specialists' drawings / documents and any

    discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect

    before affected work commences.

REV.        AMENDMENTS                                                    DATE

Proposed Elevations @1:50

Proposed Northeast Elevation

Proposed Northwest Elevation

Project

Drawing

Client

Scale

Drg. No.

Drg. Size

Date

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT: 216-218 HOLCOMBE

ROAD, GREENMOUNT, BURY BL8 4BQ

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS 2 of 2

1:50 @ A1

MR N. MORDIN

20-06-29

A1

APRIL 2021

NPDwn. By

Hilpsford         New Barn Lane         Rawtenstall          Lancashire       BB4 6HT

Tel: 01706218170
Email: mail@peeldesigns .co.uk
Web: www.peeldesigns.co.uk
RIBA Chartered Practice 20001293

Peel Design Partnership Ltd

P
age 147



135.75

135.50

136.75

136.50

136.25

136.00

137.75

137.50

137.25

137.00

138.75

138.50

138.25

138.00

139.75

139.50

139.25

139.00

140.00

140.25

140.50

140.75

141.00

141.25

141.50

141.75

142.00

142.25

142.50

142.75

143.00

143.25

143.50

0m 2m 4m 6m 8m 10m

Holcombe Road

135.75

135.50

136.75

136.50

136.25

136.00

137.75

137.50

137.25

137.00

138.75

138.50

138.25

138.00

139.75

139.50

139.25

139.00

140.00

140.25

140.50

140.75

141.00

141.25

141.50

141.75

142.00

142.25

142.50

142.75

143.00

143.25

143.50

143.75

144.00

144.25

144.50

144.75

145.00

145.25

145.50

145.75

146.00

135.75

135.50

135.25

136.75

136.50

136.25

136.00

137.75

137.50

137.25

137.00

138.75

138.50

138.25

138.00

139.75

139.50

139.25

139.00

140.00

140.25

135.00

134.75

134.50

134.25

134.00

133.75

133.50

133.25

133.00

132.75

132.50

140.50

140.75

141.00

141.25

141.50

141.75

142.00

0m 2m 4m 6m 8m 10m

Project

Drawing

Client

Scale

Drg. No.

Drg. Size

Date

NOTES

    This drawing is copyright.  No unauthorised copying of drawing

    without the express permission of the architect.

    Do not scale from prints.  Use figure dimensions only.

    Contractors to check all dimensions on site prior to

    commencement of works.

    All works to be carried out in accordance with current statutory

    Health and Safety Regulations.

    This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant

    consultants' and / or specialists' drawings / documents and any

    discrepancies or variations are to be notified to the architect

    before affected work commences.

REV.        AMENDMENTS                                                    DATE

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT: 216-218 HOLCOMBE

ROAD, GREENMOUNT, BURY BL8 4BQ

PROPOSED STREET ELEVATION & SECTION

1:100 & 1:50 @ A1

MR N. MORDIN

20-06-19-D

A1

MARCH 2021

NPDwn. By

DO NOT SCALE DRAWING

Hilpsford         New Barn Lane         Rawtenstall          Lancashire       BB4 6HT

Tel: 01706218170
Email: mail@peeldesigns .co.uk
Web: www.peeldesigns.co.uk
RIBA Chartered Practice 20001293

Peel Design Partnership Ltd

Proposed Street Elevation @ 1:100

Rev A Roof Alterations 21-03-17

Rev B Roof Alterations 21-03-19

Proposed Street Section @ 1:100

Rev C Street Elevation & Section altered 21-03-22

Rev D Street Elevations & Sections altered 21-04-26

P
age 148



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
DECISION OF: 

 
PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 

 
26 September 2024  

 
SUBJECT: 

 
DELEGATED DECISIONS 

 
REPORT FROM: 

 
HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 

DAVID MARNO 
  

 
TYPE OF DECISION: 

 
COUNCIL  
 

FREEDOM OF 

INFORMATION/STATUS: 
This paper is within the public domain 
 

 
SUMMARY: 

 
The report lists: 
Recent delegated planning decisions since the last PCC 

 
OPTIONS & 

RECOMMENDED OPTION 

 
The Committee is recommended to the note the report 
and appendices 

 
IMPLICATIONS: 

 

 
Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework: 

 
Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework?  Yes   

Statement by the S151 Officer: 
Financial Implications and Risk 

Considerations: 

 
Executive Director of Resources to advise 
regarding risk management 

 
Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources: 

 
N/A 

 

 
Equality/Diversity implications: 

 
No  

 

 
Considered by Monitoring Officer: 

 
N/A 
 

 

 
Wards Affected: 

 

All listed 

 
Scrutiny Interest: 
 

 

N/A 

 

Agenda 

Item 

 

REPORT FOR NOTING 
5 

Page 149

Agenda Item 5



TRACKING/PROCESS   DIRECTOR: 

 

Chief Executive/ 

Strategic Leadership 
Team 

Executive 
Member/Chair 

Ward Members Partners 

 

 

   

Scrutiny Committee Committee Council  

 

 

   

    

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

This is a monthly report to the Planning Control Committee of the delegated planning 

decisions made by the officers of the Council.  

 
2.0 CONCLUSION  

 

That the item be noted. 

 

 

 

List of Background Papers:-None 

 

Contact Details:- 
 

David Marno, Head of Development Management  

Planning Services, Department for Resources and Regulation 

3 Knowsley Place 

Bury BL9 0EJ 
 

Tel: 0161 253 5291 

Email: d.marno@bury.gov.uk 

  

 
 

Page 150

mailto:d.marno@bury.gov.uk


Planning applications decided using Delegated Powers

Between and 16/08/2024 16/09/2024

Ward:

Raise No Objection21/08/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of Intention to Install 1 no. cabinet

John Spencer Hazelhurst, 258 Bolton Road West, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 9PX

REG5App. Type:71006Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Enquiry completed28/08/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of Intention to Install telecommunications cabinet and feeder pillar 

(FPC 1, 2 & 3)

Bury New Road, Prestwich (3 locations)

REG5App. Type:71011Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Raise No Objection16/08/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of Intention to Install telecommunications cabinet and feeder pillar 

(FPC 5)

Pilkington Way, Radcliffe

REG5App. Type:71013Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Raise No Objection16/08/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of Intention to Install telecommunications cabinet and feeder pillar 

(FPC 6)

Water Street, Radcliffe

REG5App. Type:71014Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Enquiry completed28/08/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of Intention to Install telecommunications cabinet and feeder pillar 

(FPC 7)

Manchester Road, Bury

REG5App. Type:71015Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Raise Objections28/08/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of Intention to Install telecommunications cabinet and feeder pillar 

(FPC 8)

Stopes Road, Radcliffe

REG5App. Type:71016Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Enquiry completed29/08/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of intention to install 1 no. telecommunications cabinet and feeder 

pillar (Bury/1/FPC/21/1)

Pavement opp 69 Bolton Road, Bury, BL8 2AR

REG5App. Type:71051Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Enquiry completed29/08/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of intention to install 1 no. telecommunications cabinet and feeder 

pillar (Bury/1/FPC/23/1)

Pavement adj Elms Square, Bury New Road, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7TA

REG5App. Type:71052Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Raise No Objection29/08/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of intention to install 1 no. telecommunications cabinet and feeder 

pillar (Bury/1/FPC/24/1; Bury/1/FPC/25/1)

2 x sites adj Morrisons, Stanley Street, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 8QH

REG5App. Type:71053Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

16/09/2024Page 1 of 10

Page 151



Raise Objections04/09/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of intention to install 1 no. telecommunications cabinet and feeder 

pillar (Bury/1/FPC/27/1; Bury/1/FPC/28/1)

2 x sites, roundabout at Valley Park Road/Bury New Road & pavement o/s 508 Bury New 

Road, Prestwich, M25 3TG

REG5App. Type:71054Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Raises No Objection Subject to Condition06/09/2024

Regulation 5 Notice of intention to install 1 no. telecommunications cabinet and feeder 

pillar (Bury/1/FPC/29/1)

Pavement adj Friendship Inn, Scholes Lane, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0PD

REG5App. Type:71055Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Bury EastWard:

Approve with Conditions22/08/2024

Change of use of first/second/loft floor from offices (Class E) to 4 no. flats (Class C3) with 

proposed rear access for commercial unit 2 and additional rear access and bin storage

77-79 The Rock, Bury, BL9 0NB

FULApp. Type:70736Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions30/08/2024

Single storey extension at rear

9 Primrose Court, Pimhole, Bury, BL9 7EZ

FULApp. Type:70902Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions03/09/2024

Two storey/single storey rear extension

18 Greywood Avenue, Bury, BL9 7QY

FULApp. Type:70928Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Prior Approval Not Required - Extension28/08/2024

Prior approval for single storey rear extension

27 South Cross Street, Bury, BL9 0RS

GPDEApp. Type:70936Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Bury East - MoorsideWard:

Approve with Conditions16/08/2024

Hipped to gable roof conversion with a flat roof dormer to the rear.

32 The Drive, Bury, BL9 5DG

FULApp. Type:70866Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions30/08/2024

Variation of condition no. 2 (approved plans) of planning permission 70253: Reduction of 

the overall height of two retail units, removal of glazing to the north elevation (facing into 

the site), minor amends to the design of the curtain walling and glazing.

Site of Car Time, Bell Lane, Bury, BL9 6BB

FULApp. Type:70945Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions10/09/2024

Single storey rear extension

83 Kingfisher Drive, Bury, BL9 6JF

FULApp. Type:70978Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

16/09/2024Page 2 of 10

Page 152



Bury East - RedvalesWard:

Approve with Conditions29/08/2024

First floor extension to existing detached outbuilding with external staircase at side

183 Parkhills Road, Bury, BL9 9AF

FULApp. Type:70824Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions05/09/2024

Two storey extension at rear (including basement level)

68 Gigg Lane, Bury, BL9 9HU

FULApp. Type:70840Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions16/08/2024

Change of use from dwelling (Class C3) to 8 bedroom (single occupancy) house in multiple 

occupation (HMO) (Sui Generis), loft conversion with rear dormer, roof light at front and 

associated works

29 Parliament Street, Bury, BL9 0TE

FULApp. Type:70842Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions21/08/2024

Demolition of existing rear conservatory and replace with single storey rear summer 

house. Replacement of existing timber window frames with high performance windows; 

Repairs to front entrance doorway surround; Reduce levels to external path to side of 

property.

108 Manchester Road, Bury, BL9 0TH

FULApp. Type:70909Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions21/08/2024

Listed building consent for proposed demolition of existing rear conservatory and 

replacement with single storey rear summer house. Replacement of existing timber 

window frames with high performance windows. Repairs to moulding to front entrance 

doorway surround and reduced levels to external path to side of property.

108 Manchester Road, Bury, BL9 0TH

LBCApp. Type:70910Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions30/08/2024

Two storey side/rear extension; Single storey rear extension; Hip to gable loft conversion 

with rear dormer and 2 no. front velux windows; Front porch; 2 no. front pike windows; 

New driveway to the front and new vehicular access/dropped kerb.

7 Grosvenor Street, Bury, BL9 9BJ

FULApp. Type:70939Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions11/09/2024

Change of use from offices (Class E) to 2 no. dwellings (Class C3) Reinstating 1m high 

metal fence along boundary

Bury Family Centre, 72-74 Tenters Street, Bury, BL9 0HL

FULApp. Type:70965Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Bury West - Church (Historic)Ward:

Approve with Conditions16/08/2024

Single storey rear extension; Garage conversion

273 Ainsworth Road, Bury, BL8 2LS

FULApp. Type:70876Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Bury West - EltonWard:

16/09/2024Page 3 of 10

Page 153



Approve with Conditions22/08/2024

Single storey  / two storey extension at side; single storey / two storey extension at side / 

rear; first floor balcony with glazed balustrade and external alterations

43 Woodhill Fold, Bury, BL8 1UY

FULApp. Type:70843Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions10/09/2024

Single storey front extension

49 Rudgwick Drive, Bury, BL8 1YE

FULApp. Type:70950Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

North ManorWard:

Approve with Conditions13/09/2024

Two storey side extension; Addition of first floor window to side elevation

18 Pot Green, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 9RG

FULApp. Type:70818Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions19/08/2024

Single storey extension at side / rear including timber cladding to front, side and rear 

elevations

4 Swan Road, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL8 4ES

FULApp. Type:70923Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions30/08/2024

Demolition of existing garden shelter and replaced with new garden room

Greenhalgh Fold Cottage, Whipney Lane, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4HT

FULApp. Type:70925Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions30/08/2024

Listed building consent for demolition of existing garden shelter and replaced with new 

garden room

Greenhalgh Fold Cottage, Whipney Lane, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4HT

LBCApp. Type:70926Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Prestwich - HolyroodWard:

Approve with Conditions19/08/2024

Front porch, part single storey / two storey side and rear extensions; flat roof dormer 

extension at rear; and the installation of 3 no. roof lights at front

108 Heywood Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1LE

FULApp. Type:70873Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions22/08/2024

Single storey side extension; New access of driveway and vehicular dropped crossing

9 Nursery Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 3EW

FULApp. Type:70890Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Lawful Development30/08/2024

Lawful development certificate for proposed single storey side extension replacing existing 

garage

24 Brooklawn Drive, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 2GS

LDCPApp. Type:70900Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

16/09/2024Page 4 of 10

Page 154



Approve with Conditions21/08/2024

Two storey/single storey rear extension with balcony roof

8 Droughts Lane, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 2ST

FULApp. Type:70952Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions11/09/2024

Loft conversion with raised ridge and rear dormer

34 St Josephs Avenue, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 6NT

FULApp. Type:70984Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions10/09/2024

Single storey rear extension

95 Polefield Hall Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 2WW

FULApp. Type:70988Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Prior Approval Not Required - Extension05/09/2024

Prior approval for proposed single storey rear extension

22 Willingdon Drive, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1PA

GPDEApp. Type:71008Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Prestwich - SedgleyWard:

Approve with Conditions06/09/2024

Erection of a retail unit (Use Class E(a)) and Synagogue (Use Class F1(f)) with associated 

car parking, landscaping, associated excavation works, access arrangement and addition 

of basement for use for storage. Removal of internal stairwell from previously approved 

application 63054 (Part Retrospective)

Former Texaco Garage, Bury Old Road, Prestwich, M25 0HH

FULApp. Type:69164Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Refused09/09/2024

Erection of building comprising of 7 no. apartments with associated parking and 

landscaping

Land between 205-211 Bury Old Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1JF

FULApp. Type:70561Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions20/08/2024

First floor extension and porch at front, two storey extension at front/side/rear and single 

storey extension at side/rear

33 Bland Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9NW

FULApp. Type:70791Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions22/08/2024

Two storey side extension

62 Brooklands Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0ED

FULApp. Type:70817Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions22/08/2024

First floor front extension

20 Winchester Avenue, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0LJ

FULApp. Type:70821Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

16/09/2024Page 5 of 10

Page 155



Refused19/08/2024

Variation of condition no. 3 following approval of planning permission 69740 - Opening 

hours to be extended from Sunday-Thursday 10:00-00:00 hrs and Friday-Saturday 

10:00-02:00 hrs (as approved) to be Sunday-Thursday 10:00-01:00 hrs and 

Friday-Saturday 10:00-03:00 hrs (extended)

53 Bury Old Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0FG

FULApp. Type:70907Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions22/08/2024

Single storey rear and front extensions

20 Harrogate Avenue, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0LT

FULApp. Type:70972Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions11/09/2024

Demolition of existing single storey side/rear extension and erection of single storey 

side/rear extension

31 Bury Old Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0EY

FULApp. Type:70982Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions09/09/2024

Single storey extension at side

5 Woodhill Grove, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0AE

FULApp. Type:71037Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Lawful Development09/09/2024

Lawful Development Certificate for proposed single storey rear extension

70 Sheepfoot Lane, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 0DN

LDCPApp. Type:71139Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Prestwich - St Mary'sWard:

Approve with Conditions19/08/2024

Alterations to side elevation to include reinstatement of door and window; 2 no. existing 

windows to be replaced with 2 no. double doors; Installation of extraction duct to side 

elevation.

460 Bury New Road, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 1AX

FULApp. Type:70781Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Refused16/08/2024

Variation of condition no. 2 (approved plans) of planning permission 66779: Amendment 

to cill heights, omission of some windows and balcony; reduction in the length of the 

boundary retaining wall and change from brickwork to a white render

10 Butterstile Lane, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9PW

FULApp. Type:70852Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions19/08/2024

Single storey extension at front/side with steps into garden

2 Butt Hill Avenue, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9PN

FULApp. Type:70892Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions02/09/2024

Single storey side and rear extensions; white render to all elevations; 2m high fence on 

rear boundary and paving of front garden

4 Crosslands, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9QT

FULApp. Type:70947Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

16/09/2024Page 6 of 10

Page 156



Approve with Conditions13/09/2024

Loft conversion with side and rear dormers

7 Butt Hill Avenue, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9PN

FULApp. Type:70968Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Lawful Development20/08/2024

Lawful development certificate for proposed hip to gable loft conversion with dormer at 

rear and rooflight at front

11 Grundy Avenue, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 9TG

LDCPApp. Type:70986Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Radcliffe - North and AinsworthWard:

Refused16/08/2024

Erection of 12 no. garages - 2 identical blocks of 6 units each

Land at rear of Westminster Avenue, Radcliffe, M26 3WD

FULApp. Type:70808Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions02/09/2024

Siting of caravan on land for residential occupation

Land off Chaucer Avenue, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 3QS

FULApp. Type:70853Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Refused16/08/2024

Lawful development certificate for proposed rear dormer and rear single storey extension

20 Bradley Fold Road, Radcliffe, Bolton, BL2 5QD

LDCPApp. Type:70885Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Lawful Development13/09/2024

Lawful development certificate for proposed single storey side extension with hipped roof.

25 Boundary Drive, Radcliffe, Bolton, BL2 6SE

LDCPApp. Type:70944Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Radcliffe - WestWard:

Approve with Conditions09/09/2024

Two storey side extension; Single storey rear extension; Render to all elevations

8 Near Hey Close, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 3YY

FULApp. Type:70875Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions20/08/2024

Single storey rear/side extension

13 Coronation Road, Radcliffe, Manchester, M26 3RA

FULApp. Type:70963Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

RamsbottomWard:

Approve with Conditions28/08/2024

Installation of an Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) at rear

10 Rake Fold, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL8 4ND

FULApp. Type:70668Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

16/09/2024Page 7 of 10

Page 157



Approve with Conditions29/08/2024

Change of use from vacant warehouse to pilates studio; and replacement of first floor 

opening to a glazed window

6 Paradise Street, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 9BS

FULApp. Type:70832Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions21/08/2024

Two storey extension at side/rear; Single storey front/side/rear extension to include 

white/grey render to all elevations

156 Nuttall Lane, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL0 9LE

FULApp. Type:70845Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions11/09/2024

Relocate stable block to land at the rear and addition of a memorial clock tower to existing 

stable block

Margaret Haes Riding Centre Ltd, Moor Road, Ramsbottom, Bury, BL8 4NX

FULApp. Type:70856Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

TottingtonWard:

Approve with Conditions30/08/2024

Single storey / two storey rear extensions; first floor balcony at side; dormer window at 

rear and external alterations

2 Bentley Meadows, Walshaw, Bury, BL8 3GL

FULApp. Type:70863Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Lawful Development02/09/2024

Lawful development certificate for existing single storey extension to the rear of the 

property

16 Campbell Close, Tottington, Bury, BL8 3BB

LDCEApp. Type:70884Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions19/08/2024

Single storey side extension

250 Turton Road, Tottington, Bury, BL8 4AJ

FULApp. Type:70886Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions29/08/2024

Single storey side and rear extension

6 Royds Close, Tottington, Bury, BL8 3QD

FULApp. Type:70916Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Prior Approval Not required11/09/2024

Prior approval for proposed agricultural building

Land on Bentley Hall Lane, BL8 3PH

AGApp. Type:71102Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Whitefield + Unsworth - BessesWard:

Approve with Conditions06/09/2024

Variation of condition nos 15 & 22 following approval of planning permission 68691:

Condition 15 (to construct the drainage through the offsite shared driveway) - to a 

connection to the combined sewer within the site

Condition 22 (to provide 14x affordable rent and 16x shared ownership) - to 14 Shared 

Ownership Units and 16 Affordable Rent

Land off Victoria Avenue, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 6DP

FULApp. Type:70809Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

16/09/2024Page 8 of 10

Page 158



Approve with Conditions09/09/2024

First floor/two storey extension at rear

13 Prestfield Road, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 6BD

FULApp. Type:70883Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions21/08/2024

Two storey side/rear extension; Single storey rear extension; Front porch

21 Thatch Leach Lane, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 6EN

FULApp. Type:70891Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions19/08/2024

First floor side extension

41 Alexander Drive, Bury, BL9 8PF

FULApp. Type:70917Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Prior Approval Required and Granted28/08/2024

Prior approval for proposed installation of a 20m radio base station supporting 6 no. 

antennas, 2 no. transmission dishes, 3 no. RRUs and ancillary development including 2 

no. equipment cabinets and GPS module.

Opposite 15 Albert Road, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 8NN

TELApp. Type:70927Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Lawful Development10/09/2024

Lawful development certificate for proposed single storey rear extension

23 Roch Crescent, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 8LR

LDCPApp. Type:70975Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Whitefield + Unsworth - Pilkington ParkWard:

Approve with Conditions05/09/2024

Two storey side extension

10 Nuttall Mews, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 6QZ

FULApp. Type:70235Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions20/08/2024

Single storey flat roof rear extension

7 Hawkstone Avenue, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7PG

FULApp. Type:70929Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Whitefield + Unsworth - UnsworthWard:

Approve with Conditions16/08/2024

Change of use of vacant land to accommodate 2 no. static caravans for a temporary period 

of 2 years

Land to south of Brick House Farm, Griffe Lane, Bury, BL9 8QS

FULApp. Type:70658Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions16/08/2024

Replacement of 1.2m high wooden fence panels with 1.85m high wooden fence panels to 

the side/rear boundary

17 Bloomfield Drive, Bury, BL9 8JX

FULApp. Type:70703Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

16/09/2024Page 9 of 10

Page 159



Lawful Development23/08/2024

Lawful development certificate for proposed: Creation of additional 'Hole 17a', including a 

new green, tee area and sand bunkers, on land currently used as a golf practice area; 

Creation of a new golf practice area on land currently forming part of 'Hole 17' and 

adjacent grassland; Creation of a new tee area for 'Hole 18'.

Pike Fold Golf Club, Hills Lane, Bury, BL9 8QP

LDCPApp. Type:70899Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Lawful Development20/08/2024

Lawful development certificate for proposed erection of rear dormer

14 Whalley Road, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 8UZ

LDCPApp. Type:70941Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

Approve with Conditions09/09/2024

1 no. internally illuminated lettering sign;  3 no. refurbished internally illuminated 

lettering signs;  1 no. refurbished totem sign; 2 no. replacement totem signs; 4 no. twin 

post signs; 56 no. non-illuminated informative signs of various designs; 1 no. internally 

illuminated fascia sign; 12 no. notice panels of various designs; 3 no. sets of vinyl glazing 

graphics;  vinyl applied to existing petrol station canopy; 31 no. non-illuminated 

informative signs of various designs within petrol station

Asda Stores Ltd, Park 66, Bury, BL9 8RS

ADVApp. Type:70943Application No.:

Location:

Proposal:

 83 Total Number of Applications Decided:

16/09/2024Page 10 of 10

Page 160



 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
DECISION OF: 

 
PLANNING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: 

 
26 September 2024 

 
SUBJECT: 

 
PLANNING APPEALS 

 
REPORT FROM: 

 
HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 

DAVID MARNO 
  

 
TYPE OF DECISION: 

 
COUNCIL  
 

FREEDOM OF 

INFORMATION/STATUS: 
This paper is within the public domain 
 

 
SUMMARY: 

 
Planning Appeals:                       

- Lodged                     

- Determined                 

 

Enforcement Appeals 

- Lodged                        

- Determined                  

 
OPTIONS & 

RECOMMENDED OPTION 

 
The Committee is recommended to the note the report 

and appendices 

 
IMPLICATIONS: 

 

 
Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework: 

 
Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework?  Yes   

Statement by the S151 Officer: 
Financial Implications and Risk 

Considerations: 

 
Executive Director of Resources to advise 
regarding risk management 

 
Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources: 

 
N/A 
 

 
Equality/Diversity implications: 

 
No  

 

 
Considered by Monitoring Officer: 

 
N/A 
 

 

  

Agenda 

Item 

 

REPORT FOR NOTING 
6 

Page 161

Agenda Item 6



Wards Affected: All listed 

 
Scrutiny Interest: 
 

 

N/A 

 

TRACKING/PROCESS   DIRECTOR: 
 

Chief Executive/ 

Strategic Leadership 
Team 

Executive 
Member/Chair 

Ward Members Partners 

 

 

   

Scrutiny Committee Committee Council  

 

 

   

    

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

This is a monthly report to the Committee of the Planning Appeals lodged against 

decisions of the authority and against Enforcement Notices served and those that have 
been subsequently determined by the Planning Inspectorate.  

 

Attached to the report are the Inspectors Decisions and a verbal report will be presented 

to the Committee on the implications of the decisions on the Appeals that were upheld. 

 

2.0 CONCLUSION  
 

That the item be noted. 

 

 

List of Background Papers:-  

 

Contact Details:- 

David Marno, Head of Development Management 
Planning Services, Department for Resources and Regulation, 

3 Knowsley Place ,Bury     BL9 0EJ 

Tel: 0161 253 5291  

Email: d.marno@bury.gov.uk 

Page 162

mailto:d.marno@bury.gov.uk


Planning Appeals Decided 

 between 14/08/2024 and 16/09/2024

Proposal:

73A Simister Lane, Prestwich, Manchester, M25 2SULocation:

First floor side extension; garage conversion to habitable space; raise roof 

ridge height, loft conversion with rear dormers; front porch; electric gate on 

front boundary and elevational changes to existing facade/windows

Applicant:

Date: 28/08/2024

Mr Chris Prest

Decision level: DEL

Recommended Decision: Refuse Appeal type: Written Representations

Application No.: 69923/FUL Appeal Decision: Dismissed

Proposal:

Storage unit to the rear of 2C Green Street, Bury, BL8 1TFLocation:

Change of use from storage unit to 1 no. dwelling (Use Class C3)

Applicant:

Date: 15/08/2024

Mr P Sanghani

Decision level: DEL

Recommended Decision: Refuse Appeal type: Written Representations

Application No.: 70120/FUL Appeal Decision: Dismissed

Proposal:

21 Philips Drive, Whitefield, Manchester, M45 7PYLocation:

First floor front extension

Applicant:

Date: 28/08/2024

Mr Lee Hoppley

Decision level: DEL

Recommended Decision: Refuse Appeal type: Written Representations

Application No.: 70236/FUL Appeal Decision: Dismissed

Proposal:

Performance House, Heywood Street, Bury, BL9 7DZLocation:

Change of use of part of car showroom (Sui Generis) to retail (Class E(a)) and 

office (Class E(g)(i)), single storey extension and external alterations

Applicant:

Date: 12/09/2024

Mr H Khan

Decision level: DEL

Recommended Decision: Refuse Appeal type: Written Representations

Application No.: 70461/FUL Appeal Decision: Allowed

Page 163



 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/24/3337479 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 19 August 2024  
 

by R Major BSc (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 28 August 2024 
Appeal Ref: APP/T4210/D/24/3337479 

73A Simister Lane, Prestwich, Bury M25 2SU  

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission. 
• The appeal is made by Mr Chris Prest against the decision of Bury Metropolitan 

Borough Council. 
• The application Ref is 69923. 

• The development proposed is first floor side extension on top of original 
garage, single storey front porch extension, raise existing roof height, new 
dormers to rear, convert loft, elevational changes to existing façade/windows. 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. Since the appeal was submitted the Council has adopted the Places for Everyone1 
Joint Development Plan as part of the Development Plan for Bury. The main parties 
were given the opportunity to comment on this adopted plan and its relevance in 

relation to the appeal proposal. 

3. On 30 July 2024 the Government published a consultation on proposed reforms to 

the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and other changes to the 
planning system. Whilst a direction of travel has been outlined within the Written 
Ministerial Statement, which is a material consideration, the changes to the 

Framework can only be given limited weight at this stage, given that no final 
document has been published. 

4. In any event, the policies that are material to this decision are not subject to any 
fundamental changes, and I am satisfied that this has not prejudiced any party. 
Consequently, in reaching my decision I have therefore had regard to the 

Framework published in December 2023. 

 

 

 
1 Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Document for Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Salford, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan 2022 to 2039, Adopted 21 March 2024.   

Page 164

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/24/3337479 

Main Issues 

5. The main issues are:  

• whether the proposal would be inappropriate development in the Green 
Belt having regard to the Framework and relevant development plan 

policies; and 

• the effect on the character and appearance of the area;  

Reasons 

Whether inappropriate development 

6. The appeal site is within land defined as Green Belt. The Framework identifies that 

the fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping 
land permanently open, with the essential characteristics of the Green Belt being 
their openness and permanence. The Framework goes on to state that 

inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and should 
not be approved except in very special circumstances.  

7. The Framework further establishes that the construction of new buildings in the 
Green Belt should be regarded as inappropriate, subject to a number of exceptions 
as set out in paragraph 154. One such exception, criterion (c), being the extension 

or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in disproportionate 
additions over and above the size of the original building. 

8. Policy OL1/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan 1997 (UDP) also states that 
the construction of new buildings inside the Green Belt is inappropriate, unless 

one or more of a number of purposes apply. Of these listed purposes, bullet point 
three includes limited extension or alteration of existing dwellings, provided that 
this would not result in disproportionate additions over and above the size of the 

original dwelling. As such, UDP Policy OL1/2 conforms with the provision of the 
Framework.  

9. I note the Council’s Officer Report refers to case law2 in respect of assessing the 
impact on openness. However, as established within the Lee Valley case3, this 
requirement is not a test within paragraph 154 of the Framework, which only 

requires openness to be taken into account when it is expressly stated as a 
determining factor in gauging inappropriateness.  

10. As such there is no requirement to assess the impact of the extensions and 
alterations to a building on the openness of the Green Belt, or the visual impact of 
the proposal, when determining whether or not it constitutes inappropriate 

development. The determining factor is therefore whether or not the proposed 
extensions and alterations result in disproportionate additions over the size of the 

original dwelling.        

11. In this context, the Framework does not define what may constitute a 
disproportionate addition. An assessment of whether the proposal would be 

disproportionate to the original building is therefore a matter of planning 

 
2 Turner v SSCLG & East Dorest Council [2016] EWCA 466 
3 Lee Valley Regional Park Authority, R (on the application of) v Epping Forest District Council & Anor (Rev1) 
[2016] EWHCA Civ 404 

Page 165

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/24/3337479 

judgement. However, the overall size (footprint and volume) of the original building 
in comparison to the proposed extended building is clearly an important factor. 

12. The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document: Development Control Policy 
Guidance Note 8 – New Buildings & Associated Development in the Green Belt - 

January 2007 (SPD8) sets out that residential extensions should be proportionate 
to the size of the original building and that the Council may allow an extension to 
be up to a third of the volume of the original dwelling. It further states that each 

proposal will be considered on its own merits and even an increase up to a third 
may not be appropriate in certain situations (e.g. if the site is a particularly 

sensitive area or if there are other amenity issues). 

13. The appellant has provided volume calculations to show that the appeal scheme 
would result in a volume increase of 30% above that of the original dwelling and 

this figure is not disputed by the Council. As such the appeal scheme would 
adhere to the guidance within SPD8 regarding volume increases arising from 

extensions to buildings within the Green Belt.  

14. I acknowledge that the figure in the SPD is a guide only and that there may be 
circumstances where extensions of less than a third are still considered to be 

disproportionate. Nevertheless, in this case the proposed first-floor extension and 
raising of the roof, which includes the construction of rear dormers, would be 

confined to within the existing width and depth of the dwelling and would 
therefore not result in any increase in the footprint of the original building. 

15. Furthermore, and notwithstanding its impact upon the character and appearance 
of the area which is discussed in further detail below, I consider the raising of the 
ridge to be proportionate in comparison to the overall scale and height of the 

existing building.    

16. Having regard to the above, in my judgement the proposal would not result in 

disproportionate additions to the original building in terms of size, and it therefore 
falls within the exception at paragraph 154 (c) of the Framework. I therefore 
conclude that the proposed development would not be inappropriate development 

in the Green Belt and accords with UDP Policy OL1/2, as well as the provisions of 
the Framework. Furthermore, I have found that the proposal complies with the 

guidance contained within SPD8. 

17. As I have found that the proposal would not be inappropriate development in the 
Green Belt, there is no place for a subsequent assessment of the effect of the 

development on the openness of the Green Belt, or the impact on Green Belt 
purposes.  

18. Additionally, given the proposed development would not amount to inappropriate 
development, there is no need for me to assess other considerations, and whether 
very special circumstances exist in order to justify the development.   

 Character and appearance 

19. The appeal relates to a two-storey detached dwelling, with an integral side 

garage, within the semi-rural village of Simister. The property is located within 
a relatively long ribbon of built development occupying both sides of the road.  

20. I observed on site that there are a variety of house styles, designs and ridge 

heights within this ribbon of development, reflecting the various different ages 

Page 166

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/24/3337479 

of the properties. However, the appeal property is located centrally within a row 
of three detached dwellings which appear to be almost identical in size, scale, 

height and design. I did note that the appeal property has a slightly different 
roof design above its integral garage and front porch / canopy in caparison to 

the properties either side, however collectively this row of three similar 
properties creates a positive feature on an otherwise varied street scene.  

21. Furthermore, the single storey garage to the side of each property in this row 

creates a gap between each dwelling at first floor level. These gaps afford visual 
relief from the built development along this street, as well as providing a view of 

the wooded area to the rear (north) of the appeal site, thereby adding to the 
pleasant, green and leafy character of this area. As such, the existing gap 
provided at first-floor level on each of the properties in this row currently makes 

a positive contribution to the appearance of the street scene.  

22. The proposed first-floor side extension above the side garage, and the raising of 

the ridge height, would increase the height and bulk of the dwelling, resulting in 
it being more visually prominent and dominant on the street than the existing 
building and the similar dwellings either side. Whilst acknowledging the proposal 

has been designed to retain and replicate existing features of the dwelling, 
including the front gable feature on the first-floor extension, as a result of its 

scale and size the proposed extensions and alterations would create an overly 
dominant and oppressive building in this locality.     

23. The proposal would also disrupt the existing continuity provided by this row of 
three properties, as well as significantly reducing the gap at first floor level 
between the appeal property and the neighbouring dwelling at No. 75 Simister 

Lane. The narrowing of this gap would result in harm to the street scene by 
reducing the aforementioned pleasant views of the trees within the wooded area 

to the rear.      

24. Additionally, the raising of the ridge height would not only look out of place in 
comparison to the properties either side, but also alter the pitch and slope of the 

roof plane. Thus, not only would the raising of the ridge height, along with the 
first-floor extension, result in the appeal dwelling being the dominant property in 

this row of three dwellings when viewed directly from the front, but also when 
approaching from either direction on Simister Lane the proposed roof plane / slope 
would sit forward of, and above, the properties either side. This only adds further 

visual harm to the character and appearance of this row of three properties and 
the wider street scene in general.  

25. Accordingly, I conclude that the appeal scheme would significantly harm the character 
and appearance of the surrounding area. The proposal is therefore contrary to UDP 
Policy H2/3 where it seeks to ensure, among other things, that development is 

sympathetic in nature with the surrounding area by reason of shape, design, and 
external appearance.  

26. The proposal also fails to comply with the Council’s Supplementary Planning  
Document 6: Alterations and Extensions to Residential Properties (adopted 2004 and 
updated 2010) where it seeks to achieve a high standard of design and to ensure that 

proposals do not have a detrimental impact on the character and appearance of 
neighbouring properties and general street scene.  

 

Page 167

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/24/3337479 

Other Matters 

27. The appellant has made reference to the number of additions that have been 

approved and constructed at other nearby properties in the area. Whilst I 
acknowledged earlier that the wider street scene includes a variety of house types, 

heights and designs, I have limited information before me as to the planning 
history of all these other properties to draw any direct comparisons with the appeal 
scheme.  

28. My attention has however been specifically drawn to extensions and alterations at 
No. 85 Simister Lane (No. 85). Again, I do not have all the details before me in 

respect of the full planning history of this property. Nevertheless, having reviewed 
the approved plans at No. 85 that have been provided as part of this appeal, I note 
that this proposal did not appear to include any raising of the ridge height, as 

proposed by the appeal scheme. Furthermore, I observed on site that the 
properties immediately surrounding No. 85 differ in size and design. As such, I do 

not consider the approved extensions at No.85 are directly comparable to the 
appeal scheme.  

29. Notwithstanding the above, the existence of other extensions in the area does not 

justify the harm I have identified, and I have determined the appeal on its own 
merits against the most up-to-date planning policies.         

30. I note the appellant comments that the proposal primarily intends to allow more 
useable area on the upper floors to accommodate their growing family. Limited 

information is before me as to those circumstances and I have limited evidence that 
this scheme is the only practical option for extending this property. I do not 
therefore find that the personal circumstances of the appellant to extend the 

property outweigh the harm I have found the appeal proposal would have on the 
character and appearance of the surrounding area. 

Conclusion 

31. The proposed development would not constitute inappropriate development within 
the Green Belt. However, the appeal scheme would have an unacceptable harmful 

impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  

32. The proposal therefore conflicts with the development plan when taken as a whole 

and the material considerations do not indicate that the appeal should be decided 
other than in accordance with it. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the 
appeal should be dismissed.  

 

R Major  

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 168

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 2 July 2024  
by H Senior BA (Hons) MCD MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 15 August 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/T4210/W/24/3338881 

Detached storage unit, Green St, Bury BL8 1TF  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr P Sanghani against the decision of Bury Metropolitan Borough 

Council. 

• The application Ref is 70120. 

• The development proposed is change of use from storage unit to dwelling. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. On 21 March 2024, after the appeal was submitted, the Council adopted the 
Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Document (PfE) as part of its 

Development Plan. The Council have referenced the updated policies of the PfE 
in its statement, which the appellant has had an opportunity to comment on. 

Main Issues 

3. The main issues are: 

• the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area,  

• whether acceptable living conditions would be provided for future 
occupiers of the development with regard to amenity space and outlook, 

• the effect of the proposal on highway safety, 

• whether acceptable living conditions would be provided for neighbouring 

occupiers with regard to access. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance   

4. The proposal relates to an existing storage unit and is a single storey, flat 
roofed building, accessed off Green Street via an access track. It lies to the 

rear of an existing dwelling and abuts the rear boundaries of dwellings on 
Tottington Road and Lomond Drive. The area is predominantly residential 
although there is some commercial development along Green Street. The 

surrounding buildings are two-storey terraced, semi-detached or detached 
dwellings of a similar height and massing each with a frontage to the 

surrounding streets. The existing building is unassuming and, due to recent 
development in its foreground, it has limited presence within its surroundings. 

Page 169

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/24/3338881

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. The appeal scheme is for a change of use of the building to a one-bedroom 

dwelling with amenity space to the front along with close boarded timber 
fencing to enclose the space and bin store.  

6. The use of the single storey storage unit as a dwelling and the introduction of 
the space and associated enclosures would fundamentally change its character. 
This would fail to reflect the predominant scale and mass of surrounding 

dwellings or their plot sizes. In addition, it would not have a street frontage 
due to the buildings position to the rear of the plot so it would not reflect the 

character of the area and would create an incongruous and inharmonious form 
of development. 

7. I conclude that the proposal would harm the character and appearance of the 

area. It would conflict with Policies EN1/2, H2/1, H2/2, H2/4 and H2/6 of the 
Bury Unitary Development Plan (UDP) and Policy JP-H4 of the PfE which 

together amongst other matters seek to ensure that development makes a 
positive contribution to the quality if the surrounding area and is at a density 
appropriate to the location. It would also conflict with guidance in the National 

Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) which has similar aims. 

Living conditions for future occupiers  

8. The close boarded fence would be approximately 2 metres high and would be in 
close proximity to the front of the building, in particular to the bedroom 
window. According to the submitted plans this would be the only window 

serving the bedroom as the windows currently on the side elevation are not 
shown on the proposed elevation. This would limit the outlook from this room 

creating an enclosed and oppressive environment limiting the occupier’s 
enjoyment of the room. 

9. Whilst all the land proposed for outdoor amenity space appears to be within the 

appellant’s ownership, as shown by the blue line, a sizeable portion of the 
space adjacent to the bathroom of the dwelling and the proposed fence line 

would fall outside of the site edged red on the site plan. This is unusual and the 
lines should normally be the same. However, this is not a matter that can be 
addressed through the appeal process. The proposed space would, 

nonetheless, be small and enclosed by the fencing, so future occupiers would 
experience it as an oppressive space with limited outlook.  While some 

surrounding houses have outlook onto gardens of a similar size to the proposal, 
these have dual aspects toward the streets, including from first floor rooms, so 
are not comparable with the proposal.  

10. I conclude that the proposal would not provide acceptable living conditions for 
future occupiers of the development with regard to amenity space and outlook. 

It would conflict with Policies H1/2, H2/1, H2/2 of the UDP and Policy JP-P1 of 
the PfE which together amongst other matters seek to ensure that 

development has a positive impact on residential amenity and is functional and 
convenient. It would also conflict with guidance in Supplementary Planning 
Document 6 Alterations and Extensions to Residential Properties and the 

Framework which have similar aims.  

Highway safety  

11. The proposal would be accessed via an existing track from Green Street which 
would have been the access to the storage unit when it was in use, although 

Page 170

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/24/3338881

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

this does not appear to have been used for some time. The level of use of the 

track would be similar for a single dwelling as for the storage unit. Although 
one parking space would be provided there would be insufficient space for 

turning facilities to enable the vehicle to exit the site in a forward direction due 
to the addition of the proposed fencing to enclose the outdoor amenity space. 
In addition, there is no evidence to show that appropriate visibility onto Green 

Street can be provided. Therefore, I cannot be certain that traffic would be able 
to safely join the highway in a forward direction, particularly as there may be 

pedestrians accessing the nearby dwellings using the footpaths.   

12. I conclude that the proposal would harm highway safety. It would conflict with 
Policies H2/4, EN1/2, H2/2 and HT6/2 of the UDP which together amongst 

other matters seek to ensure that development seeks to reduce pedestrian and 
vehicular conflict and has acceptable standards of access for vehicles.  

Living conditions of neighbouring occupiers  

13. There is a high fence to the rear of the dwellings on Tottington Road to 
separate the access track from the dwellings to enable safe passage to them. 

An additional fence has been constructed between the access road and the side 
of 2c Green Street. The full extent of the existing fences is not shown on the 

plans. As the dwellings on Tottington Road front directly onto the footpath, rear 
access is necessary for refuse collection. However, details of a scheme to 
maintain the rear access to the residential properties on Tottington Road, 

including for any boundary enclosures, could be subject to a condition as the 
land necessary to achieve this is within the site edged red.  

14. I conclude that the proposal would provide acceptable living conditions for 
neighbouring occupiers with regard to access. Hence, in this respect, it would 
comply with Policies H2/4, EN1/2, H2/2 and HT6/2 of the UDP which together 

amongst other matters seek to ensure that development does not impact on 
neighbouring properties and has suitable access arrangements.  

Other Matters 

15. Policy JP-H3 of the PfE requires that new dwellings comply with the Nationally 
Described Space Standards1. Were the proposal otherwise acceptable I would 

need to have considered this matter further and sought the views of the parties 
regarding this matter. However, as I have found the proposal would be 

unacceptable for other reasons, there would be no beneficial outcome from 
addressing this matter further in this case. 

Planning Balance 

16. With the adoption of the PfE, the Council’s position in relation to its housing 
land supply has changed and it is able to demonstrate 5-years supply of 

deliverable housing land. Nevertheless, the Council has a poor record of 
housing delivery, which is reflected in the Housing Delivery Test result. This 

requires the application of Framework paragraph 11(d). 

17. The proposed development would create an additional dwelling adding to the 
Council’s housing stock supporting the Government’s objective of boosting the 

supply of homes. The site is also situated in an accessible location in an urban 
area outside of the Green Belt.  However, given the magnitude of the proposal, 

 
1 Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 171

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/24/3338881

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

cumulatively these benefits would only be of moderate weight. The proposal 

would also not be harmful to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers, 
which would neither weigh in favour nor against the proposal. In terms of 

harm, the appeal proposal would result in significant conflict with the 
development plan in relation to harm to highway safety, the character and 
appearance of the area, and through inadequate living conditions for future 

occupiers. Consequently, the adverse impacts of granting permission would not 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against 

the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. 

Conclusion 

18. Whilst I have not found harm to the living conditions of neighbouring occupiers, 

I have identified harm to the character and appearance of the area, living 
conditions for future occupiers and to highway safety. Therefore, the proposal 

conflicts with the development plan and the material considerations do not 
indicate that the appeal should be decided other than in accordance with it. For 
the reasons given above the appeal should be dismissed. 

H Senior   

INSPECTOR 
 

Page 172

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/24/3339608 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 19 August 2024  
 

by R Major BSc (Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 28th August 2024 
Appeal Ref: APP/T4210/D/24/3339608 

21 Philips Drive, Whitefield, Bury M45 7PY  

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission. 
• The appeal is made by Mr Lee Hoppley against the decision of Bury 

Metropolitan Borough Council. 
• The application Ref is 70236. 

• The development proposed is erection of 1st floor extension above existing 
porch allowing increase of existing bedroom. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. Since the appeal was submitted the Council has adopted the Places for Everyone1 
Joint Development Plan as part of the Development Plan for Bury. The main 

parties were given the opportunity to comment on this adopted plan and its 
relevance in relation to the appeal proposal. 

3. On 30 July 2024 the Government published a consultation on proposed reforms to 

the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and other changes to the 
planning system. Whilst a direction of travel has been outlined within the Written 

Ministerial Statement, which is a material consideration, the changes to the 
Framework can only be given limited weight at this stage, given that no final 
document has been published. 

4. In any event, the policies that are material to this decision are not subject to any 
fundamental changes, and I am satisfied that this has not prejudiced any party. 

Consequently, in reaching my decision I have therefore had regard to the 
Framework published in December 2023. 

5. I observed on my site visit that the first-floor front extension has already been 

constructed. However, I note that the first-floor extension as built has been finished 
with timber cladding whereas the proposed plans state that the extension would 

have a rendered finish. Nevertheless, the submitted documents state that the 
development has been completed and I shall thus consider it on a retrospective 
basis. 

 
1 Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan Document for Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Salford, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan 2022 to 2039, Adopted 21 March 2024.   

Page 173

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/24/3339608 

Main Issue 

6. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of 

the surrounding area. 

Reasons 

7. The appeal relates to a two-storey end terrace dwelling located within a row of 
four properties. Each terrace property in this row was built with a flat-roofed 
forward projecting porch at ground floor level. These original porches, along with 

the similar design of each property, creates a positive and simple sense of 
symmetry to the front elevation of this terrace row.  

8. The properties within this row are all accessed via a set of external steps and a 
pedestrian access path leading from the vehicular highway of Philips Drive, with 
the ground floor levels of the properties all situated on land that is raised above 

the level of the vehicular highway of Philips Drive. Additionally, the front elevation 
of this terrace row is set forward in comparison to the front elevation of the 

terrace row directly to the southeast. This raised position, and forward projection, 
result in the terrace row, within which the appeal property is located, being 
visually prominent at the end of this street when viewed from the southeast.    

9. The surrounding area is characterised by a variety of different house types, sizes 
and designs, including two-storey dwellings, bungalows, three-storey dwellings 

and a three-storey block of flats on Linksview Court which face towards the appeal 
site. However, each of these different house types is clustered within a different 

part of the street. This results in different sections of Philips Drive having their 
own design style and identity, with the properties within each different section 
being generally similar in design to each other. This layout is a defining 

characteristic of the street scene on Philips Drive.     

10. The introduction of the first-floor extension above the existing front porch 

significantly unbalances the symmetry across the front elevation of this terrace 
row, to the visual detriment of the host property, the other properties in this row 
and the surrounding area in general. The visual impact of the proposal is 

exacerbated by its flat-roof design, which is not a design feature at first-floor level 
within the immediate street scene on Philips Drive. The first-floor extension 

therefore creates an incongruous and discordant feature within this row of 
otherwise similar properties.  

11. For the avoidance of doubt, whether the existing timber clad finish is retained, or 

whether the extension is finished in render as shown on the proposed plans, would 
not alter my view on the visual harm arising from the first-floor front extension.       

12. In coming to the above views, I acknowledge that the appeal property is located 
at the end of the row and the street, and that the vehicular highway of Philips 
Drive terminates before reaching this row of terrace properties. However, due to a 

combination of its raised and forward position on the street, the front elevation of 
the appeal property, and in particular the first-floor front extension, is clearly 

visible from public viewpoints along Philips Drive.  

13. Furthermore, the first-floor extension is also visible from the highway serving 
Linksview Court, above the existing row of garages, as well as from the first and 

second floor windows in the front elevation of the flats on Linksview Court. As 
such, whilst located at the end of the street, the appeal property and the first-floor 

Page 174

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/24/3339608 

front extension are visible and prominent from multiple locations and surrounding 
properties.  

14. The appellant has commented that the extension is small in size, in keeping with 
the roof line and blends with the background of the gable elevation of the 

neighbouring property at No. 1b Park Terrace (No. 1b). Whilst I acknowledge the 
extension is modest in size and does not breach the existing eaves line, I 
observed on site that the timber clad extension visually stands out against the 

white rendered gable elevation of the neighbouring property at No. 1b when 
viewed from Philips Drive. Furthermore, if the extension was to be finished in 

render, as detailed on the proposed plans, this would be visually at odds with the 
host dwelling and other properties in this terrace row.         

15. In view of all the above, the first-floor front extension causes unacceptable harm 

to the character and appearance of the surrounding area. As such the proposal 
conflicts with Policy H2/3 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan (1997) which 

seeks to ensure that development is sympathetic in nature with the original 
building and surrounding area by reason of shape, design, and external 
appearance.  

16. The proposal also fails to comply with the Council’s Supplementary Planning  
Document 6: Alterations and Extensions to Residential Properties (adopted 2004 

and updated 2010) where it seeks to achieve a high standard of design and to 
ensure that proposals do not have a detrimental impact on the character and 

appearance of neighbouring properties and general street scene.  

Other Matters 

17. The appellant has referred to advice they received from the Council prior to works 

commencing on site. However, I have not been provided with the specific details 
of this advice and in any case this matter has not been determinative in my 

consideration of this appeal which has been determined in accordance with the 
most up-to-date planning policies.    

18. The appellant has drawn my attention to extensions that have been allowed to the 

side of the property at No. 12 Philips Drive (No. 12). Whilst I have not been 
provided with all the details in relation to the extensions to the side of No. 12, I 

observed that they are not directly comparable to the appeal scheme which 
relates to a first-floor front extension.  

19. The appellant has also provided photos of other front extensions that they assert 

have been approved by the Council. However, I have been provided with no 
information in respect of the planning history of these examples, or details of their 

proximity in relation to the appeal site. I note that one of the photos provided 
does include an address2. However, this property is not located and viewed within 
the same street scene as the appeal property. Furthermore, the existence of other 

extensions in the borough does not justify the harm I have identified, and I have 
determined the appeal on its own merits against the most up-to-date planning 

policies.  

20. I note that the appellant states that the proposal is required to provide additional 
space within the smallest bedroom, and that they are seeking to provide more 

floorspace to facilitate their growing family. However, limited information is before 

 
2 328a Stand Lane, Radcliffe 

Page 175

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate - Appeal Decision APP/T4210/D/24/3339608 

me as to those circumstances and I have limited evidence that this scheme is the 
only practical option for extending this property. I do not therefore find that the 

personal circumstances of the appellant to extend the property outweigh the harm 
I have found to the character and appearance of the area. 

Conclusion 

21. The proposal conflicts with the development plan when taken as a whole and the 
material considerations do not indicate that the appeal should be decided other 

than in accordance with it. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the 
appeal should be dismissed. 

 

R Major  

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 176

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 
 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 6 August 2024  
by J Symmons BSc (Hons) CEng MICE 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 12 September 2024 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/T4210/W/24/3341939 

Performance House, Heywood Street, Bury BL9 7DZ  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended) against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr H Khan against the decision of Bury Metropolitan Borough 

Council. 

• The application Ref is 70461. 

• The development proposed is change of use of part of a car showroom to general 

retailing plus an independent office (including an extension to the existing building). 

Decision 

1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the change of use 
of part of a car showroom to general retailing plus an independent office 
(including an extension to the existing building) at Performance House, 

Heywood Street, Bury BL9 7DZ in accordance with the terms of the application 
Ref: 70461 and subject to the conditions in the attached schedule. 

Preliminary Matters 

2. As there is no indication that changes to the development description provided 
on the application form have been agreed between the main parties, I have 

used the application form details in this decision. 

3. On 30 July 2024, the Government published a consultation on proposed 

reforms to the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) and issued 
a written ministerial statement titled ‘Building the homes we need’. Given that 
those parts of the draft Framework most relevant to this decision are not 

proposed to be amended I consider there is no requirement to seek further 
submissions on these. I am satisfied that no party’s interests would be 

prejudiced by my taking this approach. 

4. Reference is made to a car wash facility on the appeal site which consists of a 
number of hand car wash bays covered by a canopy structure. The Council 

refer to the car wash facility including the canopy structure as unauthorised 
and the appellant provides no evidence to dispute this. For clarity and for the 

avoidance of doubt, any reference to the car wash facility in this decision 
includes the canopy structure. During my visit there were vehicles obscuring 
the hand wash bays of the car wash facility, but I did observe the canopy 

structure. 

Main Issues 

5. The main issues in the determination of the appeal are: 

Page 177

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/24/3341939

 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

 

• highway safety, particularly with regard to car parking and servicing; 

• whether the proposed development would meet the development plan’s 
carbon emissions standard; and 

• whether the proposed development would meet the development plan’s 
high-quality digital infrastructure standard. 

Reasons 

Highway safety 

6. The appeal site is a commercial building most recently used for car sales with a 

yard area. The Council noted that the yard area was partly used as a car wash 
facility.  

7. The proposal would convert and extend part of the commercial building to form 

two retail units and one office unit. In support of this, twelve car parking 
spaces would be provided in the yard area. 

8. Through consultation with the Highway Authority, the Council raised concerns 
that the existing car wash facility would result in standing and queuing vehicles 
which would adversely affect the use of the proposed development’s access, 

parking spaces and servicing requirement. It was considered that this would 
cause potential overspill parking and delivery activities that would adversely 

affect the nearby signalised junction on Heywood Street and the adjacent side 
streets. 

9. However, the appellant and the Council agree that the car wash facility is 

unauthorised. While the Council indicates that it requested a planning 
application for the car wash facility to be submitted, the main parties confirm 

that this was not completed. The appellant has confirmed that the facility is no 
longer operating and has advised that, even if it was, the Council could take 
enforcement action to stop its use. The appellant has further confirmed that 

the proposed development does not include the car wash facility and it was 
only shown on the proposed plans at the request of the Council. 

10. The Council provides little evidence to dispute the appellant’s confirmation that 
the car wash facility is no longer operational or, if it was operational, that 
enforcement action could not be taken. On the above basis, I consider it 

reasonable and appropriate for the car wash facility not to be considered in 
assessing the proposal. 

11. The Council confirms that the proposal would provide sufficient car parking 
spaces and no evidence to the contrary is before me. Without the car wash 
facility, the concerns raised by the Council regarding it causing standing and 

queuing vehicles are no longer applicable. Furthermore, there is little evidence 
to dispute the appellant’s indication that, without the car wash facility, there 

would be no difficulty in accessing the refuse bins. As the area for vehicles to 
manoeuvre would be significantly larger without the car wash facility, I see 

little reason to question the adequacy of on-site servicing of the development.  

12. Overall, the proposal would not affect highway safety with particular regard to 
car parking and servicing. The proposal would comply with Policies EN1/2, 

HT2/4, HT6/1 and HT6/2 of the Bury Unitary Development Plan Adopted Plan 
1997 and the guidance set out in the Development Control Policy Guidance 

Page 178

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/24/3341939

 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

 

Note 11 – Parking Standards in Bury for adoption 2007. These policies and 

guidance seek new development, amongst other matters, does not have an 
unacceptable adverse effect on the character and townscape, provide adequate 

parking and service provision and prevent conflict between pedestrians, cyclists 
and vehicles. 

Carbon Emissions 

13. Policy JP-S2 of the Places for Everyone Joint Development Plan 2022 to 2039 
(2024) (PfE) is aimed at delivering a carbon neutral Greater Manchester no 

later than 2038. The expectation from the adoption of the PfE is that net zero 
carbon should be achieved for regulated carbon emissions; from 2028 for all 
emissions in construction; and from 2025, development should also calculate 

and minimise carbon emissions from unregulated emissions. The policy 
indicates that an energy statement should set out how this would be achieved, 

in accordance with an energy hierarchy. It also sets out, amongst other 
matters, that electrical vehicle charging should be provided and at least 
BREEAM excellent standard (or equivalent) for the ‘Ene 01 – reduction of 

energy use and carbon emissions’ category should be achieved. 

14. There is no energy statement before me, nor any substantive evidence to detail 

how the proposal would comply with the policy. The appellant indicates that a 
condition could secure this matter. As the policy allows an exception if it can be 
demonstrated that net zero carbon is not practicable or financially viable, I see 

no reason why this matter could not be controlled by a condition were the 
appeal to be allowed. 

15. I therefore conclude that with a suitably worded condition imposed, the 
proposed development would not conflict with Policy JP-S2 of the PfE. 

Digital Connectivity 

16. Policy JP-C2 of the PfE seeks to ensure that new development is equipped with 
electronic communication services and requires all new development to have 

full fibre connections to premises. There is no substantive evidence before me 
to demonstrate compliance with this policy. 

17. The appellant indicates that this matter could be secured through a condition. 

As the policy allows an exception if it can be demonstrated that such 
connectivity is not practicable or financially viable, I see no reason why this 

matter could not be controlled by a condition were the appeal to be allowed.  

18. Accordingly, I conclude that with a suitably worded condition imposed the 
proposed development would not conflict with Policy JP-C2 of the PfE. 

Conditions 

19. The Council has suggested several conditions which I have considered against 

advice in the Framework and Planning Practice Guidance. As a result, I have 
amended some of these for consistency and clarity. I have also added a 

number of conditions which I consider necessary. Both the appellant and the 
Council were consulted on the proposed conditions and other than 
acknowledgement of them no comments were provided. 

20. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of certainty, I have included the 
standard time limit condition. For the same purpose, a condition is imposed 

Page 179

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/24/3341939

 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

 

requiring the development to be carried out in accordance with the approved 

plans. However, with respect to drawing titled ‘Proposed Floor Plan & 
Elevations’ dated 08/11/2023, I have excluded the car wash facility as this 

does not form part of the development for which permission is hereby granted. 

21. To ensure the development maintains the character of the existing building and 
the surrounding area I have imposed a condition for the external materials to 

be submitted and approved by the Council. Furthermore, in order to provide 
certainty a condition is imposed to secure the delivery of the proposed parking 

spaces and their retention. 

22. Conditions to ensure the development meets Policies JP-S2 and JP-C2 of the 
PfE with respect to carbon emission reduction and digital connectivity have also 

been included.  

23. I have included conditions for unforeseen contamination and electric vehicle 

charging points as recommended by the Council’s Environmental Protection 
Team to protect human health, controlled waters and the wider environment 
and encourage the uptake of ultra-low emission vehicles. 

Conclusion 

24. For the reasons set out above, and having had regard to all other matters 

raised, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed. 

J Symmons  

INSPECTOR 

 

Schedule of Conditions 

 
1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years 

from the date of this decision. 

 
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following drawings: 
‘Location Plan’ dated 26/10/2023; and  
‘Proposed Floor Plan and Elevations’ dated 08/11/2023 but excluding the car 

wash facility shown which does not form part of the development approved 
by this permission. 

 
3) Any contamination that is found during the course of construction of the 

development hereby permitted that was not previously identified shall be 

reported immediately to the local planning authority. Development on the 
part of the site affected shall be suspended until a risk assessment has been 

carried out and submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. Where unacceptable risks are found, the development shall not 
resume or continue until remediation and verification schemes have been 

carried out in accordance with details that shall first have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

 
4) Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, details 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority 

to demonstrate that full fibre connections to the premises will be provided, 

Page 180

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/T4210/W/24/3341939

 

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

 

unless it is substantiated that this would not be technically feasible and/or 

viable. The details must also include future-proofing of the premises for full 
fibre gigabit-capable network connections. The development shall be carried 

out in accordance with the approved details and maintained thereafter.  
 

5) Prior to commencement of the development hereby permitted, an energy 

statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. That statement shall provide details of a scheme to 

ensure that regulated operational carbon emissions from the development 
will, unless the energy statement substantiates that it would not be 
practicable or financially viable, be net zero. Where net zero would not be 

practicable or financially viable, the statement shall provide details of a 
scheme to ensure that carbon emissions are reduced to the maximum 

possible extent. The energy statement shall be in accordance with the 
energy hierarchy which in order of importance shall seek to i) minimise 
energy demand, ii) maximise energy efficiency, iii) use renewable energy, 

iv) use low carbon energy and v) utilise other energy sources. 
 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details set out 
in the approved energy statement and all measures identified within the 
approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation of the 

development and maintained thereafter. 
 

6) Unless substantiation is submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority that it would not be practicable or financially viable, the 
development shall achieve at least BREEAM Level excellent (or equivalent) 

for the ‘Ene 01 – reduction of energy use and carbon emissions’ category in 
accordance with the requirements of the relevant BREEAM scheme. No 

building shall be occupied until a Final BREEAM Certificate for this category 
has been issued and provided to the local planning authority. 
 

7) No development above ground level shall take place until details/samples of 
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 

development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details / samples. 

 
8) Electric vehicle (EV) charging points for 20% of the proposed parking spaces 

shall be provided prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, 
unless substantiation is submitted to and approved in writing by the local 

planning authority that it would not be practicable or financially viable. The 
charge points shall be 7kW (32A) single phase as a minimum. Prior to 
commencement of the development hereby permitted, the proposed location 

of the charge points shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The charging points shall be maintained thereafter. 

 
9) The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the vehicle 

parking spaces have been provided in accordance with drawing titled 

‘Proposed Floor Plan and Elevations’ dated 08/11/2023. Thereafter those 
spaces shall be retained for the parking of vehicles only. 

 

Page 181

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on the 27th August 2024
	Minutes

	4 Planning Applications
	Item 1 Final
	Item 2 Final
	66910e57-a141-41f4-86b0-2d00bab30b50.pdf
	535b4cbe-19d8-4302-a055-430773d7746f.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	A4 - DELETE AS REQUIRED


	c1aa76a1-552e-4f27-9571-e3ecb82e6414.pdf
	PL_100 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan

	ca0f6f2a-e8e6-4ea9-97be-3fba9b6c742f.pdf
	PL_101 - Proposed First Floor Plan

	e01c835f-207c-44ca-bde5-c1e43ae8a58a.pdf
	PL_102 - Proposed Second Floor Plan



	Item 3 Final
	1aeaaf2f-42f9-460a-9c9d-1fe1bc646df9.pdf
	9ac71692-58bf-4684-9e2e-1a3da859c132.pdf
	Sheets
	1100 - PLANNING - SITE LOCATION PLAN


	48b4b27e-dbf0-4c58-a4b8-96286278c0a7.pdf
	Sheets
	1350 - PLANNING - APARTMENTS ELEVATIONS


	b85ce2aa-d07f-4df6-b6b7-3c025e554d63.pdf
	Sheets
	1351 - PLANNING-BUNGALOW ELEVATIONS


	f3b8086a-9841-49f7-8d9a-00221a957b65.pdf
	Sheets
	1400 - PLANNING- SITE SECTIONS


	35f29dd4-b3bc-4b7b-8db3-4bbe6ca2348e.pdf
	Sheets
	1200 - PLANNING - SITE LAYOUT PLAN


	2ad76ecb-a435-43c4-809b-90bfc6397ae7.pdf
	Sheets
	1210 - PLANNING - APARTMENTS FLOOR & ROOF PLANS


	46224ef5-e673-4a2a-8214-cf71e92fa250.pdf
	Sheets
	1211 - PLANNING - BUNGALOW FLOOR & ROOF PLAN




	Item 4 - Final
	Item 5 Final

	5 Delegated Decisions
	6 Planning Appeals

